
Cabinet

Date Wednesday 11 May 2016
Time 10.00 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement

1. Public Questions  
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 6 April 2016  (Pages 1 - 4)
3. Declarations of interest  
Key Decision:

4. North East Combined Authority Devolution Agreement - Report of 
Assistant Chief Executive [Key Decision: CORP/R/16/01]  (Pages 5 - 
22)

Ordinary Decisions:

5. Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016 - 2019 - Report of 
Corporate Director, Children and Adults Services  (Pages 23 - 74)

6. Annual Report of the Director of Public Health - Report of Corporate 
Director, Children and Adults Services  (Pages 75 - 136)

7. Flood Prevention Update and Local Flood Risk Management Strategy - 
Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services  (Pages 137 - 
186)

8. Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limits Project - Update and Scrutiny 
Review - Joint Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services 
and Assistant Chief Executive  (Pages 187 - 218)

9. Regeneration of Spennymoor Town Centre - Report of Corporate 
Director, Regeneration and Economic Development  (Pages 219 - 230)

10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

11. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.  



Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Colette Longbottom
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
3 May 2016

To: The Members of the Cabinet

Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council) together with Councillors J Allen, J Brown, N Foster, 
L Hovvels, O Johnson, M Plews, B Stephens and E Tomlinson

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in The Council Chamber, Spennymoor Council Offices, 
Green Lane, Spennymoor, County Durham on Wednesday 6 April 2016 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor A Napier (Deputy Leader of the Council) in the Chair

Members of the Cabinet:
Councillors J Allen, J Brown, N Foster, L Hovvels, O Johnson, M Plews, B Stephens and 
E Tomlinson. 

Apologies:
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor S Henig, Leader of the Council, and 
the Corporate Director for Children and Adults Services, and the Director of Public 
Health, whose representatives were present.

Also Present:
Councillors J Armstrong, J Clare, P Conway, M Dixon, B Graham, B Kellett and 
A Liversidge.

1 Public Questions 

There were no public questions.

2 Minutes 

The Minutes of the meetings held on 16 and 23 March 2016 were confirmed as 
correct records. 

3 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 County Durham Plan – the next steps and Assessing Development Proposals 
in County Durham [Key Decision: R&ED/03/16] 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director, Regeneration and 
Economic Development which requested agreement to an approach to deliver a 
local plan for County Durham including a Local Development Scheme, setting out 
the timetable for its delivery, and, a Statement for Community Involvement which 
sets out how the Council will involve the community and stakeholders as it 
progresses.  The report also sought Cabinet agreement to the Statement of 



Community Involvement 2016, for consultation.  The Cabinet was also requested to 
endorse a revised Policy Position Statement intended to provide for a consistent 
approach to handling development proposals until the emerging local plan has 
progressed sufficiently to be given weight in planning decisions.  The Position 
Statement will provide consistency for the benefit of Members, Officers, Developers 
and the public (for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved: 

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.
 

5 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the refresh of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 20016-2019

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director, Children and  Adults 
Services which presented a summary of key messages from the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment 2015 (JSNA) and the refreshed County Durham Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-2019 (for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

6 Annual Review of the Constitution 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
which presented proposals for the revision of the Council’s Constitution (for copy 
see file of minutes). 

Resolved: 

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

7 ICT Strategy 2016- 2019

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director, Resources relating to 
the IT Strategy which covers a three year period from April 2016 (for copy see file of 
minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendation contained in the report be approved.



8 Transport  Asset Management Plan – Annual Update  

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
Services which provided Cabinet with an annual update on the Transport Asset 
Management Plan (TAMP) (for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved. 

9 Annual Enforcement Programme Children and Young Persons (Protection 
from Tobacco) Act 1991 and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood 
Services which reviewed enforcement activities under the Children and Young 
Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991, the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 
and the Licensing Act 2003 for the period April 2015 to March 2016.  The report 
also sought approval to a new enforcement programme for 2016/17 (for copy see 
file of minutes).

Resolved:

The Cabinet approved the recommendation contained in the report.

10 County Durham Partnership Update 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Assistant Chief Executive which updated the 
Cabinet on issues being addressed by the County Durham Partnership (CDP) 
including the board, the five thematic partnerships and all area action partnerships 
(AAPs).  The report also included updates on other key initiatives being carried out 
in partnership across the county (for copy see file of minutes).

Cabinet members spoke of the excellent partnership work taking place, on the 
success achieved through the Area Action Partnerships, and that through the work 
in setting up an armed forces forum which was to promote the help and support 
available to forces personnel the Council had received a silver award in the Ministry 
of Defences Employer Recognition Scheme. 

Resolved:

The Cabinet noted the report. 





Cabinet

11 May 2016

North East Combined Authority
Devolution Agreement

Key Decision: CORP/R/16/01

Report of the Corporate Management Team
Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive  
Councillor Simon Henig, the Leader of the Council 

Purpose of the Report

1 To invite Cabinet to consider whether to consent to the proposed Devolution 
Agreement including the provision of an Elected Mayor for the North East 
Combined Authority.

Background

2 On the 23 March 2016, Cabinet considered a report on the proposed 
devolution agreement and invited Cabinet to consider its next steps.

3 Cabinet resolved to:-

 note progress made since the 24 February when Council considered 
a report on the agreement;

 note the conditions that were set out in the agreement as described in 
the Council Report;

 note in particular that the condition regarding “fair funding” had not 
been fully met;

 note that further clarification and commitment from Government on 
outstanding issues (including governance) was being requested;

 defer the making of a final decision on the proposed devolution until 
the outstanding issues have been resolved.

4 Since then further discussions involving representatives of the constituent 
authorities have taken place with DCLG and HM Treasury civil servants.  
Monitoring Officers have also been identifying and considering the 
implications of the decision by Gateshead Council not to be part of a Mayoral 
Combined Authority, and the implications for this authority and other 
constituent authorities that may not consent to an order creating a mayoral 
authority.



5 A report updating Cabinet on these developments and analysing these issues 
will be circulated on or before the meeting.

Recommendations and reasons

6 Cabinet will be asked to consider the report referred to in paragraph 5.

Background papers

7 Report to the Council “North East Combined Authority: Devolution Deal” dated 
9 December 2015
Report to the Cabinet “North East Combined Authority Devolution Deal” dated 
10 February 2016
Report to the Council “North East Combined Authority: Devolution Deal and 
Poll Result” dated 24 February 2016
Report to the Cabinet 23 March 2016 “North East Combined Authority: 
Devolution Decision”.

Contact: Colette Longbottom Tel: 03000 269732



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – None Specific within this report.

Staffing – None specific within this report.

Risk – None specific within this report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - None specific within this 

report.

Accommodation – None specific within this report.

Crime and Disorder - None specific within this report

Human Rights – None specific within this report

Consultation – None specific within this report

Procurement – None specific within this report.

Legal Implications - None specific within this report





Cabinet

11 May 2016

North East Combined Authority: Decision 
on proposed Devolution Agreement

Report of Corporate Management Team
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader
Terry Collins, Chief Executive

Purpose of the Report

1 This report summarises the proposed devolution agreement, outlines the 
developments since the report to Cabinet in March and considers the pros 
and cons of the agreement, in the light of what we now know about the 
consequences of opting-in or opting-out of the North East Combined Authority 
(NECA) and makes recommendations on next steps.

 Background

2 As reported to County Council on 24 February 2016 and Cabinet on 23 March 
2016, a proposed devolution agreement between government and the North 
East Combined Authority was signed by the Chancellor of the Exchequer and 
the constituent authorities of NECA on 23 October 2015.  It was agreed that 
progression to a final agreement would be subject to a number of conditions:

a) The outcome of the spending review on 25 November 2015.

b) Legislative processes.

c) Further public consultation (in Durham’s case including the results of a 
poll of electors).

d) Formal consideration by councils, the NECA Leadership Board and 
government ministers.

3 In addition, in Durham, it was accepted that consideration would need to be 
given to a number of Durham-specific issues that relate in the main to the 
administration of public services, such as health, policing and fire and rescue 
services, which work to a different geography to that of the NECA.

Proposed agreement overview

4 The proposed agreement was appended in full to the report to County Council 
on 24 February 2016.  In summary, the main provisions included:



a) giving the North East new opportunities to support businesses and 
create more jobs.  This includes giving the North East an additional £30 
million revenue funding a year to set up an investment fund;

b) letting the North East develop its own plans to improve post 16 
education and training so that people have better skills and better 
prospects;

c) letting the North East take more decisions about transport investment 
particularly public transport;

d) enabling the North East to identify opportunities for investment in new 
housing; 

e) giving the North East more say over how money from the European 
Union is spent in the North East;

f) enabling the North East to review health and social care provision and 
develop plans to improve and integrate services so that people receive 
better care;

g) establishing a directly-elected mayor for the North East, as a condition 
for the implementation of all other provisions.

5 The directly-elected mayor would have:

a) responsibility for a devolved and consolidated transport budget;

b) responsibility for franchised bus services and through Rail North, 
franchised rail services;

c) powers over strategic planning;

d) powers to place a supplement on business rates to fund infrastructure 
following approval of business ratepayers.

6 The mayor would work with the NECA Leadership Board, which will be made 
up of the leaders of the constituent local authorities.  The board would be 
renamed as the cabinet of NECA and working with the mayor, would have the 
following powers:

a) To create a NECA Investment Fund;

b) Control over a new revenue funding allocation of £30 million a year 
over 30 years;

c) Joint responsibility for an Employment and Skills Board; Responsibility 
for a devolved approach to business support from 2017;



d) Joint responsibility for the rollout of broadband across the North East; 

e) Increased devolved responsibility for rural growth.

7 Whilst the creation of a directly elected mayor is a condition of the proposed 
agreement, unlike other areas it is proposed that the mayor would be 
‘embedded’ within the cabinet of the combined authority, as opposed to 
having the power of veto over it.

Conditions and Durham-specific issues

Spending review and fair funding
8 The outcome of the government’s spending review and specifically the 

implementation of a commitment to fair funding was a condition for 
progressing the proposed agreement, when initially signed last October.

9 In particular, the proposed agreement was subject to confirmation or 
reassurance around the following conditions:

a) That NECA would not suffer disproportionately from future reductions 
in government funding;

b) That NECA should be able to bid for any new funding over the next 15 
years on a fair and equitable basis;

c) That NECA should not be disadvantaged in relation to any fiscal 
freedoms granted to Scotland, for example airport passenger duty;

d) The creation of a North East investment fund to deliver a 15 year 
programme  worth up to £1.5 billion, part funded by £30 million a year 
revenue funding, subject to five-yearly gateway reviews;

e) The mayor would be able to levy a business rate supplement worth up 
to £30 million a year, to fund investment following approval of business 
ratepayers;

f) A single allocation of Local Growth Fund monies over a five-year 
period, providing financial security for longer term investment.

10 Given the multi-faceted and complicated nature of this issue, it is difficult to 
come to a definitive view as to whether these conditions have been met at this 
time.

11 Further detail has been provided around the make-up of the investment 
funding and the funding streams involved which provides some reassurance.  
However, the picture around ‘fair funding’ and how NECA authorities will fare 
is more mixed.



12 The spending review in November 2015 confirmed that austerity is set to 
continue through to 2019/20.  Indeed the Chancellor had to revise his 
spending targets in the March Budget in the light of lower than expected 
economic growth and slower growth forecasts for the years ahead.

13 However, the provisional financial settlement for local government announced 
in December 2015 was not as bad as in previous years, and the government 
subsequently confirmed that it was not looking towards local government to 
increase its savings targets in order to contribute to the additional £3.5 billion 
of public spending reductions required by 2020.

14 Better care funding was increased in recognition of the spending pressures 
arising from adult social care and local authorities were allowed to add a two 
percent social care precept to the council tax in order to meet adult social care 
costs.

15 Where budget reductions had to be made, these were based on ‘total core 
spend’ as opposed to solely Revenue Support Grant, in recognition of the low 
council tax yield in some areas, such as those in the North East, when 
compared with more affluent areas.

16 Overall, the provisional settlement therefore appeared to be ‘fairer’ than in 
previous years.

17 The final financial settlement announced in January 2016, provided local 
authorities with a guarantee of Revenue Support Grant funding over the next 
four years subject to the production of an efficiency plan.

18 However, following extensive lobbying by shire county councils which felt 
disadvantaged by the provisional settlement, the government introduced £150 
million of transitional funding and £61 million of rural funding for 2016/17 and 
2017/18.

19 Only one authority in the North East received additional funding.  Durham did 
not receive anything in spite of its rural issues, whereas many other less 
needy and more affluent rural authorities received significant amounts of 
support.

20 In that sense, the final settlement can be regarded as a step back from the 
provisional settlement and the principle of fair funding which the council and 
other NECA authorities are seeking.

21 However, since the final settlement, NECA has made further representations 
to government and there has been further, more positive dialogue with 
ministers regarding the concept of fair funding.

22 The government has confirmed that it sees the initial devolution agreement as 
the start of an ongoing process of dialogue between the region and central 
government, which will lead to better and fairer deals in the future.



23 It also confirmed its commitment to work with local authorities on health and 
social care integration, the co-design of employment support for hard-to-reach 
claimants and the transfer of Adult Education Budget funding in 2018/19.

24 Active dialogue is still taking place and work is being progressed at the 
highest levels in the Civil Service and The Treasury.  The overall ‘direction of 
travel’ could therefore be viewed as positive, but given that we have yet to see 
the outcomes of the negotiations, it is difficult to come to a judgement yet on 
whether the council and its partner local authorities will receive a fairer 
settlement  through the devolution agreement.  While there is no guarantee 
that signing up to the agreement will deliver fair funding, it would ensure 
Durham would be involved on-going dialogue with government on the issue, 
whereas not signing up would do little to advance the issue with ministers and 
senior civil servants.  

25 One issue of significant concern is the very recent proposal for Devolved 
Transport Grant (this includes highways maintenance monies, integrated 
transport and devolved bus service grants) to be part of the Single Pot under 
control of the Mayor.  This could disadvantage Durham and other constituent 
authorities and therefore NECA is seeking to have this issue resolved. This 
could involve potential solutions regarding the governance arrangements for 
this issue.

Legislative processes
26 Since the proposed agreement was signed in October 2015, further detail has 

been provided on the proposed legislative arrangements and orders, which 
would put the agreement and new governance arrangements in place.  The 
first step would be to consent to an order creating a mayoral authority. A 
second, more detailed order would be informed by a governance review which 
would be the subject of consultation in July.

27 Whilst government has confirmed that it would accept the concept of an 
‘embedded’ mayor with no veto, with checks and balances over mayoral 
powers, this is still to be developed into secondary legislation.

28 It is however proposed that the NECA Leadership Board, which would 
become a cabinet for NECA, would be chaired by the mayor, with each of the 
constituent local authority leaders holding a portfolio, along the lines of the 
recognised local authority ‘leader with cabinet’ political management model.

29 Whereas some functions currently require a unanimous decision across the 
Leadership Board, for example the power to impose or set a levy, this would 
be changed to majority decision-making by two thirds of the Cabinet.

30 While the mayor would not have a veto or the casting vote over the rest of the 
cabinet, he or she would still have significant powers relating to:

a) a devolved transport budget;



b) franchised bus services and through Network Rail, franchised rail 
services and integrated ticketing;

c) strategic planning and the planning development framework;

d) a new North East Land Commission, releasing land for development.  
The mayor would chair the commission;

e) the ability to raise business rates supplements following approval of 
business ratepayers;

f) compulsory purchase order powers, exercisable with the consent of the 
relevant cabinet member (local authority leader) for the area 
concerned;

g) the ability to do things incidental to his or her primary functions (this 
does not extend to a ‘general power of competence’ as granted to local 
authorities under the Localism Act 2011);

h) setting a precept for mayoral functions.  This would form part of the 
combined authority budget but could be amended by a two-thirds 
majority decision of the cabinet, excluding the mayor. 

31 Subject to any other legislative requirements, the cabinet would have 
responsibility for all functions which are not specifically allocated to the mayor. 

32 The government has also outlined the arrangements for scenarios where a 
local authority does not agree to the devolution agreement and mayoral order.

33 In such a situation, the Secretary of State would remove the ‘non-consenting 
authority’ from the combined authority and the combined authority functions 
and funding would only apply to the combined authority area.

34 As a consequence, the non-consenting authority would become the local 
transport authority for their area, unless they were already the local transport 
authority, as Durham and Northumberland are, separate to NECA.

35 The non-consenting authority could seek to influence strategy and planning 
through other arrangements or fora, but would not have a vote on the NECA 
cabinet.

36 A non-consenting authority does not automatically have the right to join the 
combined authority at a later date.

37 An authority can be admitted after the next mayoral election and subject to:

a) consultation on the proposed admittance, including the proposed 
scheme of governance;



b) approval by Secretary of State, who must be satisfied that certain 
conditions are met relating to the admittance being conducive to the 
effectiveness of the combined authority;

c) approval by the combined authority itself (and by implication the 
constituent authorities);

d) approval by the mayor.

Consultation
38 As Members will be aware, the constituent authorities of NECA have 

undertaken their own consultation on the proposed agreement.  In Durham, 
the council undertook a comprehensive programme of community and 
stakeholder consultation which included a poll of all electors.  The findings of 
the consultation were detailed in the report to County Council on 24 February 
2016.

39 In summary, the main findings from the consultation events were:

 there was general support voiced for the concept of devolution 
amongst partners, businesses, the general public and the voluntary 
sector;

 the issues covered by the proposed agreement were thought to be 
appropriate;

 suggestions of areas for future devolution included culture, tourism, 
housing and the environment;

 there were concerns expressed as to how issues such as the rural 
nature of County Durham, and the non-co-terminous boundaries of 
Durham’s police and fire services would be accommodated within the 
proposed devolution arrangements;

 there was interest expressed as to how Durham could continue to work 
with areas beyond the combined authority area, particularly for 
businesses and regarding health and social care services.

40 The main findings from the poll of electors were that:

 a clear majority (59.5%) of the 81,964 electors responding thought that 
devolving some power and resources to the North East would be a 
step in the right direction. A minority (14.9%) thought that it would be 
the wrong thing to do. A quarter of respondents thought that devolving 
some power and resources would make little difference or didn’t know 
(19.9% and 5.7% respectively); 



 respondents’ views on the powers of an elected mayor were more 
mixed.  47.8% thought that the mayor should have limited power and 
influence i.e. someone who chairs the combined authority but does not 
have a major role representing the area. 40.3% of respondents took 
the view that the mayor should have quite a lot of power and influence 
– perhaps coming to be seen as someone who represents the voice of 
the North East area. 11.9% of respondents were unsure of their views 
on this topic. At 1,088 this issue had the most invalid responses of the 
four questions;

 the most popular response to the question as to whether if the 
agreement goes ahead, people would like to try to get additional 
powers and resources devolved to the north east was “not sure – it 
depends, let’s wait and see” (42.9%). Clear views of “no, I wouldn’t 
want to see more devolution” were expressed by 22.4% and “yes, I 
would like to see more devolution” by 28.3% on this issue; 6.4% were 
unsure of their views;

 on being asked their views as to whether if the agreement goes ahead, 
it would bring more prosperity and jobs to County Durham, 40.5% 
thought it would, 9.1% thought it would not, and 36.2% thought it would 
make little or no impact to jobs and prosperity.  More people (14.2%) 
answered “I don’t know” to this question than any of the others.

Consideration by constituent authorities, NECA Leadership Board and 
government

41 Since the last report to Members, Newcastle, North Tyneside and 
Northumberland councils decided in March to sign-up to the proposed 
agreement, albeit that North Tyneside and Northumberland’s decisions were 
contingent on further clarification around a number of funding, transport and 
housing issues.

42 Gateshead Council has decided to opt-out.

43 South Tyneside and Sunderland councils, like Durham are still to decide.

44 The NECA Leadership Board is due to come to a view at its meeting on 17 
May 2016, by which time its constituent local authorities need to have come to 
a view.

45 In addition, there has been further dialogue with government to clarify various 
issues relating to the proposed agreement and the implications of the decision 
by Gateshead not to sign-up.  This is covered above and in more detail below.

Durham-specific issues
46 There were three issues specific to Durham which needed to be clarified or 

resolved to enable the council Durham to come to a view on the proposed 
agreement.



47 In relation to transport, Durham (along with Northumberland) was never part 
of the Tyne and Wear Integrated Transport Authority (ITA) and has rural 
transport issues that are unique to rural counties and quite different to the 
more urban authorities in NECA.

48 Government has since confirmed that special arrangements for Durham (and 
Northumberland) would be built into the mayoral combined authority, as per 
the current NECA arrangements.  Separate precepts would remain and 
Durham would be separate from ITA liabilities.

49 In relation to health, the geography for health services for County Durham 
residents involves significant provision and patient flows in Tees Valley as 
opposed to the NECA area.  The council is also part of an NHS unit of 
planning which comprises, Durham, Darlington and Tees.

50 It has since been confirmed that the decision to devolve health and social 
care services to the combined authority would require the agreement of each 
constituent council, including Durham.  

51 In relation to police and fire, while the policing arrangements for six of the 
seven NECA authorities are shared (via Northumbria Police and the 
Northumbria Police and Crime Commissioner) and those for fire and rescue 
are coterminous with the NECA area (via the Northumberland and Tyne and 
Wear fire and rescue services/authorities), Durham is different.  Its police 
service and police and crime commissioner, and its fire and rescue service 
and associated authority ‘look south’ as opposed to north, covering County 
Durham and Darlington.

52 As with health, it has since been confirmed that any decision to devolve police 
and or fire services to the combined authority would require the agreement of 
each constituent council, including Durham.

North East Local Enterprise Partnership

53 The North East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is a business-led 
organisation which works in partnership with the seven local authorities in the 
north east LEP/combined authority area.

54 Irrespective of local authority decisions to opt in or out of the mayoral 
combined authority, the LEP will continue to cover the seven local authority 
areas, as it does now.

55 However, whereas the LEP is currently responsible for the delivery of the 
North East Strategic Economic Plan and coordinates bids on behalf of the 
region to the national Local Growth Fund including approximately £550 million 
secured as part of the North East Growth Deal, responsibility for strategic 
economic planning, funding and investment would transfer to the mayoral 
combined authority.



56 The expectation is that in the event of a mayoral combined authority being 
established, the LEP would evolve into a business board for NECA. 

57 The Local Growth Fund would continue as now – a national scheme with 
funding allocated on a competitive basis – but there are indications from 
government that areas with mayoral combined authorities would have an 
advantage in the bidding process (given the government’s preference for 
directly-elected mayors).

58 The government has indicated that in addition to the £30 million a year to be 
paid to the combined authority under the devolution agreement, NECA could 
also receive four years of confirmed programme funding via the Local Growth 
Fund.  It is understood that NECA would look to combine the various funds 
into a ‘single pot’ to improve and facilitate longer term investment.

59 Where a council opts out of the combined authority, it would still be able to 
access Local Growth Fund support but would need bid on a scheme-by-
scheme basis, as part of the national competition.

National developments

60 The Greater Manchester, Merseyside, South Yorkshire and Tees Valley areas 
have all proceeded with mayoral deals and are now drawing down funding.

61 On 20 April 2016, the National Audit Office (NAO) published its report, English 
Devolution Deals.

62 It noted that the government has set aside £246.5 million for devolution deals 
to date.  To put this into context, this compares with £461.5 million allocated 
to local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) in the same areas and £4.4 billion total 
capital expenditure in the same constituent local authorities in 2014/15.

63 Over time, the government intends to combine a number of funding streams 
into a ‘single pot’ with no ring fences to enable more local autonomy over 
investment decisions.

64 The NAO also noted that in the March 2016 Budget, the government 
announced that these allocations would total £2.86 billion over five years for 
the first six mayoral deals (including the proposed agreement with NECA).

65 In this regard, the Treasury has committed to a 30-year funding stream, 
subject to five-yearly assessments to confirm whether the spending has 
contributed to national economic growth.  The £30 million a year contribution 
to an investment fund for NECA over 30 years would therefore be subject to 
this five-yearly review.

66 Both central and local government expect the funding stream and single pot to 
be ‘fiscally neutral’ in that they represent a fair share of what could previously 
have been departmental spending.

67 As such, the approach reflects the government’s policy principles of localism 
and decentralisation as opposed to increasing the quantum of local public 
spending.



Consideration

68 In the light of the NECA Leadership Board meeting taking place on 17 May 
2016, the council now needs to come to a view on whether it should proceed 
to the next stage of devolution.

69 This is not a straight-forward decision and requires very fine and balanced 
judgements around a wide range of factors and issues concerning the future 
prospects for the county and region.

70 What has become apparent over recent months, as further clarification has 
been obtained around the devolution proposal, is that the decision is not a 
simple one of a future within the mayoral combined authority, compared with 
the current situation or status quo.

71 The advent of the devolution proposals, negotiations with authorities in the 
North East and in other parts of the country, and the stance the government 
will take towards areas where it is able to agree deals, all together mean that 
the public governance landscape is changing quite fundamentally.

72 The decision Members need to make therefore, is whether to decide to accept 
the proposed agreement and remain within a reformed combined authority 
chaired by an elected mayor; or to reject the deal and become a non-
consenting authority within a post-devolution North East, with reformed 
combined authority and local enterprise partnership arrangements.  Either 
way, the council’s relationship with government, its local authority partners 
and wider regional stakeholders will change and both options will have 
financial, reputational and strategic planning consequences for the county, the 
council and the wider region.

73 To help Members to come to a view, a comparison of each option is outlined 
below.

Accepting the deal and remaining within a reformed combined authority 
with an elected mayor

74 This option involves agreeing to the devolution deal as proposed and 
remaining within the North East Combined Authority which would have 
additional powers and functions, access to funds and would be chaired by a 
directly-elected mayor.  This option offers:

a) the creation of a single investment fund worth up to £1.5 billion 
controlled in the North East rather than from Whitehall and funded by 
the government from a new revenue stream of £30 million a year over 
the next 30 years, which would be able to help realise opportunities in 
Durham; 

b) the prospect of beneficial access to the Local Growth Fund for Durham 
applications with assured longer term funding as opposed to having to 
bid on a case-by-case basis;

c) a stronger voice for Durham via NECA on strategic national and sub-
national agendas;



d) continuing influence on the LEP, if it were to become the business 
board for NECA.  The council would be represented on both bodies;

e) broad community and business support, as evidenced by the 
consultations and soundings undertaken by the council;

f) a seat around the table with government, on discussions concerning 
fair funding, 100% business rates retention, devolution and public 
service reform, with the prospect of negotiating further devolution;

g) the prospect of progress, if this is the only approach the government is 
prepared to entertain. 

75 Whilst this option involves accepting a directly-elected regional mayor, it 
should be noted that there would be checks and balances over the elected 
mayor’s powers, via the proposed ‘embedded’ mayoral model, which is a 
better option that that negotiated on other combined authority areas.

76 This option will require the ongoing investment of senior member and officer 
time to manage the relationships between constituent authorities and between 
NECA and government.  It would also involve negotiating, through the NECA 
governance on Durham’s behalf, with the potential to be out-voted on some 
issues.  Safeguards have been put in place to prevent the authority being out-
voted on issues such as the transport levy, and the extension of devolution to 
areas such as health and social care and the police services.

77 As noted above, this option would carry risks for the council’s highways 
budgets.

Not accepting the deal and leaving the combined authority as a non-
consenting authority

78 This option involves not accepting the devolution agreement as proposed and 
leaving NECA to become a non-consenting authority.  The council would still 
be involved in the LEP and would be able to negotiate and liaise with the 
combined authority on regional issues.  However, it would not benefit from the 
additional investment funding offered to the combined authority, which would 
be the government’s preferred governance model.

79 This option would free up senior member and officer time on regional 
relationship management, would remove the identified risk to our highways 
budget and would not require Durham residents to take part in electing a 
regional mayor.  However, it would reduce the single pot resources available 
to the North East which would mean that such investment could not be spent 
in the county.  It is also expected that opportunities under LGF would be 
lessened in this option.  The authority would not be at the discussion table 
with government on future devolution developments.

80 Consultation findings, including the poll of all electors do not support this 
option.

81 It is understood at this time that the government would not be receptive to 
alternative devolution geographies.



Recommendations

82 Members are recommended to:

a) Agree to move to the next stage of the process by agreeing to the 
making of an order creating a mayoral authority. 

b) Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council, to consent to the order creating the combined authority and all 
other relevant matters to enable the formal establishment of the 
mayoral authority to proceed up to the approval of the required 
governance review and scheme detailing the devolution of functions, 
responsibilities and powers sought by the new mayoral combined 
authority.

c) Note that the following conditions will need to be fulfilled before Cabinet 
could agree to devolution of powers and the laying of a second, more 
detailed order:

i. That the second, more detailed order will enable embedded 
mayoral governance such that there will not be a mayoral veto.

ii. That governance arrangements are established which ensure 
that constituent authorities are not disadvantaged by provisions 
for majority voting.

iii. That County Durham is not disadvantaged by the government’s 
proposals on transport and highways funding, thus mitigating the 
risk identified in the report.

iv. That continued commitment to devolution is based on a 
commitment to fair funding being achieved through ongoing 
dialogue with Government.

Background papers

Cabinet, 23 March 2016, North East Combined Authority: Devolution Decision

County Council, 24 February 2016, North East Combined Authority:
Devolution Deal Update and Poll Result 

Contact: Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive
Tel: 03000 268060

http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s60790/Final%20Version%2023%20March%20Cabinet%20One.pdf
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s59646/NECA%20Holding%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s59646/NECA%20Holding%20Report.pdf


Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – The proposed agreement involves devolving responsibility for certain funds to 
the region and the provision of £30 million a year over 30 years as an incentive and 
contribution to the establishment of a regional investment fund.  If the council agrees to 
join the mayoral combined authority, the elected mayor would have the ability to levy an 
additional precept on business rates to fund investment further.  Some assurances have 
also been provided about the prospects of securing longer term funding form the Local 
Growth Fund.  The assurances around fair funding have yet to be met, but there is 
evidence of willingness and a positive direction of travel from government in this regard.

Staffing – No specific implications have been identified other than the time involved in 
participating and supporting the proposed governance arrangements and wider 
stakeholder relations.

Risk – The decision carries a variety of financial and reputational risks as outline din the 
options appraisal.

Equality and Diversity – No specific implications have been identified.

Accommodation – No specific implications have been identified.

Crime and Disorder – No specific implications have been identified.

Human Rights – No specific implications have been identified.

Consultation – The council has undertaken extensive consultation on the devolution 
proposals.

Procurement – No specific implications have been identified.

Disability Discrimination Act – No specific implications have been identified. 

Legal Implications – The decision has implications for the exercise of statutory 
functions and responsibilities exercised by the council or through the combined authority.



Cabinet

11 May 2016

Children, Young People and Families 
Plan 2016-2019

Report of Corporate Management Team
Rachael Shimmin, Corporate Director of Children and Adults 
Services
Councillor Ossie Johnson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services

 
Purpose of Report

1. The purpose of this report is to present Cabinet with the refreshed Children, 
Young People and Families Plan (CYPFP) 2016-19 (attached at Appendix 2).

Background

2. The refresh of the CYPFP has been informed by the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA), the Community Safety Strategic Assessment and a 
number of policy drivers.   

3. An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken as part of the process for 
developing the CYPFP.

4. Engagement has taken place with children and young people including young 
carers and their families, voluntary and community sector organisations, NHS 
partners, local authority colleagues, Education partners, Local Safeguarding 
Children Board, Durham Constabulary, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Area Action Partnerships.  

5. A Student Voice survey was undertaken in 25 out of 32 secondary schools in 
the County, with responses received from over 8,000 students; results from the 
survey have also informed the CYPFP. 

6. The Health and Wellbeing Board hosted an engagement event in November 
2015, which was attended by over 260 people.  This included a workshop on 
the Children and Young People Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and 
Resilience Plan for County Durham 2015-2020.  Feedback from this event has 
been taken into account in the refresh of the CYPFP.

7. As in previous years, Investing in Children has undertaken a number of 
engagement events with children and young people to consult on the strategic 
objectives in the CYPFP.   This has included children with disabilities and 
children in care.



8. In addition, views were sought on health priorities through North Durham 
CCG’s ‘Try it Out’ Young People’s Patient Congress and with young carers 
through the ‘Family Action Young Carers Group’.

9. The issues which young people consider important to them include: 

 Access to quality education and advice regarding sexual health
 Support for young people and families around risk taking behaviour 

including drinking, drugs and unprotected sex
 Prevalence of self-harm in young people
 Emotional health and wellbeing/stress of young people
 Develop opportunities for Peer Support networks
 Provide opportunities for young people to engage in positive activities
 Better promotion of services available to children, young people and 

families

10. Children and young people attend each meeting of the Children and Families 
Partnership to raise issues that affect them.  Feedback on the actions taken 
forward by the Children and Families Partnership is fed back to the children and 
young people to ensure accountability and transparency.  Any health related 
issues that are raised are fed into the Health and Wellbeing Board for 
information or action through the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

11. Various policy drivers influence the work of the Children and Families 
Partnership.  Policy drivers that have influenced this plan include the Children’s 
Social Care Innovation Programme.  

12. Durham was successful in two bids to the Department for Education; the first 
was for a therapeutic support programme at Aycliffe Secure centre for children 
who have been sexually exploited, the second was to deliver a large scale new 
approach to social work and to work with families.  The new approach will be 
known as ‘Families First’, with ten new teams being created within One Point 
hubs across the County.

13. Growing up in poverty has a significant impact on children and young people 
both during their childhood and beyond.    The proportion of children living in 
poverty in County Durham continues to be greater than the England average.  
A Poverty Action Steering group is in place, led by the Assistant Chief 
Executive of DCC, to look at the wider impact of poverty.

14. The CYPFP will support the child poverty agenda by ensuring that children and 
young people realise and maximise their potential by implementing the Early 
Years Strategy and the Team Around the School model so that early help is 
provided to young people and their families in need of additional support.  The 
CYPFP also aims to give young people the best start in life to ensure that 
young people are more resilient through the Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Plan.   A Think Family 
approach will also be adopted to support families, for example through 
parenting programmes delivered through the One Point Service.



Refresh of the Children Young People and Families Plan 2016-19

15. The vision for the CYPFP has been re-affirmed as: ‘All children, young 
people and families believe, achieve and succeed’.

Strategic Objectives and Outcomes Framework

16. The Strategic Objectives and Outcomes Framework for the CYPFP is provided 
below.  This also aligns to the Altogether Better for Children and Young People 
section of the Sustainable Community Strategy: 

 Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people realise and 
maximise their potential

 Children are supported to achieve and develop during their Early 
Years

 Children and young people are supported to achieve and attain 
during school years to prepare them for adulthood

 Young People are supported to progress and achieve in 
education, employment and training to achieve their potential

 Children with additional needs are supported to achieve and 
attain

 Strategic Objective 2: Children and Young People make healthy 
choices and have the best start in life

 Negative risk taking behaviour is reduced
 Children and young people are more resilient
 A range of positive activities are available for children, young 

people and families

 Strategic Objective 3: A Think Family approach is embedded in our 
support to families

 Early intervention and prevention services improve outcomes for 
families

 Children are safeguarded and protected from harm
 Children who cannot live with their families achieve permanence 

and stability

Strategic Actions

17. The CYPFP includes a number of Strategic Actions that identify the key areas 
of work which the Children and Families Partnership will focus on, linked to 
objectives and outcomes.  

18. A number of new actions have been agreed with relevant leads as part of the 
planning process for the development of the CYPFP, these are shown in 
Appendix 3.

19. A hard copy of the CYPFP will be made available in the Members’ library.  The 
CYPFP will also be available on the Children and Families Partnership’s 
website, which is part of the County Durham Partnership website.



Delivery Plan

20. More detailed actions outlining the work taking place to achieve the Strategic 
Actions are included in the CYPFP Delivery Plan which will be presented to the 
Children and Families Partnership in June 2016 for agreement.

21. The CYPFP is monitored robustly and progress on the performance indicators 
is reported to the Children and Families Partnership on a quarterly basis with 
progress against actions from the plan reported on a six monthly basis. This 
allows partners the opportunity to challenge each other and ensure that 
services are delivered in a timely and effectively way to achieve good outcomes 
for children, young people and families.  As well as providing performance 
highlights, the Children and Families Partnership also receives information on 
areas for improvement.  The Partnership will include further qualitative 
indicators in the performance framework from 2016, which will add value to the 
numerical targets and trends currently presented.

22. In addition to performance monitoring through the Children and Families 
Partnership a subset of performance indicators from the CYPFP is reported to 
the County Durham Partnership and Cabinet under the “Altogether Better for 
Children and Young People” theme.  Overview and Scrutiny Committees are 
also provided a subset basket of indicators to provide them with oversight of the 
performance for children and young people.

Recommendations

23. Cabinet is requested to:

 Receive and endorse the Children, Young People and Families Plan 
2016-19 (Appendix 2).

Contact: Peter Appleton, Head of Planning and Service Strategy, Children and 
Adults Services.  Tel: 03000 267 388



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance - There are no financial implications. 

Staffing - There are no staffing implications.

Risk – There are no risk implications

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty -  The CFP has engaged and 
consulted with children, young people and families, to ensure that their voices are 
heard, shared and reflected within the CYPFP.  

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed which considers the impact of 
the CYPFP on specific groups including gender, age, disability, race/ethnic origin, 
religion/beliefs and sexual orientation.  

Accommodation - There are no accommodation implications.

Crime and Disorder – The CYPFP is aligned with and contributes to the current 
priorities within the Safe Durham Partnership Plan.

Human Rights – Human rights have been considered in the production of this plan. 
Children and young people have been central to the development of this strategic 
plan and the plan has ensured that their voices are heard.

Consultation – Extensive consultation has been carried out in the development and 
approval of this plan. Partners, parents, families, children and young people have all 
been provided an opportunity to shape the direction and the content of this plan at 
each stage.

Procurement - There are no procurement implications.

Disability Issues – The views and needs of families and children with disabilities 
have been considered and reflected in the plan and the needs of children with 
disabilities remains paramount to the work of the Children and Families Partnership.

Legal Implications – There are no legal implications.



Appendix 2: Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016-19

Attached as a separate document.



Appendix 3: Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016-19 - New 
Strategic Actions

Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people realise and maximise their 
potential

Outcome: Children and young people are supported to achieve and attain 
during school years to prepare them for adulthood

The Student Voice survey raised a number of issues for schools and supporting 
services including the behaviour of pupils in lessons and low level disruption in 
the classroom. This strategic action has been developed to support schools in 
relation to the behaviour of pupils and the risk of exclusion.  This also reflects 
feedback from young people and partners in relation to exclusion from school 
contributing to an increase in the likelihood of young people undertaking risk 
taking behaviours including youth offending.

 Establish Behaviour Partnership Panels to support schools to 
consider alternative provision for pupils at risk of permanent 
exclusion 

The following action has been added to reflect a more holistic approach to the 
support young people receive at school by ensuring they develop appropriate 
life skills and a broader education to support decision making.  This also 
reflects feedback from young people in relation to receiving more education and 
support regarding the risks relating to sexual relationships and identifying 
unsafe relationships, an understanding in schools around mental health and 
being equipped with life skills to prepare for more independent living.

 Deliver a core offer to mainstream schools regarding physical and 
mental health improvement as part of the curriculum, to include 
topics such as relationships and sexual health, mental health, life 
skills and preparing for more independent living, to help children 
achieve and succeed  

Strategic Objective 2: Children and young people make healthy choices and 
have the best start in life

Outcome: Negative risk‐taking behaviour is reduced

The following action has been added to reflect the work that is taking place with 
the County Durham Youth Offending Services in identifying speech language 
and communication needs of young people who offend.

 Improve how we communicate with young people who offend 
through the provision of direct Specialist Speech and Language 
Therapy

The following actions have been added to reflect the two key objectives in the 
Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015 – 20 aligned to Altogether Better for 
Children and Young People.



 Support young people to manage their risk taking behaviours by 
building resilience and creating a culture that encourages young 
people to choose not to drink

 Reduce the negative impact alcohol has on the lives of children, 
young people and their families through parental alcohol use

Outcome: Children and young people are more resilient 

Feedback from young people was strong in relation to identifying peer support 
as a priority.  Those who have experienced peer support were positive about its 
benefits for dealing with difficult situations and the benefit of being able to talk 
to young people who have had similar experiences.

 Develop opportunities for Peer Support networks so young 
people who have overcome barriers can be trained to help other 
young people who are struggling in similar situations

Outcome: A range of positive activities are available for children, young 
people and families

As part of the work taking place to review youth support provision the following 
action has been included.  This is also supported by feedback from young 
people in relation to engaging in more positive activities.

 Consider a targeted youth support delivery model to support 
young people with additional needed to achieve outcomes

Feedback from young people highlighted that young people wanted to engage 
in more positive activities which also included training and development 
opportunities and life skills.  Young people also said that there should be more 
positive activities for young people to engage in on a weekend so they do not 
get ‘bored’ or pressured into taking risks.  Young people also highlighted that 
they wanted activities to take place where they live.

 Work in partnership to provide more opportunities for children 
and young people to engage in positive activities (including 
weekends and evenings) in their local area

Strategic Objective 3: A Think Family approach is embedded in our support to 
families

Outcome: Early intervention and prevention services improve outcomes for 
families

The following action has been added to reflect the work taking place through 
the Children’s Services Innovation Programme which has developed new 
approaches to support children, young people and families to improve 
outcomes.

 Implement the Children’s Social Care Innovation Project through 
the creation of ten Families First teams across the county



A key element of the Children’s Services Innovation Programme is the 
development of a strong Community and Voluntary Sector Alliance which builds 
on existing networks and relationships, and enables families to access 
additional support from their local communities.  The relationship with local 
voluntary and community organisations will provide long-term and sustainable 
help and support for children, young people and families in the county who 
need it.

 Develop effective alliances with the Voluntary and Community 
Sector and improve engagement in multi-agency family plans and 
support, through closer links with the Families First and One 
Point teams 

Outcome: Children are safeguarded and protected from harm

Launched in March 2015, the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) consists 
of a multi-disciplinary team which works together to screen, gather, analyse and 
share information relating to concerns about children in County Durham who 
may be at risk of harm, or who need support services.  The following action 
reflects the partnership work that is taking place through the MASH to 
safeguard children.

 Work with partners in the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub to 
reduce the number of children subject to subsequent child 
protection plans through proactive interventions when children 
are at risk of significant harm





Children, Young People
and Families Plan
2016/2019



 

 

  2  

 

 

Contents Page  

 

Foreword  Page 3 

Background  Page 4 

Demographics Page 4  

Child Poverty Page 4 

National and Local Policy Context Page 5 

Inspections Page 5 

Engagement Page 6 

Vision and Objectives Page 8 

Delivery Plan Page 8 

County Durham Partnership Page 10 

Commitments of the Children and Families Partnership Page 12 

Strong Partnership Working  Page 12 

Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people realise and maximise their potential  Page 15 

Strategic Objective 2: Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in life Page 19 

Strategic Objective 3: A Think Family approach is embedded in our support for families  Page 24 

Appendix 1 - Organisations represented on the Children and Families Partnership Page 29 

Appendix 2 - National and Local Policy Context Page 30 

Appendix 3 - Inspections Page 36 

Glossary Page 38 

Contact Details Page 42 

 

 

 



 

 

3 

 

Foreword  
The Children and Families Partnership 

works to ensure effective services are 

delivered in the most efficient way to 

improve the lives of children, young 

people and families in County Durham 

which includes targeting resources at 

those that are most in need. The 

Partnership produces the Children, 

Young People and Families Plan 

(CYPFP), which is the single overarching, 

multi-agency plan for the delivery of 

priorities for children, young people and 

families in County Durham.  

 

The Early Help and Neglect Strategy 

remains key to the work of the Children 

and Families Partnership, and partners 

will work together to offer early help to 

families to empower them and their 

communities using the minimum 

necessary statutory intervention.   

 

Through the continued transformation 

of Children’s Services, the Innovations 

Programme has developed new 

approaches to support children, young 

people and families and improve 

outcomes through Families First Teams, 

based in communities.  

 

The Partnership will continue to work 

with schools and education providers to 

reduce the attainment gap between 

vulnerable children and their peers. 

 

Ensuring children are safeguarded and 

protected from harm is fundamental to 

the Children and Families Partnership 

and we will work closely with the Local 

Safeguarding Children’s Board to 

ensure children are safeguarded and 

protected from harm.   

 

By working in this way, it is anticipated 

the numbers of children who need to be 

looked after and those with a protection 

plan will decrease, and the number of 

families receiving help at an earlier level 

will increase. 

 

We recognise the need to listen to the 

views of children and young people, so 

that we can embed ‘the voice of the 

child’ within our plans, and continue to 

work collectively to make 

improvements. 

 

There is a strong commitment from the 

Children and Families Partnership to 

improve the lives of the children and 

young people of County Durham to 

ensure that the vision is met so that: 

 

‘All children, young people  

and families believe,  

achieve and succeed’ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rachael Shimmin 
Chair  

Corporate Director of Children  

and Adults Services 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Anna Lynch 

Vice Chair  

Director of Public Health County Durham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Councillor Ossie Johnson 

Portfolio Holder for Children  

and Young People’s Services 



 

 

4 

 

Background 
The CYPFP is the single overarching 

multi-agency plan for the delivery of 

priorities for children and young people 

in County Durham.  It has been 

refreshed for 2016-19 to ensure it is fit 

for purpose and continues to meet the 

needs of children and young people.  

 

It has been informed by the Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment, 

Community Safety Strategic Assessment 

and the Annual Report of the Director of 

Public Health County Durham. 

 

Demographics  
Between 2001 and 2014, the 0-17 

population in County Durham has fallen 

by 5.9% which is a smaller fall than the 

North East region of 7.5%.  The national 

trend is reversed and saw an increase 

in the 0-17 population of 3.5% over the 

same period.  By 2030, the number of 

children and young people aged 0-17 is 

projected to increase by 4.7% (from 

2014), reversing some of the declining 

trends seen prior to 2011. 

 

Between 2001 and 2014, due to the 

increase in birth rate, the 0-4 age group 

in County Durham increased by 10.5%.   

As a result of the increase in the birth 

rate, it is expected that there will be 

approximately 1,700 more primary aged 

pupils by 2024/25 than there were in 

2014/15. 

 

Children and young people in County 

Durham are impacted by a range of 

physical and mental wellbeing issues.  

Children in County Durham have worse 

than average levels of unhealthy weight.  

In 2014/15, 23% of children aged 4-5 

years and 36.6% of children aged 10-11 

years were classified as overweight or 

obese, compared to the England 

averages of 21.9% and 33.2% 

respectively. 

 

More children (168.4) aged 0-14 were 

admitted to emergency hospital care 

than the England average (112.2) for 

unintentional and deliberate injuries in 

2013/14. This trend is replicated for 

young people aged 15-24, with the 

numbers admitted higher in County 

Durham (201.7) than the average rate 

for England (136.7).  In addition in 

2013/14, admission rates to hospital 

due to self-harm for 10-24 year olds 

(523.5 per 100,000) were higher than 

the England average (412.1 per 

100,000). 

 

A number of children and young  

people continue to participate in  

risky behaviour.  In 2013 teenage 

conception rates (30.5 per 1,000) were 

greater than the England average (23.3) 

and the North East region (30.2).  Under 

18s alcohol related hospital admissions 

(69.9 per 100,000) were also higher 

than the regional (65.8) and national 

(40.1) rates in 2013/14.  

 

Child Poverty 
Growing up in poverty has a significant 

impact on children and young people 

both during their childhood and beyond.  

Children who are unable to enjoy leisure 

activities with their peers may find their 

education suffers, making it difficult for 

them to achieve their full potential and 

get the qualifications needed to sustain 

a well-paid job.   

 

This will impact on a child’s 

development as children from low 

income families are often excluded from 

extra curricula activities, e.g. school 

trips.  This in turn limits their potential 

to earn the money needed to support 

their own families in later life and so a 

cycle of poverty is created.   

 

The latest release of the Children in 

Low-Income Families Local Measure 

shows the gap between County Durham 

and England continues to widen.  In 

2007, 22.8 percent of County Durham 

children aged under 16 were in families 

receiving less than 60 percent of 

median national income. This was only 

slightly higher than the national rate of 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5987/All-the-lonely-people-social-isolation-and-loneliness-in-County-Durham---Report-of-the-Director-of-Public-Health-County-Durham-2014/pdf/Report_of_the_Director_of_Public_Health_County_Durham_2014.pdf
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5987/All-the-lonely-people-social-isolation-and-loneliness-in-County-Durham---Report-of-the-Director-of-Public-Health-County-Durham-2014/pdf/Report_of_the_Director_of_Public_Health_County_Durham_2014.pdf


 

 

5 

 

22.4 percent. However, latest data from 

2013 indicates the absolute gap to 

have grown to 3.9% (County Durham 

22.5 percent, England 18.6 percent). If 

the level of child poverty in the County 

had followed national trends since 

2007, there would have been over 

2,100 fewer children in poverty in 2013.  

 

It is essential a strong partnership 

approach is taken to address poverty, 

working across sectors and with partner 

organisations, to understand impacts 

and to support individuals and 

communities affected by welfare reform 

and related poverty issues. 

 

A Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG) 

is in place, led by the Assistant Chief 

Executive of Durham County Council, 

which co-ordinates the delivery of a 

range of new and existing policy work.  

This seeks to achieve a much broader 

understanding of the issues affecting 

residents, resulting from continuing 

changes to welfare and other issues 

which mean that residents can 

experience poverty. Building on this 

understanding, the Group will seek to 

identify actions to support residents and 

help address identified inequalities. The 

PASG has developed a Poverty Action 

Plan which outlines the vision as:  

 

“To work together to reduce  

and prevent poverty as far as possible 

across County Durham” 

 

To achieve this vision, the plan has 

three objectives and five themes which 

include child poverty, under which 

identified actions will be coordinated. 

 

Many of the Area Action Partnerships 

(AAPs) have identified welfare reform  

as one of their key priorities and have 

supported various projects in their 

areas, focusing on the issues which are 

particularly relevant to each local 

community.  For example, Derwent 

Valley AAP Apprenticeship Project,  

led by the council’s Employability Team,  

is creating additional apprenticeship 

opportunities for young people in the 

area by providing a wage subsidy to 

small and medium sized enterprises 

(SMEs). The Partnership’s investment, 

matched by funding from the National 

Apprenticeship Service, will focus on 

employers which have not previously 

recruited an apprentice, or have not 

recruited an apprentice in the previous 

year, to encourage businesses to offer 

opportunities for young people in the 

area.  This is supported by the 

Government’s drive to introduce 

apprenticeship standards.  

 

To help co-ordinate and develop 

capacity to provide welfare and poverty 

advice in the County, the Council has 

worked with partners to support the 

Advice in County Durham Partnership. 

The partnership seeks to bring together 

statutory, community and voluntary 

sector organisations under a ‘no  

wrong door’ approach, to improve the 

co-ordination of advice services and 

ensure agencies work together to 

support the needs of our communities. 

 

National and Local Policy Context  
Various policy drivers influence the  

work of the Children and Families 

Partnership.  A list of recent policies that 

have influenced the development of  

this plan is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

Inspections  
A number of inspections cover services 

provided for children and young people.  

A list of inspections is attached at 

Appendix 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Engagement 
Numerous engagement events have 

taken place with children and young to 

help inform and shape this refreshed 

plan to ensure it helps meets their 

needs.  This includes engaging events 

through Investing in Children (IIC) 

reference groups and with young  

carers through The Bridge Young  

Carers Service.  

 

IIC is a Community Interest Company 

that works alongside children and  

young people, and adults who provide 

services for them, to create a range of 

effective ways in which they can 

exercise their right to have a say,  

often resulting in improvements in  

the service themselves. 

 

IIC has hosted a number of ‘Agenda  

Days’ which are adult free discussions, 

facilitated by young people for young 

people. They are used to gather young 

people’s views on various topic areas, 

including emotional health and 

wellbeing, diabetes, children with 

disabilities and local community groups.   

 

The Bridge Young Carers Service 

provides a service to young carers 

across County Durham, supporting 

young people who have challenging 

caring roles with a family focused 

approach. The aim is to enable young 

carers to aspire to, and achieve their  

full potential.  

 

The Bridge has undertaken consultation 

with over 150 young carers and their 

families as part of a circus themed 

Family Fun Day.  

 

North Durham Clinical Commissioning 

Group had three “Try it Out” days to 

engage with young people on their 

health priorities. 

 

The Children and Families 

Partnership undertook a Student 

Voice survey in secondary schools in 

County Durham between January and 

March 2015.  Of the 32 secondary 

schools, 25 participated in the survey 

with responses received  

from over 8,000 students. 

 

The Children and Families Partnership 

has developed an action plan to ensure 

this valuable information is shared with 

relevant partners, to ensure the findings 

are fed into strategies and service 

reviews where appropriate, ensuring 

young people’s voices are included. 

 

The Student Voice survey findings 

indicate that: 

 

 Over 10% of students identified 

themselves as a Young Carer, 

which reinforces the importance 

of the Young Carers Charter and 

the need for schools to safely 

identify and support young 

carers in their school. 

 

 31.4% of students stated they 

have been bullied.  The 

Transformation Plan for Children 

and Young People’s Mental 

Health, Emotional Wellbeing  

and Resilience includes an  

anti-stigma campaign as  

an action.  Public Health and 

Education are also working 

closely on the resilience 

programme including work with 

schools to tackle bullying. 

   

 Only 2.6% of children identified 

that they eat most of their fruit 

and vegetables at school, 



 

 

7 

 

compared to over 70% at home. 

The Healthy Weight Alliance, who 

aim to reduce prevalence of 

obesity and increase 

engagement in health 

programmes, will progress work 

with students based on the 

findings of this survey.  

   

 Just over one third of children in 

and out of School do not 

participate in physical activity 

other than School PE.  The 

development of the ‘Altogether 

Active’ Physical Activity 

Framework for County Durham 

provides an opportunity to 

encourage children, young 

people and families to become 

more physically active.  

  

 Over 50% of children responded 

‘Yes’ to the question: ‘Do you 

find that you are often near 

people who are smoking?’.  The 

Tobacco Control Action Plan has 

been refreshed for 2015/16 and 

includes a specific theme of 

reducing exposure to second 

hand smoke.  

 

 

 

 In relation to alcohol 

consumption, 13.7% of students 

responded they drink alcohol 

‘during the week’, ‘most 

weekends’, ‘every weekend’ or 

‘every day’.  By Year 11, this 

increases to 23.3%.  The Alcohol 

Harm Reduction Strategy 

includes a focus on the 

Altogether Better for Children 

and Young People theme and 

includes specific actions for 

Lifeline, the Drug and Alcohol 

Service, who are commissioned 

to support schools in tackling 

drug and alcohol issues. 

 

Consultation has also taken place 

through partner organisations and with 

the Children and Young People’s 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

their feedback has been incorporated 

into the plan. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board hosted 

a Big Tent Engagement Event in 

November 2015. This is a public event 

and includes stakeholders such as 

service users, patients, GPs, carers, 

voluntary and community sector as well 

as professionals from partner agencies 

and elected members and was attended 

by over 260 people.  

 

A number of workshops relating to 

health, social care and the wider 

wellbeing approach took place and 

included children and young people’s 

mental health, emotional wellbeing and 

resilience, physical activity and carers, 

which included young carers. 

 

As part of the Big Tent Event, Making 

Changes Together, a group which brings 

parents of children with additional 

needs together, attended and provided 

their experiences and suggestions on 

how to meet the needs of their children.   

 

Feedback from this event has been 

taken into account in the refresh of  

the CYPFP for 2016-19.  

 

Young people attend each meeting of 

the Children and Families Partnership to 

raise issues that affect them and to 

provide a representative voice for their 

peers.  It is important we feed back  

our actions to young people to ensure 

accountability and transparency.  

This is a commitment from the Children 

and Families Partnership.   

 

Any health related issues are also fed 

into the Health and Wellbeing Board for 

information or action through the Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 

 



 

 

8 

 

 

Key messages from Young People 
Issues which young people consider 

important to them include:  

 

 Access to quality education and 

advice regarding sexual health. 

 Support for young people and 

families around risk taking 

behaviour including drinking,  

drugs and unprotected sex. 

 Prevalence of self-harm in  

young people. 

 Emotional health and 

wellbeing/stress of young people. 

 Peer Support networks 

opportunities should be 

developed. 

 Opportunities for young people to 

engage in positive activities should 

be provided. 

 Better promotion of services 

available to children, young  

people and families. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision 
The vision for the Children, Young 

People and Families Plan is: 

 

‘All children, young people and 

families believe, achieve and 

succeed’ 
 

To achieve this vision, three Strategic 

Objectives have been agreed by the 

Children and Families Partnership, 

along with ten strategic outcomes. 

 

Objectives and Outcomes 
The Children and Families Partnership 

agreed three key objectives in 

September 2015.  A number of 

outcomes have been developed to 

provide focus and reflect the work of  

the Children and Families Partnership.  

 

A chart showing the Objectives and 

Outcomes of the Children, Young People 

and Families Plan is illustrated on the 

next page.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Delivery Plan 
A delivery plan will be developed to take 

forward the objectives and outcomes  

in the CYPFP. 

 

The delivery plan will list the actions we 

will take to achieve the objectives and 

outcomes.  It will detail what we will do 

and when we will do it, and progress 

against the delivery plan will be 

monitored by the Children and Families 

Partnership.  Regular performance 

updates will be presented to partners at 

the Children and Families Partnership 

meetings to ensure accountability  

and transparency.



 

 

9 

 

Objectives and outcomes for the Children Young People and Families Plan 

 

 
 

Children and young 
people realise and 

maximise their 
potential

Children with 
additional needs 
are supported to 

achieve and attain

Young people are 
supported to 
progress and 

achieve in 
education, 

employment and 
training to achieve 

their potential

Children and 
young people are 

supported to 
achieve and attain 

during school 
years to prepare 

them for 
adulthood

Children are 
supported to 
achieve and 

develop during 
their Early Years

Children and young 
people are more 

resilient

A range of positive 
activities  are 
available for 

children, young 
people and families

Negative risk taking 
behaviour is 

reduced

**A Think Family 
approach is embedded  

in our support for 
families

* Children and young 
people make healthy 
choices and have the 

best start in life

Children who cannot 
live with their 

families achieve 
permanence and 

stability

* This is a shared objective for the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children and Families Partnership

Early intervention 
and prevention 

services improve 
outcomes for 

families

Children are 
safeguarded and 
protected from 

harm

** Shared objective for the Children and Families Partnership and the Safe Durham Partnership



 

 

10 

 

County Durham Partnership Priorities  
The County Durham Partnership (CDP)  

is the overarching partnership for County 

Durham and is supported by five 

thematic partnerships, one of which is 

the Children and Families Partnership.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Each of these has a specific focus,  

as outlined below along with their 

strategic objectives: 

 

The Economic Partnership   
Aims to make County Durham a  

place where people want to live,  

work, invest and visit whilst enabling  

our residents and businesses to  

achieve their potential: 

 

 Thriving Durham City. 

 Vibrant and successful towns. 

 Sustainable neighbourhoods  

and rural communities. 

 Competitive and successful 

people. 

 A top location for business. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board   
Promotes integrated working between 

commissioners of health services, public 

health and social care services, for the 

purposes of improving the health and 

wellbeing of the people in the area: 
 

 Children and young people make 

healthy choices and have the best 

start in life. 

 Reduce health inequalities  

and early deaths. 

 Improve the quality of life, 

independence and care and 

support for people with long term 

conditions. 

 Improve the mental and physical 

wellbeing of the population. 

 Protect vulnerable people from 

harm. 

 Support people to die in the place 

of their choice with the care and 

support they need. 

 

The Safe Durham Partnership  
Tackles crime, disorder, substance 

misuse, anti-social behaviour and other 

behaviour adversely affecting the 

environment and seeks to reduce re-

offending: 
 

 Reduce anti-social behaviour. 

 Protect vulnerable people from 

harm. 

 Reduce re-offending. 

 Alcohol and substance misuse 

harm reduction. 

 Embed the Think Family 

approach. 

 Counter terrorism and prevention 

of violent extremism. 

 Implement measures to promote 

a safe environment. 

 

The Environment Partnership  
Aims to transform and sustain the 

environment within County Durham, 

maximising partnership arrangements to 

support the economy and the wellbeing 

of local communities: 
 

 Deliver a clean, attractive and 

sustainable environment. 

 Maximise the value and benefits 

of Durham’s natural 

environment. 

 Reduce carbon emissions and 

adapt to the impact of climate 

change. 
 

 



 

 

11 

 

The CDP’s over-arching strategic 

document, the Sustainable Communities 

Strategy (SCS) provides particular focus 

on the following cross thematic areas  

of focus: 

 

 Job creation 

 Mental wellbeing 

 Think Family 

 Volunteering 

 Inequalities 

 Alcohol 

 

Work has taken place to highlight how a 

broader perspective to these key issues 

can add value to existing work 

programmes to ensure the work of the 

County Durham Partnership makes a 

real difference to facilitate change in the 

longer term to improve outcomes for 

local people.   

 

Through this work significant changes 

have taken place, for example the 

‘County Durham Volunteering’, brand 

has been introduced, facilitated by 

Durham Community Action, on behalf  

of the CDP. This work covers the new 

Volunteer Passport and Kitemark, 

developed to support volunteers and 

organisations taking on volunteers to 

ensure they are supported and have a 

positive experience.   

 

Shared Objectives and Issues 
The CYPFP objective ‘Children and young 

people make healthy choices and have 

the best start in life’ is shared with the 

Health and Wellbeing Board and is 

therefore also included in the Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 

 

Some health issues which relate to 

children, young people and families, 

such as childhood obesity, breastfeeding 

and smoking in pregnancy are included 

in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy and will be led by the Health 

and Wellbeing Board with support from 

the Children and Families Partnership.  

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

has six strategic objectives and covers 

both children and adult health and 

social care needs.  The JHWS can be 

accessed at: www.durham.gov.uk/jhws  

 

Issues such as teenage conceptions will 

be dealt with jointly by the Children and 

Families Partnership and Health and 

Wellbeing Board. 

 

The Children and Families Partnership 

priority ‘A Think Family approach is 

embedded in our support to families’ is 

shared with the Safe Durham 

Partnership.  

 

Issues such as bullying, which include 

ensuring young people stay safe online, 

will be addressed jointly by the Safe 

Durham Partnership, Local Safeguarding 

Children Board and Children and 

Families Partnership. 

 

The following cross thematic areas of 

focus will be dealt with jointly by the 

Children and Families Partnership, 

Health and Wellbeing Board and Safe 

Durham Partnership: 

 

 Mental Health 

 Harm caused by drugs 

 Harm caused by alcohol  

 Self-harm and suicide 

 

Please see pages 19-23 of this plan for 

further details. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

 

12 

 

Commitments of the Children  

and Families Partnership 
 

Investing in Children  

Membership Award 
The Children and Families Partnership 

achieved the Investing in Children 

Membership Award, which gives national 

recognition for good practice and active 

inclusion of children and young people 

in dialogue and change.  

 

The Partnership will strive to renew  

this membership annually. 

 

Young Carers Charter 
The Children and Families Partnership 

gained the Young Carers Charter 

accreditation by pledging to support 

young carers and recognising young 

carers are young people first and  

carers second.   

 

Mental Health Champion 
The Vice-Chair of the Children and 

Families Partnership is a nominated 

mental health champion, whose role 

includes promoting wellbeing and 

initiating and supporting action on  

public mental health. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
A young person from IIC and young carers from 

The Bridge presenting the awards to Rachael 

Shimmin, Chair of the CFP 

 

Membership of the Partnership 
The Corporate Director of Children and 

Adults Services is Chair of the Children 

and Families Partnership and the 

Director of Public Health County  

Durham is Vice-Chair.  Two-way 

communication links have  

been developed to ensure effective 

partnership working between 

stakeholders. 

 

A list of organisations represented on 

the Children and Families Partnership 

are highlighted at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strong Partnership Working  
A key element of the Children’s  

Services Innovation Programme is the 

development of a strong Community  

and Voluntary Sector Alliance (VCA) 

which builds on existing networks and 

relationships, and enables families to 

access additional support from their 

local communities. Three voluntary 

sector alliance co-ordinators will support 

the Family First Teams to develop this 

relationship with local voluntary and 

community organisations, providing 

long-term and sustainable help and 

support for children, young people and 

families in the County who need it.   

The Family First Teams include social 

workers, family support workers and 

other specialist staff who work alongside 

staff in the One Point Service and are 

based at One Point Hubs to ensure 

wherever possible children and young 

people have the best chances  

in life. 

Partnership working between the One 

Point Service and the Improving 

Progression Partnership, along with 

schools, further education providers, 

training providers and employers, has 

led to the lowest ever level of young 

people who are Not in Employment, 

Education and Training (NEET).  

We will continue to strive to reduce  

this number. 



 

 

13 

 

Work has taken place to ensure there is 

an enhanced interface between Area 

Action Partnerships (AAPs) and the 

Children and Families Partnership.    

Representatives from the local authority, 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) 

and the Voluntary and Community 

Sector (VCS) are working together to 

ensure projects delivered at a local level 

reflect the priorities identified in the 

Children Young People and Families 

Plan and the Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy. 

Opportunities for partners to work 

together and utilise the wide range of 

consultation with children and young 

people that is taking place across the 

County has been developed to ensure 

that there is: 

 

 better use of resources across 

partners organisations. 

 a streamlined engagement 

processes.  

 less duplication in relation to 

ensuring that young people are 

not overwhelmed with 

consultation requests. 

 consultation that is reflective  

of the views of young people 

across the board. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Durham County Council has Durham 

County Council has commissioned the 

Wellbeing for Life Service, funding ten 

posts within the One Point service 

supporting children aged 5 -13 years 

and their parents, helping them cope 

with the challenges of family 

life.  Children, young people and their 

families are supported to improve 

health, wellbeing and resilience with a 

range of group activities and individual 

interventions including the 

Strengthening Families programme. 

Attending the seven week programme 

helps families identify what they are 

doing well and supports the 

development of new skills, which will 

help them build stronger bonds and 

relationships; building confidence, 

respecting differences and providing 

opportunities to reflect on behaviour  

and consequences.  

 

Close working with Durham 

Constabulary is evident in a number of 

key areas. 

A dedicated multi-agency Educate and 

Raise Awareness of Sexual Exploitation 

(ERASE) Team was launched in August 

2015 and includes a Detective Sergeant 

and two Police Community Support 

Officers and Childrens Services staff. 

Focusing on early identification of young 

people at risk and suspected offenders 

to prevent further missing / absent 

episodes and further improve our 

response to Child Sexual Exploitation 

(CSE).  

 

A CSE Disruption Toolkit has been 

developed, allowing practitioners to 

highlight to the police risk factor 

behaviour around potential perpetrators. 

This has included ‘Intervene to Protect a 

Child' (IPC) training - a new and 

proactive training tactic to identify and 

disrupt offenders and widening CSE 

training and awareness to those 

services not traditionally associated with 

safeguarding such as voluntary training 

for taxi drivers. 

 

Partners have also created the ‘ERASE’ 

brand (Educate and Raise Awareness of 

Sexual Exploitation) to tackle child 

sexual exploitation.  This includes the 

launch of a dedicated website 

www.eraseabuse.org launched in 

January 2016 and offers parents and 

carers advice on sexual exploitation both 

on-line and off-line. 

http://www.eraseabuse.org/


 

 

14 

 

Through work with Area Action 

Partnerships (AAP), we continue to 

raising awareness of CSE and how to 

report concerns or intelligence of CSE. 

 

 

The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 

(MASH) launched in March 2015 and 

consists of a multi-disciplinary team 

which works together as part of the  

First Contact Service to screen, gather, 

analyse and share information relating 

to concerns about children in County 

Durham who may be at risk of harm,  

or who need support services.  The 

MASH Team is made up of a MASH Co-

ordinator, a Detective Sergeant and 

Detective Constable, Social Workers  

and a School Attendance Enforcement 

Officer (from Children’s Services),  

a Senior Safeguarding Nurse and a 

Harbour Domestic Abuse Service 

Coordinator.   

Single points of contact are in place  

for children and adolescent mental 

health services (CAMHS), assessment 

and intervention and the substance  

misuse service. 

Analysis of Child Sexual Exploitation 

prevalence across County Durham  

has been undertaken by Durham 

Constabulary on behalf of the Missing 

and Exploited Group (a sub group of the 

LSCB) to ensure an effective joint 

agency response to CSE.  

By sharing knowledge, partners are 

developing greater customer insight into 

which people need most help, the issues 

they face, where they are located and 

how we can reach them to offer advice, 

help and support. 

CONTEST, the UK's Counter Terrorism 

Strategy, aims to reduce the risk to the 

United Kingdom, and its interests 

overseas, from terrorism, so that people 

can go about their lives freely and with 

confidence.   

 

There is a clear structure in place  

that supports the delivery of the 

CONTEST Strategy which provides 

oversight of a multi-agency agenda  

and performance measures.   

 

A Multi-agency group is in place under 

the Safe Durham Partnership and there 

is representation from all the key 

sectors to understand the risk of  

radicalisation and their obligation to 

ensure terrorist ideologies, and those 

that promote them, do not go 

uncontested.   

 

The PREVENT strand of CONTEST is 

concerned with preventing people being 

drawn into terrorism.  In February 2015, 

the government introduced the Counter 

Terrorism and Security Act which places 

PREVENT on a statutory footing.   

 

The Act places a general duty on each 

specified authority who must, in the 

exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to prevent people 

from being drawn into terrorism. 

Specified Authorities include Local 

Authorities, Police, Prisons, Probation, 

Community Rehabilitation Companies, 

Schools and Colleges, Universities and 

NHS Foundation Trusts. 

 

All specified authorities across County 

Durham are working together to ensure 

their staff have a good understanding of 

how to recognise those who may be 

vulnerable, or subject, to radicalisation 

and know how to respond.  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

15 

 

Strategic Objective 1  

Children and young people realise 

and maximise their potential  
 

Why this remains a priority  
It is widely recognised that the early 

years of a child’s life have a powerful 

influence on the rest of their lives. This 

will be addressed by the Children and 

Families Partnership (CFP) through the 

Early Years Strategy. 
 

Increasing the number of young people 

in education, employment and training is 

a key priority for the CFP.  In order to 

achieve this outcome, the Partnership is 

committed to providing more 

opportunities for all young people 

including looked after young people, 

care leavers, young people who are 

supervised by the Youth Offending 

Service, teenage parents, young carers 

and gypsy roma travellers.  This will  

be addressed through the Improving 

Progression Partnership’s plan:  

 

 ‘Believe, Achieve and Succeed’. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In addition, the needs of children with 

special educational needs are reflected 

in the priorities of the Children and 

Families Partnership through the 

implementation of a Special Educational 

Needs and Disability Strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The evidence  

 In 2014/15, 6.7% of 16 to 18 year 

olds were not in employment, 

education or training (NEET).  This 

was better in County Durham than 

the North East as a whole (7%)  

but was higher than the national 

average of 4.7%. 

 In 2015, 71.1% of pupils in Durham 

achieved at least 3 A levels (A-E) 

compared to 79.3% nationally. 

40.9% of students taking vocational 

subjects achieved 3 substantial 

qualifications compared to 47.4% 

nationally 

Achievements  
Some of our achievements are  

detailed below: 

 

The Early Years and Neglect Strategy 

2015 was agreed which sets out our 

partnership approach to provide early 

help to combat neglect and its causes in 

County Durham. All partners will identify 

need early and offer support to children 

and their families that will make a 

positive difference to their lives. 

It updates the Early Help Strategy 2014 

and makes clear the direct link to 

neglect and hidden harm (alcohol and 

substance misuse, domestic abuse and 

mental illness). 

 

The Local Offer has been published  

on the Families Information Services 

website, providing information on the 

range of services available to support 

children and young people with Special 

Educational Needs and Disability 

(SEND), as well as useful guidance  

for children, young people, parents and 

carers and professionals.   

 

One comment left on the website  

states that “The Local Offer has lots  

of useful information on it”. 

 

 

 

 

  

“Young People need more 
opportunities to get a job”  
Source: IIC reference group 

 

“Young people are trained  
up to support other young 
people in school around 
exam times”  
Source: IIC reference group 

 



 

 

16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Team Around the School (TAS) is an 

initiative developed by the One Point 

Service in partnership with a number of 

secondary schools.  It adopts a Think 

Family approach providing early help to 

improve young people’s engagement in 

their education and to reduce the 

number of exclusions and the rate  

of persistent non-attendance.   

All secondary schools in the County  

have been offered TAS.  

 

 

 

 

 

The challenges ahead  
Further work is required to improve 

early years provision in County 

Durham by targeting those most in 

need.  The implementation of the 

Community Delivery Model, which 

brings services closer to where 

children and families live and also 

makes better use of community 

buildings (for example, schools, 

libraries, community centres and 

leisure centres) will ensure the 

delivery of the full Children’s 

Centre Core Purpose across a 

range of venues improving 

accessibility for children and 

families. 

 

Education Development Services 

will respond to the government’s 

changes in the curriculum to 

continue to narrow the attainment 

gap for looked after children and 

those on free school meals with 

those of their peers. 

 

The Improving Progression Partnership 

and the Looked After Children 

Strategic Partnership will ensure 

provision is available for all 16-18 year 

olds so they are able to participate in 

education, employment or training, 

including vulnerable groups.  This will 

be achieved through the delivery of the 

Believe, Achieve Succeed: Increasing 

the Participation of Young People in 

Learning’ plan, to increase 

participation in learning and reduce 

the number of young people who are 

NEET.  

 

Case Studies - Teen Parent 

Course 
   

  

Attending the teen parents group 

has helped H to improve her 

confidence. H is a bright and 

capable young lady and  

is looking at a career in midwifery; 

she has made enquiries about a 

science access course at her local 

college.  H is an inspiration to 

others; she is motivated to pursue 

her career, despite being a young 

mum, and is very focussed on how  

she will shape her future. 

 



 

 

17 

 

Strategic Actions and Performance 

Indicators  
The strategic actions state how we are 

going to work together to achieve the 

objectives and outcomes.  The 

performance indicators are used to 

check actions are delivering improved 

outcomes.   

 

Outcome 1: Children are supported to 

achieve and develop during their  

early years 
 

 Provide support to families to help 

children achieve a good level of 

development in readiness for 

school.  

 

Outcome 1:  

Performance indicators 
 

 Prevalence of breastfeeding at  

6-8 weeks from birth. 

 Percentage of children in the Early 

Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 

achieving a Good Level of 

Development. 

 Gap between achievement of a 

good level of development of 

children eligible for free school 

meals and the rest at EYFS. 

 Percentage of aged 0-2 years in the 

top 30% IMD registered with a 

Children’s Centre and having 

sustained contact. 

 Percentage of Children’s Centres 

achieving a good or better 

inspection outcome.  

 Child development at 2-2 ½ years. 

 The achievement gap between the 

lowest achieving 20% in the EYFS 

Profile and the rest. 

 

 

Outcome 2: Children and 

young people are supported  

to achieve and attain during 

school years to prepare them 

for adulthood 

 

 Improve achievement in all phases 

of education by raising standards 

and narrow gaps in performance 

between pupil groups. 

 Apply the Team Around the School 

model, so that early help  

is provided to young people and 

their families in need of additional 

support. 

 Ensure a seamless transition 

between primary and secondary 

phases which promotes optimal 

emotional resilience and academic 

progress. 

 Establish Behaviour Partnership 

Panels to support schools to 

consider alternative provision for 

pupils at risk of permanent exclusion.  

 Deliver a core offer to mainstream 

schools regarding physical and mental 

health improvement as part of the 

curriculum, to include topics such as 

relationships and sexual health, 

mental health, life skills and preparing 

for more independent living, to help 

children achieve and succeed.   

 

Outcome 2: Performance indicators 
 

 Percentage of pupils making at 

least three levels of progress 

between KS2 and KS4 in English. 

 Percentage of pupils making at 

least three levels of progress 

between KS2 and KS4 in Maths. 

 Primary school persistent absence 

rate.  

 Secondary school persistent 

absence rate.  

 Number of permanent exclusions.  

 Attainment 8 at Key Stage 4 
(definition to be confirmed by DFE). 

 

  



 

 

18 

 

Outcome 3: Young people are 

supported to progress and achieve in 

education, employment and training 

to achieve their potential 
 

 Deliver the ‘Believe Achieve  

and Succeed: Increasing the 

participation of  young people in 

learning’ and reduce the number 

of young people not in education, 

employment or training (NEET) 

 or ‘Not Known’.  

 Lead the implementation of  

the “Durham Works” Youth 

Employment Initiative 

programme to address youth 

unemployment in the County. 

 Target support to young people 

in vulnerable groups that are 

over represented in the not in 

education, employment or 

training (NEET) cohort. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 3: Performance indicators 
 

 Percentage of pupils on Level  

3 programmes in community 

secondary schools achieving 

2 A levels at Grade A*-E or 

equivalent. 

 Percentage of 16 to 18 year olds 

who are not in education, 

employment or training (NEET).  

 Percentage of 16-18 year olds 

whose status in relation to 

Education, Employment or Training 

(EET) is 'Not Known' 

 Percentage of young people 

gaining a Level 2 qualification by 

the age of 19 

 Percentage of young people 

gaining a Level 3 qualification by 

the age of 19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 4: Children with additional 

needs are supported to achieve and 

attain 

 

 Deliver the Special Educational 

Needs and Disability Strategy 

2014-2018 and support schools 

to improve outcomes relating to 

achievement, independence and 

preparation for adulthood. 

 Sustain and promote the 

attainment and achievement  

of Looked after Children.  
 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 4: Performance indicators 

 New national LAC education 

attainment performance 

indicators from 2016/17 to be 

confirmed including measures 

on Looked After Children, Special 

Educational Needs and 

Disabilities, Pupil Premium GAP 

and educational progression 
 

 

 
 

 



 

 

19 

 

Strategic Objective 2  
Children and young people make 

healthy choices and have the best 

start in life 

 

Why this remains a priority  
This is a shared priority with the Health 

and Wellbeing Board.  The objective is 

aimed at ensuring young people reduce 

negative risk-taking behaviours 

including drinking, drugs and 

unprotected sex.  It also aims to support 

children and young people to achieve 

optimum mental health and wellbeing 

and make them more resilient.  

 

As a shared objective actions relating to 

childhood obesity, breastfeeding, 

smoking in pregnancy and alcohol and 

drugs are included in the Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy and will be led 

by the Health and Wellbeing Board with 

support from the Children and Families 

Partnership.  Details of these actions 

can be found in the JHWS which can be 

accessed at: www.durham.gov.uk/jhws.  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

This objective also addresses feedback 

from young people that they would like 

more opportunities to engage in positive 

activities in their local area. 

 

A review of youth support commenced in 

2015 and proposals have been 

developed for consultation which will 

lead the development of a Strategy for 

Youth Support and the delivery of a 

targeted youth support service.  This will 

aim to deliver improved outcomes for 

young people aged 13 – 19 years in 

County Durham and is subject to 

consultation.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The evidence  

 In 2013/14, admission rates to 

hospital due to self harm for 10-24 

year olds (523.5 per 100,000) were 

higher than the England average 

(412.1 per 100,000).  

 In 2013/14, alcohol-related hospital 

admission rates for under 18s (69.9 

per 100,000) were higher than the 

regional (65.8) and national (40.1) 

rates.  

 The number of first time entrants to 

the youth justice system continues to 

fall. In the period April to December 

2015 the number fell to 106, from 

157 in the same period in 2014. 

 In June 2015, the Children’s Health 

(CHIMAT) profiles suggest that hospital 

admissions for a mental health (0-17) 

condition is a similar rate in Durham 

(88.8 per 100,000) to the England 

average (87.2). 

 The latest under 18 conception data 

shows that the rate in County Durham 

has reduced from 33.8 per 1,000 in 

2013 to 30.5 during October 2013 to 

September 2014. There has been a 

sustained downward trend since 

monitoring commenced in 1998. 

 

 

 

 

 

“There needs to be safe 
places for young people  
to hang out” 
Source: IIC reference group 

 

  

“There should be information 
about emotional support and 
teen pregnancy”   
Source: IIC reference group 

 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Achievements  
Some of our achievements are  

detailed below: 

 

A two year ‘Teen parent pathway’ project 

commenced in October 2014 to address 

inequalities and provide support to 

overcome the additional barriers to 

education and employment they face. 

 

A suicide and attempted suicide alert 

process has been implemented for 

young people at risk of suicide or  

self-harm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Youth Offending Service 

(CDYOS) has implemented an 

innovative Speech, Language and 

Communication Needs Strategy to 

address the number of young people  

in the youth justice system who have 

speech, language and communication 

needs (SLCN).  

 

The service won a Butler Trust Award for 

their outstanding contribution to the 

management and support of young 

people with communication difficulties.  

The Butler Trust Annual Awards 

celebrate outstanding dedication, skill 

and creativity by people working in 

prisons, probation and youth justice 

settings across the UK. The Awards are 

presented each year by HRH The 

Princess Royal. 

 

The service wanted to ensure early 

identification of any needs, as well as 

making their screening processes 

communication friendly.  A speech and 

language therapist has been seconded 

to the service and staff have learnt how 

to identify warning signs of SLCN and 

how to refer for support.   The service 

has also redeveloped its process for 

assessing young people which is now 

more interactive, helping to reveal any 

SLCN the young person might have.  

This means that more young people 

were referred for speech and language 

therapy in a three month period than 

over the previous 10 years.   

 

Additionally CDYOS gave evidence to 

the All Party Parliamentary Group on 

Speech and Language Difficulties on 19 

October 2015. The CDYOS presentation 

showcased the progress and key 

learning from the Service’s Speech, 

Language and Communication Needs 

(SLCN) Strategy, which commenced in 

March 2014. 

 

The challenges ahead 

We aim to continue to reduce first time 

entrants to the youth justice system and 

custody levels for young people by 

reviewing strategies and implementing 

new ways of working. 

 

Work will be undertaken to address  

risk-taking behaviour by young people e.g. 

smoking, alcohol use, and sexual health. 

 

Emotional wellbeing of children and 

young people is a key area to address, 

and the Children and Young People 

Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing 

and Resilience Plan for County Durham 

2015-2020 will take work forward this 

work including universal and targeted 

support.  

 

 



 

 

21 

 

The Plan will consider self-harm 

amongst young people as well as 

promoting resilience, prevention and 

early intervention, improving access to 

effective support, care for the most 

vulnerable, accountability and 

transparency and developing  

the workforce. 

 

Children who are bullied are more likely 

to suffer from low self-esteem which 

can have a significant impact on 

academic attainment.  The Children  

and Families Partnership is committed 

to supporting schools to address  

this issue. 

 

A national review of the Youth Justice 

System is underway, looking at 

evidence, current practice and 

governance arrangements in preventing 

youth crime and rehabilitating young 

people who offend and exploring how 

the youth justice system can most 

effectively interact with wider partner 

services for children and young people.  

The results of the review will be 

reported in summer 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study – One Point 
L was keen to avoid taking part in 

undesirable activities on a Friday 

evening and was looking for more 

worthwhile things to do.  She felt like 

she had not really done much with her 

life to that point and was keen to make 

changes. 

  

L came to One Point to get support on 

where to go and what to do with her life. 

 

L started to volunteer at a local Youth 

Club to keep her busy and was a natural 

with the young people, offering a 

friendly face and was excellent in the 

kitchen and in the tuck shop.  

 

L always had good fun with the group 

and during group work.  She grew in 

confidence and sought support when 

required.  

 

L has applied for numerous jobs, and 

with support and additional 

qualifications she is expected to 

secure employment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

22 

 

Strategic Actions and Performance 

Indicators 

 

Outcome 5: Negative risk‐taking  

behaviour is reduced 
 

 Improve how we communicate with 

young people who offend through 

the provision of direct Specialist 

Speech and Language Therapy. 

 Target our resources at those 

young people committing the most 

offences and put victims, including 

young victims, and restorative 

justice at the heart of everything 

we do, to reduce re-offending. 

 Support the reduction of teenage 

pregnancies (under 18 

conceptions) in County Durham by 

delivering interventions that are in 

line with evidence and best 

practice. 

 Support young people to manage 

their risk taking behaviours by 

building resilience and creating a 

culture that encourages young 

people to choose not to drink. 

 Reduce the negative impact 

alcohol has on the lives of children, 

young people and their families 

through parental alcohol use. 
 

 

 

Outcome 5: Performance indicators 
 

 Under 16 conception rate per 1000 

girls aged 13-15 years. 

 Under 18 conception rate per 1000 

15-17 year old women (number). 

 First time entrants to the Youth 

Justice System aged 10-17 

 (per 100,000 population of  

10-17 year olds). 

 Proven re-offending by young people 

(who offend) in a 12 month period. 

 Percentage of children aged 4-5 

classified as overweight or obese.  

 Percentage of children aged  

10-11 classified as overweight  

or obese. 

 Alcohol specific hospital admissions 

for under 18's  

(per 100,000 under 18 years 

population). 

 Percentage of mothers smoking  

at time of delivery.  

 Percentage of exits from young 

person’s treatment which are  

care planned (alcohol & drugs). 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 6: Children and young 

people are more resilient 

 

 Work together to reduce rates of 

self-harm by young people. 

 Support children, young people to 

achieve their optimum mental health 

and wellbeing by transforming the 

quality and availability of services 

from early help through to specialist 

provision, delivered within 

communities, closer to home, 

targeted to the most vulnerable 

ensuring fewer children and young 

people require specialist  

mental health services. 

 Ensure health, social care and third 

sector organisations work together 

to identify and support young carers. 

 Provide a range of support to 

schools to tackle bullying and 

harassment. 

 Develop opportunities for Peer 

Support networks so young people 

who have overcome barriers can  

be trained to help other young 

people who are struggling in similar 

situations. 
 

 

 

 



 

 

23 

 

Outcome 6: Performance indicators 
 

 Emotional and behavioural 

health of looked after children 

(Strengths & Difficulties 

questionnaire). 

 Number of schools accredited 

with Young Carers Charter for 

schools. 

 Young people aged 10-24 years 

admitted to hospital as a result 

of self-harm (rate per 100,000 

population aged 10-24 years). 

 Percentage of CAMHS patients 

who have attended a first 

appointment within 9 weeks of 

their external referral date. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 7: A range of positive 

activities are available for children, 

young people and families 
 

 Provide a wide range of physical 

activity opportunities across County 

Durham to support more active 

lifestyles for children and young 

people through the development of 

the ‘Altogether Active’ physical 

activity framework for County 

Durham 

 Consider a targeted youth support 

delivery model to support young 

people with additional needs to 

achieve outcomes. 

 Work in partnership to provide 

more opportunities for children and 

young people to engage in positive 

activities (including weekends and 

evenings) in their local area. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 7: Performance indicators 
 

 Percentage of children regularly 

taking part in activities and clubs 

at school / not at school. 

 Percentage of children who 

would like to attend activities 

and clubs outside of school. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

24 

 

Strategic Objective 3  
A Think Family approach is 

embedded in our support to families 
 

Why this remains a priority  
Think Family is a multi-agency 

approach that seeks to provide early 

help for families that have problems 

and cause problems to the community 

around them.  

 

 
 

Partners across County Durham, 

including Durham Constabulary, are 

committed to tackling the complex 

needs of families that persist between 

generations through the Stronger 

Families Programme (known nationally 

as Troubled Families) which is designed 

to work with families facing multiple and 

complex challenges.   A Single Lead 

Professional/Key Worker is assigned 

and a ‘team around the family’ is put in 

place to coordinate the support to 

achieve a range of positive and 

sustainable outcomes for children, 

young people and their families. 

Phase 1 of the Stronger Families 

Programme (2012-2015) was 

successful in ‘turning around’ the  

lives of 1,320 families across County 

Durham. This success has been 

recognised by the Department of 

Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG). 

The 5-year Phase 2 Programme will 

work with and aim to turn around a total 

of 4,330 families in County Durham by 

2020. It will target families who have: 

 

 Parents and children involved in 

crime and anti-social behaviour. 

 Children who have not been 

attending school regularly. 

 Children who need help (for 

example those that don’t take up 

the early years entitlement). 

 Adults out of work or at risk of 

financial exclusion and young 

people at risk of worklessness. 

 Families affected by domestic 

violence and abuse. 

 Parents and children with a  

range of health problems. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This objective is also aimed at ensuring 

that children are safeguarded and 

protected from harm and that early 

intervention and prevention services  

are in place which is in line with the 

Transformation of Children’s Care. 

It also aims to address the adoption 

reforms outlined in the Children and 

Families Act to ensure that more 

children can benefit more quickly from 

being adopted into a loving home. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“I have always refused support in 

the past as I was scared about what 

would happen. I wish I had stopped 

burying my head in the sand earlier 

as the Stronger Families support  

has really helped my family”  
Source: Stronger Families service user 



 

 

25 

 

The evidence  

 Phase one of the Stronger Families 

programme ‘turned around’ 1,320 

families against the national 

measure of poor school 

attendance, unemployment, youth 

crime and adult anti-social 

behaviour, alongside a wide range 

of local criteria such as health, 

housing and domestic abuse.  

 Latest data (December 2015) 

shows that 21.2% of Children in 

Need referrals occurred within  

12 months of the previous referral. 

This is an improvement from last 

year and is lower than the 

2014/15 national average of 

24.0%. 

 The percentage of Looked After 

Children (LAC) with three or more 

placements as at December 2015 

is 5.6%, which is an improvement 

from 5.7% from September 2014 

and is better than the national and 

regional averages. 

 Over 81% of children looked after 

for 12 months or more as at 

December 2015 had a dental 

check and the required number  

of health assessments. 

 There has been an increase in the 

number of early help assessments 

completed by the One Point 

Service, with 3,964 completed in 

the period April – December 2015 

compared to 2,304 in the same 

period last year. 

 The rate of children with a Child 

Protection Plan continues to 

decrease (34.7 as at 31st 

December 2015) and is much 

lower than the latest national 

(42.9) and regional (59.5) 

averages as of 31st March 2015. 

 

Achievements  
Some of our achievements are  

detailed below: 

 

County Durham was successful in 

achieving the targets in phase one of  

the Troubled Families programme 

(known in County Durham as Stronger 

Families), and as such were invited  

to be one of the 50 Early Starters 

programme, to inform the design  

and development of the expanded  

Phase 2 Troubled Families programme 

ready for national implementation  

from April 2015. 

 

Early Help has started to be recognised 

in everyday practice as crucial to 

achieving positive outcomes for  

children and their families, and is  

now written into many policies, plans 

and strategies across the County 

Durham Partnership. 

There has been an increasing trend  

in the number of children adopted  

since 2010/11. 

 

Durham was successful in securing  

two bids:  
 

 £3.26 million from the Children’s 

Social Care Innovation Fund to 

identify and meet the needs of 

children sooner, to address the 

root causes of problems to reduce 

the number of families who are  

re-referred for support. 

 £496,000 for a therapeutic 

support programme at Aycliffe 

Secure Centre for children that 

have been sexually exploited.   

The programme offers targeted 

support in helping them deal  

with trauma and in making the 

transition from the secure setting 

into more independent living. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

26 

 

The challenges ahead  
Phase two of the Stronger Families 

programme will be delivered over a  

5 year time period, with a target  

of ‘turning around’ 4,330 in  

County Durham. 
 

The newly created Families First  

Teams need to: 
 

 Provide a coordinated approach to 

integrated early help and effective 

intervention.   

 Develop and consolidate voluntary 

sector alliances to build 

community capacity and 

sustainable change for families. 

 Promote enhanced service user 

engagement to change the 

relationship between service  

user and professional. 

 Maintain the momentum of 

intensive workforce development 

programmes to support children 

and their families. 

 Recruit to vacant posts.  

 Manage caseload pressures. 

 

The transition between children and 

adults services and the development 

of a countywide team to ensure the 

experience of children and their carers 

is positive and seamless is also 

required. 

 

 

Case study  
B is part of a family supported under  

the Stronger Families Programme. B 

suffers from severe dyslexia and felt 

very uncomfortable in groups. This  

was a barrier to him gaining the 

qualifications that he needed to get  

him back into employment. B had a  

job offer but was unable to take it,  

due to a lack of qualifications. 

The family’s Lead Professional helped 

identify and arrange for a volunteer to 

support B to undertake an e-learning 

course (Construction Skills Certificate 

Scheme qualification, plus Health and 

Safety for construction). B was very 

anxious and extremely intimidated 

before accessing the course.  

The volunteer spent time allaying B’s 

fears and concerns and reassured him 

that he would be supported each step of 

the way.  

B passed both qualifications and is now 

in full time employment.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

27 

 

Strategic Actions and 

Performance Indicators  
 

Outcome 8: Early intervention and 

prevention services improve 

outcomes for families 
 

 Implement the Children’s Social 

Care Innovation Project through 

the creation of ten Families First 

Teams across the County. 

 Deliver an integrated 0-19 model 

to include universal mandated 

services plus targeted services for 

vulnerable groups.  

 Develop effective alliances with 

the Voluntary and Community 

Sector and improve engagement 

in multi-agency family plans and 

support, through closer links with 

the Families First and One Point 

teams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 8: Performance indicators 
 

 Percentage of successful 

interventions (families turned 

around) via the Stronger Families 

Programme (Phase 2). 

 Percentage of Children in Need 

(CIN) referrals occurring within 

12 months of previous referral. 

 Children becoming the subject of 

a child protection plan for a 

subsequent time. 

 Number of Early Help 

Assessments completed  

by One Point Service. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 9: Children are 

safeguarded and protected  

from harm 

 Work with partners to help 

families facing multiple and 

complex challenges, ensuring that 

children are safeguarded and 

protected from harm and that 

early intervention and prevention 

services are in place to support 

Phase 2 of the Stronger Families 

Programme in County Durham. 

 Work with partners in the  

Multi-Agency Safeguarding  

Hub to reduce the number of 

children subject to subsequent 

child protection plans through 

proactive interventions when 

children are at risk of significant 

harm. 

 Protect children from harm from 

breathing second hand smoke. 

 Work with the Local Safeguarding 

Children Board in tackling Child 

Sexual Exploitation. 

 Implement the government’s new 

statutory requirements in relation 

specified authorities for preventing 

people being drawn into terrorism.  

 

 

Thank you very much for all  
your help and support over 
 the last 10 months. We are so 
unbelievably happy and A has 
now made our family complete. 
Thank you for going that extra 
mile” Source: Adopters 
 



 

 

28 

 

Outcome 9: Performance indicators 
 

 Rate of children with a Child 

Protection Plan per 10,000 

population.  

 Percentage of children subject to a 

Child Protection Plan for two years or 

more. 

 Children killed or seriously injured in 

road traffic accidents. 

 The number of children who are 

reported missing.  

 The number of referrals received 

where Child Sexual Exploitation is 

identified as an issue. 

 Hospital admissions caused by 

unintentional and deliberate injuries 

in children (rate per 10,000 aged 0-

14 years). 

 Hospital admissions caused by 

unintentional and deliberate injuries 

in young people (rate per 10,000 

aged 15-24 years). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome 10: Children who cannot  

live with their families achieve  

permanence and stability 

 

 Develop a range of effective 

alternatives to care and create 

permanent places for children 

and young people in the County.  

 Continue to reduce the costs of 

Looked After Children. 

 

 

 

Outcome 10: Performance indicators 
 

 Rate of Looked After Children  

per 10,000 population. 

 The number of children adopted  

as a percentage of those 

children leaving care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

29 

 

Appendix 1 – Organisations represented on the Children and Families Partnership 

The following organisations are represented on the Children and Families Partnership (NB this is not an exhaustive list): 

 

 Durham County Council, Children and Adults Services 

 Durham County Council, Public Health  

 Durham County Council, Regeneration & Economic Development 

 Durham County Council, Neighbourhoods  

 Durham County Council, Portfolio Holder and Cabinet Support for Children and Young People’s Services  

 North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys, NHS Foundation Trust (Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services) 

 County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 Durham Constabulary 

 Durham Association for Primary Head Teachers  

 Durham Association of Secondary Head Teachers  

 Durham Association of Special Schools Head Teachers  

 Durham College Principals Group  

 Voluntary & Community Sector  

 Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

 NHS England, Cumbria and North East Sub-Regional Team 
 

 



 

 

30 

 

Appendix 2 - National and Local 

Policy Context 

Children and young people realise 

and maximise their potential 
 

Early Education and Childcare 

(September 2013) 

The government committed to extending 

early years provision for 2 year-olds to 

around 20% of the least advantaged 

children from September 2013.   

 

From September 2014 this was further 

extended to the 40% least advantaged 2 

year-olds.  Local authorities received 

£755 million of government funding to 

further increase the number of children 

eligible for free early education and 

childcare.  This enables local authorities 

to focus on identifying and supporting 

disadvantaged children to take up their 

early education place. Free early 

education and childcare places can be 

accessed through maintained nursery 

schools, children’s centres and private 

day nurseries. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Childcare Bill (May 2015) 

To help hard-working families with the 

costs of childcare and support parents 

in work, the government is giving 

families where all parents are working, 

an entitlement up to 30 hours a week of 

free childcare for their 3 and 4 year-olds 

for 38 weeks of the year (equivalent of 

the school year).  The Bill also requires 

local authorities publish information 

about the provision of childcare in the 

local authority area and other services 

or facilities which might be of benefit to 

parents or prospective parents, or 

children or young persons in their area. 

 

Autumn Statement  

(November 2015) 

From 2019-20, the government will 

spend over £6 billion a year supporting 

parents with their childcare costs. This 

includes doubling the free childcare 

entitlement from 15 hours to 30 hours a 

week for working families with three and 

four year olds from September 2017, 

worth up to £5,000 per child.  The 30 

hours free childcare offer for working 

parents of 3 and 4 year olds has been 

extended to help families maintain 

childcare arrangements and support the 

transition back to work at the end of 

their parental leave or period of ill 

health. 

To help families with their childcare 

costs the government plans to introduce 

Tax-Free Childcare from early 2017, 

providing up to £2,000 a year per child 

meaning that a family with two children 

can begin to claim childcare support 

worth up to £40,000 through free hours 

and Tax-Free Childcare by the time both 

children are at school.  

 

The government has also undertaken a 

review of the cost of childcare provision, 

and from 2017-18 will invest £300 

million to increase the average hourly 

rate childcare providers receive and at 

least £50 million of capital funding to 

create additional places in nurseries. 

This will be delivered alongside the 

introduction of a national early years 

funding formula and other reforms, to 

ensure funding is fairly allocated. 

 



 

 

31 

 

GCSE and A Level Reform  

(April 2014)  

The government has reformed GCSE’s 

and A levels to ensure they better 

prepare students for further and higher 

education and employment. 

 

The national curriculum contains the 

programmes of study and attainment 

targets for all subjects, at all key stages 

(except key stage 4 science which is to 

be phased in from September 2016). 

All maintained schools in England 

started teaching these programmes of 

study from September 2014, with the 

following exceptions: 

 In the 2014 to 2015 academic 

year, pupils in years 2 and 6 

should be taught the pre-2014 

programmes of study in 

English, mathematics and 

science.  These pupils will sit 

the current key stage 1 and 2 

tests respectively, and new 

tests will be available from 

2016. 

 Key stage 4 programmes of 

study for English and 

mathematics should be taught 

in year 11 from September 

2016. 

 

 

The new AS and A levels will be linear 

qualifications ensuring students develop 

the skills and knowledge needed for 

progression to undergraduate study.  

 

New A levels subjects taught from 

September 2015 include art and 

design, biology, business, chemistry, 

computer science, economics, English 

language, English literature, English 

language and literature, history, 

physics, psychology, and sociology.  

New A level subjects to be taught from 

September 2016 include dance, 

design and technology, drama, music, 

physical education, and religious 

studies.  

 

New primary school tests  

(March 2014) 

New tougher primary school tests in 

Maths and English will come into 

force from 2016, ensuring no child 

leaves primary school without being 

able to read or write and without a 

solid grounding in maths.  This will 

provide a solid foundation for 

secondary school so that all children 

can master the skills needed for the 

workplace or further education.   All 

topics in the curriculum will be tested 

as part of the new assessments and 

the complicated system of levels will 

be scrapped and instead pupils will 

be given ‘a scaled score’ showing how 

they compare to the expected 

standard for their year. 

 

Raising Participation Age  

(March 2013) 

Young people are required to 

continue in education or training until 

their 18th birthday. 

 

Apprenticeship Reforms: progress report 

(March 2015) 

The report provides an update on the 

reform of the apprenticeship programme 

and encourages employers to employ an 

apprentice and to consider becoming 

part of a trailblazer group to develop a 

new standard. This standard will set out 

what the knowledge, skills and 

behaviours apprentices will have on 

completing their apprenticeship.



 

 

32 

 

Children and Families Act 2014 

The government has radically reformed 

the Special Educational Needs system 

so that it extends from birth to 25, giving 

children, young people and their parent’s 

greater control and choice in decisions 

and ensuring needs are properly met.   

 

From 1 September 2014 local 

authorities had to publish a ‘local offer’ 

which ensures that parents and young 

people have access to a single source of 

coherent and complete information to 

manage their choices with regard to 

services.   

 

Old statements are now replaced with a 

new birth-to-25 education, health and 

care plan, offering families personal 

budgets and improving cooperation 

between all the services that support 

children and their families, particularly 

requiring local authorities and wider 

health partners to work together. 

The Act also reforms the systems for 

adoption, looked after children, family 

justice and foster care: 
 

 Children in Care: every council is 

required to have a ‘virtual school 

head’ to champion the education 

of children in the authority’s care 

 

 Adoption Reform: will ensure 

children can benefit more quickly 

from being adopted into a loving 

home. 

 Family Justice: delays will be 

removed, ensuring that children’s 

best interests are at the heart of 

decision making. 

 Statutory rights to leave and pay for 

parents and adopters. 

 Foster care: local authorities are 

legally obliged to support every 

young person who wants to stay in 

foster care until their 21st birthday.   

 

To protect children and young people 

from the dangers of secondhand smoke, 

on 1st October, 2015, new regulations 

were introduced prohibiting smoking in 

private vehicles with anyone under the 

age of 18. 

 

Care Act 2014 

 The Care Act places new duties on 

local authorities to assess young 

people in advance of their 18th 

birthday, if they are likely to have 

ongoing needs for care and support.   

 The Act also requires local 

authorities to continue children’s 

services until an adult needs  

or carer’s assessment has taken 

place, and a decision has been 

reached about the young person’s 

care and support.   This ensures 

there is no gap in provision of care 

and support when people move 

from children’s to adult social care.   

 Under the Act, local authorities are 

required to look at family 

circumstances when assessing an 

adult’s need for care, which means, 

for example, making sure that the 

position of a young carer within a 

family would not be overlooked.   

The Act also makes it clear that a 

local authority may combine an 

assessment of a young carer with 

the needs assessment of the adult 

he/she cares for.  
 



     

 

33 

 

Education and Adoption Bill  

(May 2015) 

Designed to raise standards and turn 

around failing schools the main 

element of the Bill includes: 
 

 speeding up the process of 

turning schools into academies.  

 new rules which make clear that, 

in the future, every single school 

rated ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted will 

be turned into an academy.   

 plans to tackle coasting schools 

by putting them on a notice to 

improve. 

 giving the Secretary of State new 

powers to direct a number of 

local authorities to have adoption 

functions carried out on their 

behalf in order to create regional 

adoption agencies. 

 

Regional Adoption Agencies 

Programme (June 2015) 

In June 2015 the Department of 

Education set out proposals to move  

to regional adoptions agencies to help 

speed up matching and markedly 

improve the life chances of neglected 

and damaged children; improve adopter 

recruitment and adoption support; and 

reduce costs.  By the end of Parliament, 

the Government want to see all local 

authorities being part of regional 

agencies and want to accelerate the 

pace of change to ensure those children, 

for whom adoption is the right path, are 

given the best chance of finding a loving, 

forever family as quickly as possible. 

 

Children and young people make 

healthy choices and have the best 

start in life 
 

Serious Crime Act 2015 

To better protect all children from harm, 

the Serious Crime Act 2015 clarifies the 

offence of child cruelty, in section 1 of 

the Children and Young Persons Act 

1933, to make it explicit that the offence 

covers cruelty which causes 

psychological harm. 

 

Criminal Justice and  

Courts Act 2015 

The Criminal Justice and Courts Act 

introduces two new criminal offences  

of willful neglect or ill-treatment in  

health and social care following 

recommendations made by Robert 

Francis QC in relation to the public 

inquiry into care at Mid Staffordshire 

Foundation Trust.   

 

 

 

 

Review of the Youth Justice System 

(September 2015) 

A national review of the Youth Justice 

System is to be undertaken.  The review 

will look at evidence, current practice 

and governance arrangements in 

preventing youth crime and 

rehabilitating young people who offend 

and explore how the youth justice 

system can most effectively interact with 

wider partner services for children and 

young people.  The results of the review 

will be reported in summer 2016. 

 

Future in Mind: Promoting, protecting 

and improving our children and young 

people’s mental health and wellbeing 

(March 2015) 

‘Future in mind – promoting, protecting 

and improving our children and young 

people’s mental health and wellbeing’ 

makes a number of proposals the 

government wishes to see by 2020.  

These include tackling stigma and 

improving attitudes to mental illness; 

introducing more access and waiting 

time standards for services; establishing 

‘one stop shop’ support services in the 

community and improving access for 

children and young people who are 

particularly vulnerable. 

 

The report also calls for a step change  

in the way care is delivered moving away 



     

 

34 

 

from a tiered model towards one built 

around the needs of children, young 

people and their families. A Children and 

Young People Mental Health, Emotional 

Wellbeing and Resilience Plan for 

County Durham (2015-2020) has been 

developed to take the work forward. 

 

A Think Family approach is 

embedded in our support for 

families 
 

Care Leavers Strategy  

(October 2013)  

This sets out, in one place, the steps  

the government is taking to support  

care leavers to live independently once 

they have left their placement.  It 

includes a wide range of commitments 

from government to improve the help 

and support available to young people 

leaving care across all areas of life. 

 

Children who run away or go missing 

from home or care (January 2014) 

Statutory guidance setting out the steps 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards, 

local authorities and their partners 

should take to stop children going 

missing and to protect those who do. 

 

 

 

 

Troubled Families (July 2013) 

The government’s national ‘troubled 

families’ programme (known in County 

Durham as Stronger Families) has been 

extended to help a further 400,000 

households who have financial and 

social problems.  In August 2014 the 

government announced a further 

expansion of the programme with work 

to begin in 2014 in 51 of the best 

performing areas (including Durham), 

ahead of the national 5 year programme 

which commenced in 2015.   

 

An additional £200m has been made 

available in 2015/16 (over 5 years) to 

help “high risk” families address 

challenges of worklessness, anti-social 

behaviour and truancy.  As well as 

expanding from working with school-age 

children to those under 5, the wider 

programme will also have a particular 

focus on improving poor health. 

 

Working Together to Safeguard 

Children (March 2015) 

This sets out how organisations and 

individuals should work together to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children and how practitioners should 

conduct the assessment of children. 

 

 

Female genital mutilation  

(FGM): guidelines (July 2014) 

To help increase the number of reports 

of FGM, from 31st October 2015, 

regulated health and social care 

professionals and teachers in England 

and Wales have a mandatory 

requirement to report visually confirmed 

or verbally disclosed cases of female 

genital mutilation (FGM) in girls under 

the age of 18 to the Police.  

 

Children’s Social Care Innovation 

Programme (February 2015) 

The Children’s Social Care Innovation 

programme seeks to support the 

development, testing and sharing of 

effective ways of supporting children 

who need help from children’s social 

care services.  Durham was successful 

in two bids to the Department for 

Education for Children’s Social Care 

Innovation Programme. The first was for 

£496,000, a therapeutic support 

programme at Aycliffe secure centre 

opened in May 2015 for children who 

have been sexually exploited. This offers 

targeted support in helping young 

people deal with trauma and in making 

the transition from the secure setting 

into more independent living. 

 

 



     

 

35 

 

The second successful bid was for 

£3.26 million to deliver a large scale 

new approach to social work and to 

work with families.  The ten new 

‘Families First’ Teams within One Point 

hubs will deliver a new approach to 

social work and to families so that the 

needs of  children are met sooner, and 

to identify the root causes of problems 

so that change can be made  

and sustained.   

 

The first three Teams were launched in 

September 2015 and are operational 

in Chester-le-Street, Peterlee and 

Seaham.  The Teams include social 

workers, One Point and Pathfinder 

staff along with other specialist staff to 

provide joined up early help services 

and to build strong professional 

relationships to improve outcomes for 

children and families.  The remaining 

seven Teams were launched in  

February 2016. 

Child Protection Taskforce  

(June 2015) 

A new Taskforce has been established 

to drive forward fundamental reforms to 

transform child protection. 

The Taskforce will focus on transforming 

social work and children's services, 

improving inspection and tackling child 

sexual exploitation. It will join the 10 

other implementation taskforces, 

including the digital taskforce, already 

established across government to 

monitor and drive delivery of the 

government's cross-cutting priorities. 

The Taskforce's terms of reference are 

to drive improvements in the protection 

of vulnerable children by extending and 

accelerating reforms to the quality of 

children's social work practice and 

leadership; promoting innovative models 

of delivery; and overhauling the way that 

police, social services and other 

agencies work together locally. 

 

Counter Terrorism and  

Security Act 2015 

This places a duty on a range of 

‘Specified Authorities’ that must, in the 

exercise of their functions, have due 

regard to the need to prevent people 

from being drawn into terrorism.  The 

Local Authority has taken a lead role in 

putting in place arrangements to 

safeguard and support those who are 

vulnerable to radicalisation.  Every 

school will be deemed a specified 

authority and will be required to 

understand the risk of pupils being 

drawn into terrorism and know how to 

respond. 

 

Counter Extremism Strategy  

(October 2015) 

On 20th October 2015 the Government 

published its Counter-Extremism 

Strategy, which builds upon the new 

‘Prevent’ duty, and is aimed at 

countering all forms of extremism: 

violent and non-violent.  The purpose of 

the Strategy is to improve understanding 

of the causes and impacts of extremism 

and do more to counter the extremist 

ideology, build partnerships with those 

opposed to extremism, disrupt 

extremists and build more cohesive 

communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.techuk.org/insights/news/item/4504-prime-minister-creates-digital-taskforce-as-digital-economy-unit-moved-to-dcms


     

 

36 

 

Appendix 3 - Inspections 
 

Inspections  
The following inspections cover services 

provided for children and young people. 

 

Inspecting local authority  

arrangements for supporting school 

improvement: framework  

(November 2014) 

This framework constitutes the basis for 

the inspections of local authority 

arrangements for supporting 

improvement in schools and in the 

education of children and young people, 

from November 2014, under section 

135 and section 136(1) (b) of the 

Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The aim of these inspections is to assist 

local authorities in their duty to promote 

high standards and fulfilment of 

potential so that all children and young 

people benefit from at least a good 

education. 

Inspection of children’s homes  

(March 2014) 

This framework contributes to improving 

standards in children’s homes across 

the country and puts the experiences of 

the most vulnerable children at the 

heart of how homes are regulated and 

assessed came into effect in April, 

2015.   

Inspection of early years initial  

teacher training (January 2015) 

To help raise standards in nurseries and 

early years settings, from April 2015, 

Ofsted inspect early years initial teacher 

training providers which provide training 

for those working with children up to five 

years of age.   

 

Single Inspection Framework for  

child protection and services for  

looked after children (June 2014) 

The Single Inspection Framework (SIF) 

for Children’s Services covers children in 

need of help and protection, services for 

looked after children and care leavers 

and the Local Safeguarding Children 

Board. The inspection framework judges 

the overall effectiveness of services 

including a number of key judgement 

areas. 

 

Common inspection framework: 

education, skills and early years 

(August 2014) 

From September 2015 the common 

inspection framework (CIF) aligns 

inspection across all of the different 

education remits Ofsted inspects. It 

applies to registered early years 

settings, maintained schools and 

academies, non-association 

independent schools and further 

education and skills providers. 

The CIF provides consistency and 

comparability in Ofsted’s inspection 

of all education provision, which was 

previously inspected under several 

different frameworks.  

 

Joint targeted area inspections  

(July 2015) 

Under Section 20 of the Children Act 

2004 Joint Targeted Area Inspections 

(JTAI) are to be introduced from Autumn 

2015 by Ofsted, the Care Quality 

Commission, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 

of Constabulary and Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Probation.  Each of the 

inspectorates will continue their single 

agency programmes of inspections of 

child protection and/or safeguarding. 

The inspections will specifically examine 

how well local authorities, health, police 

and probation services work together in 

a particular area to safeguard children. 

The new inspections aim to shine a light 

on both good and poor practice, 

identifying examples from which others 

can learn and helping local agencies to 

improve. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



     

 

37 

 

Children's Centre Inspections  

(July 2015) 

The Minister for Childcare and Education 

announced in July 2015 a consultation 

on the future of children's centres. This 

included a discussion of what 

accountability framework is needed to 

best demonstrate their effect. In light  

of this, the Department for Education 

(DfE) has agreed with Ofsted to pause 

the children's centre inspection  

cycle, pending the outcome of  

the consultation.  

 

SEND Inspection 

The Department for Education (DfE)  

has asked Ofsted and the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) to inspect local areas 

on their effectiveness in fulfilling their 

responsibilities for disabled children  

and young people who have special 

needs.  Unannounced inspections, 

involving visits and discussions with  

a range of health, education and  

social care providers will start from  

May 2016 and focus on: 

 

 How effectively the local area 

identifies children and young people 

who are disabled and/or have 

special educational needs. 

 

 How effectively the local area meets 

the needs and improves the 

outcomes of children and young 

people who are disabled and/or 

have special educational needs.



 

 

38 

 

Children, Young People and Families Plan – Glossary  
Terminology Description 
Alcohol Harm 

Reduction 

Strategy/ 

AHRS 

Durham Council’s Strategy to change the drinking culture in County Durham.  It aims to reduce the harm caused by alcohol 

to individuals, families and communities whilst also ensuring that adults who choose to drink alcohol are able to enjoy it 

responsibly.   

Altogether Active 

Framework 

The overarching framework for County Durham Partnership to increase physical activity for all people living in County 

Durham over a five year period (2016-2021).  

Area Action 

Partnerships/AAP 

These Partnerships have been set up to give people in County Durham a greater choice and voice in local affairs. The 

partnerships allow people to have a say on services, and give organisations the chance to speak directly with local 

communities. By working in partnership we help ensure that the services of a range of organisations - including the county 

and town and parish councils, police, fire, health, and voluntary organisations - are directed to meet the needs of local 

communities and focus their actions and spending on issues important to these local communities. 

County Durham 

Partnership/CDP 

The overarching partnership for County Durham, made up of key public, private and voluntary sector organisations that work 

together to improve the quality of life for the people within County Durham. 

County Durham 

Youth Offending 

Services/CDYOS 

The service works with young people and partner agencies to prevent re-offending. 

Children and 

Families 

Partnership 

/CFP 

County Durham Children and Families Partnership is made up of key partners across County Durham and has a strategic 

responsibility for delivering better outcomes for children, young people and their families in County Durham. 

Child and 

Adolescent 

Mental Health 

Services/CAMHS 

These services help children and young people with their mental health and well-being and are usually provided by a multi-

disciplinary team of mental health professionals. 

Children and 

Adults 

Services/CAS 

 

Children and Adults Services bring together a number of council functions which contribute to the County Durham 

Partnership vision of Altogether Better Durham, and leads on three of the Council’s priority themes: Altogether Healthier, 

Altogether Better for Children and Young People and Altogether Safer. 

Children in 

Need/CIN 

 

Children in need are defined in law as children who are aged under 18 and:- 

 Need local authority services to achieve or maintain a reasonable standard of health or development. 

 Need local authority services to prevent significant or further harm to health or development. 

 Are disabled. 

CHIMAT Child and Maternal Health Profiles 



 

 

39 

 

Clinical 

Commissioning 

Groups/CCG 

Groups of GPs and other health care professionals who have the responsibility for commissioning health and care services in 

their area, in partnership with local authorities and local communities. 

Children, Young 

People and 

Families Plan 

/CYPFP 

The single overarching, multi-agency plan for the delivery of priorities for children and young people in County Durham.  

DAPH Durham Association of Primary Schools represents the clusters of schools across the Authority. It meets on a monthly basis 

and the issues that are discussed revolve around the issues that schools are facing, nationally and locally. 

DASH Durham Association of Secondary Heads is a group of schools and academies in County Durham, DASH believe there should 

be professional collaboration.  The professional practice aspires to be collaborative and equitable, whilst developing, 

promoting and sharing good practice. 

DSSHA Durham Special Schools Head teachers Association aims to share ideas experience and practice in order to promote and 

improve the delivery of special education; promote links and cooperation between member schools; provide mutual support 

and professional help between members and to communicate with the local authority on common issues. 

DCPG Durham College Principals Group includes the four County Durham colleges, and the North East Director from the 

Association of Colleges. It meets termly and discusses issues pertinent to the further education and skills sector. 

Durham County 

Council/DCC 

Local Authority which performs all council functions in the County Durham area. 

Early Years 

Foundation 

Stage/ EYFS 

The Early Year’s Foundation Stage sets the statutory standards that all early years providers must meet. This includes all 

maintained schools, non-maintained schools, independent schools and all providers on the Early Years Register. 

Education Health 

and Care 

Plan/EHCP 

Education Health and Care Plans were introduced across England and Wales during 2014. The Plans themselves originate 

from the Children & Families Act, replacing old SEN statements with new birth-to-25 education, health and care plan, 

requiring local authorities and wider health partners to work together. 

Early Years Pupil 

Premium/ 

EYPP 

Children aged 3 and 4 are entitled to 15 hours a week of funded early education for 38 weeks of the year.  The EYPP will 

complement the entitlement by providing nurseries, schools and other providers of government-funded early education with 

an additional £300 a year for each eligible child accessing the full 570 hours with the aim of improving the quality of 

education that these children receive. 

First Time 

Entrants 

First Time Entrants to the criminal justice system are classified as offenders, (aged 10 – 17) resident in England and Wales, 

who received their first reprimand, warning, caution or conviction, based on data recorded on the Police National Computer. 

Free School 

Meals/FSM 

A free school meal is a school meal provided to a child or young person during a school break and paid for by government. 



 

 

40 

 

General 

Certificate of 

Secondary 

Education/GCSE 

This is an academic qualification awarded in a specified subject, generally taken in a number of subjects by students aged 

14-16 in secondary education in the UK. 

Health and 

Wellbeing 

Board/HWB 

Statutory forum of key leaders from health and social care working together to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 

population and reduce health inequalities. 

Joint Health and 

Wellbeing 

Strategy/JHWS 

A legal requirement to ensure that CCG’s and the local authority work together through the Health and Wellbeing Board and 

agree the services that should be prioritised within the strategy. 

Key Stage/ 

KS1, KS2, KS3, 

KS4 

Key Stage is a stage of the state education system in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland setting the educational 

knowledge expected of students at various ages.  Key stage 1-4 are as follows: 

KS1, school years 1-2, ages 5-7 

KS2, school years 3-6, ages 7-11 

KS3, school years 7-9, ages 11-14 

KS4, school years 10-11, ages 14-16 

Local 

Safeguarding 

Children 

Board/LSCB 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards were established by the Children Act 2004 which gives a statutory responsibility to each 

locality to have this mechanism in place. LSCBs are now the key system in every locality of the country for organisations to 

come together to agree on how they will cooperate with one another to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

Looked After 

Children/LAC 

Children in public care, who are placed with foster carers, in residential homes or with parents or other relatives. 

Multi Agency 

Safeguarding 

Hub/MASH 

The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) gather and share information relating to referrals about children in County 

Durham who may be at risk of harm, or who need support services. This makes sure that all of the key information about a 

child and their family is available ensuring the most suitable support possible. 

Not in 

Employment, 

Education or 

Training/ NEET 

A young person up to the age of 25 who is "Not in Education, Employment, or Training". 

OFSTED Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills 

An independent and impartial organisation who inspect and regulate services which care for children and young people, 

those providing education and skills for learners of all ages. 

One Point 

Service 

A service which combines council staff with the NHS and provides a variety of free advice and support and a range of 

activities for children, young people and families.  One Point is made up of a number of services who can provide support 

with a range of issues such as parenting skills, school attendance, activities for young people and progression into education 

and employment. Their Personal Advisors are trained and qualified to deal with concerns and support parents and children. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/State_school
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Education
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/England
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wales
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Northern_Ireland


 

 

41 

 

 

 

Safe Durham 

Partnership/SDP 

The Government requires specific organisations to work together to reduce crime in their local area. In County Durham this 

partnership is called the Safe Durham Partnership.   

Sustainable 

Community 

Strategy/ SCS 

Vision for the local area and umbrella strategy for all the other strategies devised for the area. 

SEN / SEND Special Educational Needs / Special Educational Needs and Disability 

Children who have needs or disabilities that affects their ability to learn. For example: 

 Behavioural/social (e.g. difficulty making friends). 

 Reading and writing (e.g. dyslexia). 

 Understanding things. 

 Concentrating (e.g. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder). 

 Physical needs or impairments.   

Specified 

Authorities  

Specified Authorities include Local Authorities, Police, Prisons, Probation, Community Rehabilitation Companies, Schools and 

Colleges, Universities and NHS Foundation Trusts. 

Stronger Families 

Programme 

A programme available to the families of County Durham who may need support with any problems or difficulties they may 

be having.  Depending on the nature of the problem, this could include people from housing, health visitors, school or 

nurseries, probation, drug or alcohol services and a whole range of support services available through the community and 

voluntary sector. 

Think Family 

Approach 

Think Family is an approach that requires all agencies to consider the needs of the whole family when working with 

individual members of it. It encourages a broader view of need than that normally adopted. To 'Think Family' is to understand 

that children's problems do not sit in isolation from their parents, and that parents' problems impact on their children. This 

approach ensures that all family members are able to get the support they need, at the right time, to help their children 

achieve good outcomes.  The 'Think Family' approach is intrinsically linked to our Stronger Families Programme. 

Wellbeing for Life Wellbeing for Life is a service commissioned by Durham County Council and delivered by the following five partners who 

have years of knowledge and experience of working and supporting local people across County Durham: 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; County Durham Culture and Sport; Pioneering Care Partnership; 

Leisureworks; Durham Community Action.  Wellbeing for Life provides services that can support people to improve their 

health, wellbeing and quality of life. 



Contact details
Any comments or queries about
this document can be directed to:

Policy, Planning and Partnerships
Children and Adults Services
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UG

Telephone: 03000 267318

Children, Young People
and Families Plan
2016/2019

Images: careimages.com

Children and Adults Services, CMI Team 2016

JHWS.Evaluation@durham.gov.uk
03000 261 381

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format.

Braille Audio Large print



Cabinet

11 May 2016

Annual report of the Director of Public Health 

Report of Corporate Management Team
Rachael Shimmin, Corporate Director Children and Adults Services
Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health, County Durham
Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services

Purpose of the Report

1. This report asks Cabinet to receive the 2015 annual report of the Director of Public 
Health for County Durham.  

Background

2. Under the Health & Social Care Act 2012, one of the statutory requirements of each 
Director of Public Health is to produce an annual report about the health of the local 
population.  The relevant local authority has a duty to publish the report.  The 
government has not specified what the annual report might contain and has made it 
clear that this is a decision for individual Directors of Public Health to determine. 

3. It is important to note that most data and information on the health status of the 
communities in County Durham is detailed in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
available on the Council’s website.  Further information on public health programmes 
can also be found in the joint health & wellbeing strategy.  Detailed information on 
health protection issues for County Durham residents is contained in a Public Health 
England report – Protecting the population of the North East from communicable 
diseases and other hazards – Annual Report 2014/15.  This is available on request. 

4. The 2015 Director of Public Health annual report focuses on tackling obesity and the 
action that needs to be taken by a range of organisations to reduce the impact on the 
health and wellbeing of communities.  County Durham needs to work together to 
prevent the continuing rise in overweight and obesity, to understand the barriers our 
residents face and focus on how to support and enable them to live healthy and 
fulfilling lives. This report aims to develop an understanding of the issues and help 
create the collective action that is needed.

5. The annual report will be uploaded onto the council website and hard copies 
provided to a range of organisations and individuals including the County Durham 
clinical commissioning groups, NHS England, third sector organisations, foundation 
trusts, Public Health England, North of England Commissioning service etc.   In 
addition, copies will be made available to the members library, to individual members 
(where requested), Cabinet, Overview & Scrutiny Committees and officers. 

6. The annual report recommendations are found in Appendix 2. 



Recommendations

7. Cabinet is requested to:

a. Receive the 2015 annual report of the Director of Public Health, County 
Durham.

b. Note that the report is used to inform commissioning plans, service 
developments and assessment of need to support a range of funding bids, 
particularly by third sector organisations.

Background Papers

Contact:  Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health, County Durham
Email:      anna.lynch@durham.gov.uk Tel:  03000 268146

mailto:anna.lynch@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance 
The publication of the report is funded by the ring fenced public health grant. 

Staffing
No impact

Risk
No impact

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
No impact

Accommodation
No impact

Crime and Disorder
No impact

Human Rights 
No impact

Consultation  
This is the independent report of the Director of Public Health and is not subject to 
consultation

Procurement  
No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to services that impact 
on the health of the population

Disability Issues   
No impact

Legal Implications
No impact

Appendix 2



RECOMMENDATIONS

Elected members
Elected members have an influential role and could: 

 Support the inclusion of changes that impact on obesity in appropriate strategies and 
plans. These plans may not always be directly about obesity but may still have an 
impact.

 Consider lobbying government over issues such as a sugar tax, or advertising 
restrictions on unhealthy foods and drinks aimed at children

 Think about championing a healthy diet and a more active lifestyle in your 
community.  Does the local neighbourhood make it easy for everyone to be active? 
Are there plenty of places for children to play?  

Employers
Initiatives aimed at our workplaces may help to create a healthy and productive workforce. 
Employers could:

 Promote physical activity in the workplace especially those aimed at every day 
activity e.g., use stairs not lifts. 

 How healthy is your canteen? Is having a healthy choice enough or should the 
majority of the food provision be healthy?  Do you promote healthy options? 

 Is water readily available to drink? Are unhealthy drinks heavily promoted?
 Do all policies consider the impact upon the health of your workforce, customers or 

your community?
 Review your vending machine procurement. 

Workplace canteens
 Consider using the Government Buying Standard for Food and Catering, to improve 

quality and sustainability. 
 How appropriate are the food portion sizes?
 Could you reduce the sugar content in the food and drinks you serve?
 How healthy or appropriate are your vending machines? Do they provide healthy 

alternatives?
 Is nutritional information available so that your colleagues can make informed 

choices about that they eat or drink?
 Can you promote healthier choices or initiatives such as the Change4life sugar swap 

or snack swap initiatives?

Health professionals 
All health professionals have a role in helping their patients to improve their health related 
behaviour. 

 Midwives, GPs, health visitors, school nurses and their teams should provide 
information and advice to pregnant women and parents of young children about 
nutrition and physical activity for the whole family.

 Consider closer working with the public health team to explore all opportunities to 
tackle obesity.

 Health professionals should look at every contact with a patient as a health 
promoting opportunity and use this opportunity to provide guidance around healthier 
lifestyles and specifically around obesity.

Takeaways, cafes and local shops
There is no reason why this sector cannot consider healthier options. 

 Consider healthy catering standards and provide food labelling.
 Could you join with your local community in their efforts to make the healthy choice 

easier? 



 Promote healthy options in partnership with local schools or workplaces
 Contact the public health team to explore opportunities to provide greater choice to 

your customers. 

Child care settings
All settings where children spend time such as schools, child-care settings, children’s sports 
facilities and events should have healthy food environments. 

 Ensure only healthy foods, beverages and snacks are consumed on the premises. 
Use water not juice. 

 Champion being physically active and explore all opportunities for active play and 
learning.

 Use Change4Life and capitalise on the national approach to tackling obesity
 Involve parents and the wider community in healthy eating projects. 

Social care and carers 
 Provide clear guidance and support to carers and service users around healthier 

nutrition.  
 Ensure that staff have basic and current nutrition training. 
 Promote all opportunities to be active.

Planning
Planners have an important role in creating an environment that makes the healthy 
behaviour easier. 

 New developments should create opportunities for physical activity.
 Ensure there are always opportunities for active travel such as cycling and walking 

routes.  
 Explore how regulations and bye laws may help to make the healthy choice the 

easiest choice?

Procurement
Procurement often influences and determines the choices people make. 

 All establishments that provide food should consider healthy and sustainable food 
procurement. 

 Consider the impact of policies that inadvertently promote unhealthy choices and 
make the healthy option difficult.

Area Action Partnerships, parents and communities
There are many examples of communities that are making a real effort to improve health 
and wellbeing. 

 Consider what you could champion in your local area. 
 Could allotments or green places be used as a community garden to share skills and 

produce? 
 Could you support your local school or community organisation in their efforts to 

make their environment healthier? 
 Join Change4Life, the fun and friendly way to make the healthy choice.
 Work with local retailers to promote healthy options.
 Organised community events can promote healthier choices and options. 





OBESITY

Report of the Director
of Public Health

County Durham

An issue too big to
ignore… or too big
to mention?

2015



Which child, or children are
underweight, healthy weight,
overweight or obese?

A               B               C               D               E               F               G

Answers

A underweight 

B healthy weight 

C healthy weight

D healthy weight 

E overweight

F overweight 

G obese

Newcastle University Map Me Study.



1

Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Background . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

What do we mean by obesity and how do we measure it? . . . . . . . . 6

The current picture in England and County Durham. . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

What are the causes of  obesity? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

Spotlight on: Activity environment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20

Spotlight on: Physical activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

Spotlight on: Individual psychology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23

Wellbeing approaches. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26

Spotlight on: Social influences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

MapMe body image scales
Guest contribution from Prof. Ashley Adamson and team at 
Institute of  Health & Society Newcastle University . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

Spotlight on: Food consumption . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Spotlight on: Food environment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38

So what are we doing in County Durham? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42

Whole system approaches . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47

So what next? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48

References . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51

Contents

Acknowledgments: 

Many thanks to Chris Woodcock, Public Health Portfolio Lead, for his support
in pulling this report together and to Gill O’Neill, Consultant in Public Health
for her oversight and guidance. 



2

This year my Director of  Public Health Annual
Report focuses on obesity and how we can
tackle the issue. I realise this is a sensitive
area for many people but we really need to
stop dancing around the edges of  this issue.
Overweight and obesity continue to be a high priority for County
Durham and I am sure will be for the foreseeable future. We continue to
grapple with the issue and prevent the many health conditions
associated with being overweight and obese. At the present time we are
going in the wrong direction with our obesity trends and need to try new
and innovative approaches as well as implementing evidence based
interventions. The evidence is very clear - we need to learn from
progress we have made in relation to tackling tobacco and smoking. 
We need national legislation, regulations, advertising controls and other
measures such as a tax on sugar if  we are to make significant in-roads
to tackling and reducing obesity. In the absence of  these there is much
that can be achieved both at a local levels as well as striving to
influence and change national policy. I am convinced that change is
only possible if  we do this collectively, sharing resources and
harmonising our efforts to meet a common goal.

This report focusing on obesity could easily be a lengthy affair full of
detailed data and referenced research. The subject is extremely well
researched and there is a large amount of  data and evidence to
underpin the work we want to take forward. However, I do not want a
report that is full of  graphs and tables but one that reaches out to you,
the reader to explain our direction of  travel and what we can do
together. 

Obesity is a complex issue and as I was thinking about this report’s
structure I found myself  drawn back to the powerful Foresight Report
first published in 20071. The Foresight Report1 highlighted the wide
range of  factors that contribute towards obesity. These factors can be
largely grouped into seven domains: energy balance, physical activity,
the activity environment, food consumption, food environment,
individual psychology and social influences. For ease of  reading the
sections of  this report will be broadly built around these domains. 

Whilst we await the new national strategy to reduce obesity in children
due out in early 2016 this report has drawn upon the most up to date
evidence available on the links between sugar and obesity and also on
some fascinating research being conducted by Newcastle University on
parental perceptions of  childhood obesity. I am delighted to include a
guest contribution in the report from Professor Ashley Adamson and 
her team at the Institute of  Health & Society, Newcastle University. 

Introduction



3

Overweight and obesity continue to be a

high priority for County Durham and will be

for the foreseeable future.

In County Durham we already have a Healthy Weight Alliance and
members are working together to deliver the County Durham Healthy
Weight Framework. We are also on the cusp of  launching a physical
activity framework which will galvanise partners to mobilise our
residents to become more physically active. This is also really 
important if  we are serious about tackling obesity in County Durham.

This report predominantly focuses on the power and influence of  food
and, more specifically, on sugar and energy dense food. This is not only
about the food we eat as an individual or family but also about
community influence and ways we can work together as a whole
system. I also touch upon the influence of  the food industry and
suggest ideas about how we might approach this in County Durham. 

Throughout the report there are some examples of  good practice I want
to share, both existing and planned, showing how we are striving to
tackle overweight and obesity issues with a range of  partners.

There is already a vast amount of  good work taking place across
County Durham and I don’t want this report to be seen as a criticism of
current and previous activities. We are making some progress but need
to do even more. As you read the report you will hopefully become
aware of  the challenges we face and the complexity of  tackling obesity.
I want to acknowledge and thank all of  our partners who have been
supporting efforts to prevent overweight and obesity for many years
and I hope we can continue to work together for the foreseeable future.

Throughout the report you will see examples of  action that we can take
forward locally and make progress. We cannot sit back and wait for
national policy to change.

I want this report to be a call to action. As a County Durham
community we need it to be a call to action. We must prevent
the continuing rise in overweight and obesity and we need to
work together to understand the barriers our residents face
and focus on how to support and enable them to live healthy
and fulfilling lives. I look forward to working with you on this
challenging area of the public’s health over the next few years.



4

Obesity is harmful. 

We cannot accept

this status quo.



5

Obesity levels are on the rise. This statement alone is hardly new.
Most of  us are aware of  the rising levels of  obesity, but frequently the views

surrounding the agenda are created through media or cultural norms and

stereotypes. We are all aware of  the overly simple approaches to the problem

and the incorrectly held belief  that there is a quick and simple solution. 

There is not!

This challenge requires a sustained response. We need to
influence at all levels and across a range of  areas if  we are to address an

issue that is having profound long term consequences for the health and

wellbeing of  our communities in County Durham.

Obesity is harmful. We cannot accept this status quo.
The crux of  the problem is an imbalance between energy intake and energy

expenditure, yet this is impacted by a complex mix of  biology, social and

environmental factors over a period of  time. As human beings we evolved in a

world of  relative food scarcity and hard physical work. Many believe obesity is

the result of  our biology interacting with the modern world where energy

dense food is readily available and the world around us helps us move less

and less1. This is often called the obesogenic environment. 

Tackling obesity is a challenge for society and for policy
makers. It is not simply a matter of  individual choice. The factors that
contribute towards obesity are complex and multiple. They interact with each

other in a way that means tackling any of  them in isolation will have limited

effect in improving our population’s health and wellbeing.

Weight, once gained, is challenging to lose. It requires a change in
mind set for the individual and, for some, possibly services and interventions

to help them achieve their weight loss goals. There are already significant

numbers of  obese people in County Durham and action is required to help

them lose weight and to reduce the chance of  them developing further health

complications associated with their weight. 

We must take a preventative approach to stop the rising 
tide of obesity. To do this requires a systemic shift to really change our
current pattern and trends. Change needs to be made at many levels across

County Durham if  we are to have the impact on the population that is needed.

This presents many challenges for partners and organisations and our

communities. 

Hopefully, this
report will help to
create that
collective action
and response we
so badly need. 

Background



6

Adults

Obesity is a term used to

define someone who is very

overweight, with a high

degree of  body fat that may

have an adverse effect on

health and wellbeing. 

It is more than an issue of

appearance. The body

mass index (BMI) gives a

measure which provides an

indication of  whether a

person is a healthy weight

for their height, and allows

categorisation of  weights

into what is normal and

healthy, overweight, or

obese for someone of  a

particular height and

gender. This allows for

trends in population levels

of  obesity to be tracked

over time2. 

The measure uses weight 
as measured in kgs divided
by height in metres squared
(m2):

What do we mean by obesity
and how do we measure it?

BMI =

weight (kg) 

height (m)  x  height (m) 

After www.nhs.uk/conditions/obesity/pages/introduction.aspx

What do we mean by excess weight?

Excess weight is a term used to describe a combined population
above the healthy weight range. This is used intermittently
throughout this report.

Overweight + obese = excess weight 

Adult
classification

BMI range
(kg/m2) What it means for you

Underweight Under 18.5

Being underweight is not healthy.
If  you have a BMI under 18.5 this
may mean that you need to build
your weight up.

Healthy
weight 18.5 to 24.9

Being a healthy weight means you
are at a lower risk of  heart
disease, stroke and type 2
diabetes than someone who is
overweight or obese.

Overweight 25.0 to 29.9

If  you are overweight, you are at a
higher risk of  diseases such as
heart disease, stroke and type 2
diabetes.

Obese 30.0 to 39.9
Being obese or morbidly obese
means you are at a greater or
increased risk of  health problems. 

Body fat can be measured in several ways, with each assessment

method having pros and cons. The method most widely adopted and

used within this report is the body mass index (BMI), though it is

acknowledged that it is not a perfect measure.

Other approaches such as waist circumference, waist to hip ratio,

skinfold thickness, bioelectroic impedance through to more complex

approaches associated with research settings, may be used to provide

measures of  body fat and implications for the individual’s health. 



7

The method of assigning a BMI classification

is different for children and adults.

Defining overweight
and obesity in children

Defining children as
overweight or obese is a
complex process, given that
their height and weight
changes quickly. The method
of assigning a BMI
classification is different for
children than for adults. This
difference is important and
explained on this page.

Clinically very under weight: ≤ 0.4th centile

Clinically low weight: ≤ 2nd centile

Clinically healthy weight: > 2 - < 91th centile

Clinically overweight: ≥ 91st centile

Clinically obese*: ≥ 98th centile

Clinically extremely obese: ≥ 99.6th centile

Measuring and interpreting BMI in children 

It is important when using BMI in children that age and gender

appropriate growth references are used to correctly determine weight

status. In England the British 1990 (UK90) growth reference charts

are used to determine the weight status of  an individual child and

population of  children.

A review of  the issues around the use of  BMI centile thresholds for

defining underweight, overweight and obesity in children aged 2-18

years in the UK, was published in 20123.

Measuring an individual child:

Clinical definitions of weight status: When measuring an individual
child (for example in clinic or feeding back the National Child

Measurement Programme (NCMP) results to parents) weight status is

defined using the UK90 clinical cut points which are as follows:

*This is also called

‘very overweight’ in

the NCMP parental

feedback letters.



8

What is the national child measurement programme
(NCMP)? 

The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) measures the height

and weight of  children in reception class (aged 4-5 years) and year 6

(aged 10-11 years) to assess overweight and obesity levels in children

within primary schools. This data can be used to support local public

health initiatives and inform the local planning and delivery of  services for

children. Local authorities are mandated under the Health & Social Care

Act 2012 to ensure the delivery of  this programme at a local level.

The programme is recognised internationally as a world-class source of

public health intelligence and holds UK National Statistics status4.

The NCMP was set up in line with the Government’s strategy to tackle
obesity and to:

3 inform local planning and delivery of  services for children. 

3 gather population-level data to allow analysis of  trends in growth
patterns and obesity. 

3 increase public and professional understanding of  weight issues in
children and be a vehicle for engaging with children and families

about healthy lifestyles and weight issues. 

Children’s heights and weights are measured and used to calculate a

body mass index (BMI) centile. The measurement process is overseen by

trained healthcare professionals in schools. 



This section highlights the national trend data in obesity and also County Durham
data for both adults and children.

Adults
In England most adults (around 65%) are overweight or obese5.

The current picture in England
and County Durham

     

More women than men
are a healthy weight

Having too much weight increases 
risk of  diabetes, heart disease 
and cancer

In England, average weight is now overweight

1 is underweight 34 are a healthy weight 65 are overweight or obese

  

Key:

underweight

healthy weight

overweight

obese

In every 100 adults in England...

9

Source: After Public Health England



10

Nationally, 65% of  adults have excess

weight5. Prevalence was higher for men

(65.3%) than women (58.1%). This has

seen little change since 1993.

Whilst the proportion of  adults with

excess weight has seen little change

since 1993 the prevalence of  obesity

has increased substantially: for men a

rise from 13% to 24%, for women a rise

from 16% to 27%6.   

72.5%
of adults

are estimated to be 
of excess weight

around 

             310,000
                           adults 

36%
10-11 year olds

have excess weight

over 1,800
aged 10-11 

24%
4-5 year olds
have excess weight

almost 1,300
aged 4-5 

that’s that’s

I   

The level of  adult obesity (27.4%) is higher than the
England average (23.0%). 

The level of  excess weight (72.5%) is higher than the England
average (65%). 

The level of  physically active adults in County Durham (52.2%) is
lower than the England average (56.0%).

Diabetes prevalence (6.8%) is higher than England (6%), and has risen
locally from 4.1% in 2007/08. This increase places a significant burden

on local health care costs. There is more information about diabetes in

County Durham on pages 41-42. 

The 2015 County
Durham Health Profile7

shows that:

In County Durham

DDES Clinical Commissioning Group

North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

Crown Copyright and database rights 2016. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055W

Estimated adult obesity (%)
by quintile

1 (10.8% to <26.2%)

2 (26.2% to <28.9%)

3 (28.9% to <30.4%)

4 (30.4% to <31.9%)

5 (31.9% to <34.1%)

Percentage of the
population of
County Durham
aged 16+ with 
a BMI of 30+,
modelled estimates, 
2006-2008. 

Source: PHE, NHS IC, 2010



11

  xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

P           
     

60

40

 

 20

 

 0
2006/07

  

2013/142012/132011/122010/112009/102008/092007/08

County Durham (Y6)

England (Y6)

County Durham (R)

England (R)   

 

  

 

%
 e

xc
es

s 
w

ei
gh

t

Time

Percentage of
children with
excess weight,
and change over
time, Reception
and Year 6,
2006/07-2013/14,
NCMP4

Children

Childhood obesity – the national picture

The prevalence of  childhood obesity has more than doubled in the UK in

the last 25 years. Those who are obese as children are more likely to be

obese in adulthood. Of  those who are obese at preschool age, research

suggests that between 26% and 41% will go on to be obese in adulthood1.

Addressing obesity during early years is therefore an important prevention

opportunity. 

   
  

Emotional and
behavioural

School absence

●  Stigmatisation
●  Bullying
●  Low self-esteem

●  High cholesterol
●  High blood pressure
●  Pre-diabetes
●  Bone and joint 
    problems
●  Breathing 
    difficulties

Increased risk of
becoming overweight
adults

Risk of  ill-health and
premature mortality
in adult life

   

Obesity harms children
and young people

Source: After Public Health England

Source: After Public Health England



12

Childhood obesity – the local picture

Latest figures from the National Child Measurement Programme identified

the prevalence of  obesity in County Durham to be 9.3% at reception and

21.4% at year 6 and prevalence of  excess weight (overweight and obese)

as 23.0% and 36.5% respectively in 2014/15.

Levels of  excess weight and obesity in County Durham in both reception

and year 6 are significantly higher than England4.

See time series chart on page 11 for NCMP over time. 

Obesity in children and young people has been identified through the

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, the County Durham Children, Young

People and Families Plan, Health and Wellbeing Strategy for County

Durham and Clinical Commissioning Groups’ commissioning intentions as

a priority for improving health outcomes for children and young people. 

Reception (age 4-5 years) Year 6 (age 10-11 years)

Number
excess
weight

% excess
weight

Number
obese % obese

Number
excess
weight

% excess
weight

Number
obese % obese

England 21.9% 9.1% 33.2% 19.1%

County Durham 1,339 23.0% 542 9.3% 1,879 36.5% 1,104 21.4%

Significantly higher

than England

The World Health Organisation (WHO) regards childhood obesity as one

of  the most serious global public health challenges for the 21st century.

Obese children and adolescents are at an increased risk of  developing

various health problems and also more likely to become obese adults8.

Nationally, the Government has set an ambition for local areas to 

‘achieve a sustained downward trend in the level of excess
weight in children by 2020’. 



13

   

Stroke

Sleep 
apnoea

Type 2
diabetes

Heart
disease

Liver
disease

Cancer

Osteoarthritis
Back pain

Depression
and anxiety

Reproductive
complications

Asthma

Stroke

DepressionDepression

 2TT

Cancer disease
Heart

Asthma

apnoea
Sleep 

and anxiety
Depression

Asthma

and anxiety
Depression

diabetes
ype 2TType 2

complications
Reproductive

disease
Liver

complications

   

Asthma

Back pain
Osteoarthritis

   

Asthma

Back pain
Osteoarthritis

Obesity harms health

The impact of obesity
The impact of obesity can be felt at an individual level through to a societal scale due to the
social and economic burden it can cause.

Obesity and health

If  an individual is overweight or obese they are more prone to a range of  serious health

problems. These include cardiovascular disease; type 2 diabetes; endometrial, breast and

colon cancer9; as well as psychological and social problems such as stress, low self-esteem,

depression, stigma, prejudice and bullying10.

The costs of overweight and obesity 

There are significant health and social care costs associated with the treatment of

obesity and its consequences, as well as costs to the wider economy arising from

chronic ill health. 

The House of  Commons Health Select Committee estimated that the total annual cost

of  obesity and overweight for England was nearly £7 billion of  which £1 billion is the

direct health service costs attributable to obesity alone1. 

The National Audit Office highlighted significant indirect costs due to the higher levels

of  sickness and absence from work that obese people suffer, reducing productivity

and imposing costs on business11. 

Source: After Public Health England



14

   

Cost to
wider economy

£27bn

Obesity
attributed

days sickness
£16m

Cost to NHS
£5.1bn

Obesity
medication
£13.3m

Social care
£352m

The annual cost
of obesity

It has been estimated that lost earnings attributable to obesity are around 

£2.3-3.6 billion per year nationally12. The costs for an organisation employing 1,000

people, could equate to £126,000 a year in lost productivity13 and on average, obese

people take four extra sick days per year14. The estimated annual social care costs* of

obesity to local authorities is estimated at £352m15. 

The costs of  decreased household incomes, earlier retirement and higher

dependence on state benefits such as ill health or unemployment benefits that arise

from obesity-related conditions also need to be considered. In 2013 welfare costs

were estimated to be between £1 billion and £6 billion16.

In addition, there is evidence that obesity may reduce the wage levels of  those in

employment17,18 and that obese people are less likely to be in employment than

people of  a healthy weight. 

*Cost of  extra formal hours of  help for severely obese compared to healthy weight people.

Children

These costs will be compounded as the weight problems of  children and teenagers

lead to increased levels of  chronic disease, mental health and other social costs19. 

For example, studies have shown that compared with adolescents of  normal weight,

overweight and obese adolescents had over a third more sick days annually20. 

The rise in childhood obesity is also a concern as overweight and obese youth have

an increased risk of  becoming overweight adults which could further increase the

scale of  the issue21. 

Source: After Public Health England



Obesity and social care

Severely obese people are over three times more likely to need social

care than those who are a healthy weight22.

Obese adults may have physical difficulties which affect day to day

living. This can have implications for social care services such as

housing adaptations for example toilet frames, hoists and stair lifts23.

Specialist carers trained in the manual handling of  severely obese

people are required for people who are house bound and have

difficulties caring for themselves. 

The provision of  appropriate transport and facilities, such as bariatric

patient transport and specialist hospital beds are also required.

15

Obesity and mental health

There is a relationship between common mental health disorders and

obesity. An obese person has a 55% increased risk of  developing

depression over time, whereas a depressed person has a 58%

increased risk of  becoming obese. 

A report from the National Obesity Observatory highlighted that there

is not enough emphasis on the association between mental health,

emotional wellbeing and obesity. The relationship is complex with

some researchers suggesting that obesity can lead to common

mental health disorders, whilst others have found that people with

mental health problems are more prone to obesity10. 

Obesity and the link with inequalities

Obesity prevalence in England is known to be associated with many

indicators of  socioeconomic status, with higher levels of  obesity

found among more deprived groups. The association is stronger for

women than for men. Overall, for women, obesity prevalence rises

with increasing levels of  deprivation, regardless of  the measure used.

Nationally, women living in more deprived areas are more likely to be

obese. Obesity prevalence rises from 20.1% in the least deprived

quintile to 33.0% in the most deprived quintile. For men, only

occupation based and qualification-based measures show

differences in obesity rates by levels of  deprivation24.



16

Nationally, in children aged 4-5 years and 10-11 years, obesity prevalence

in the most deprived tenth of  the population is approximately twice that in

the least deprived tenth4.

  

50

 

40

 

30

 

20

 

10

 

0

%
 e

xc
es

s 
w

ei
gh

t

Deprivation quintile (ID2010)

Q1

Reception Year 6

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q5

        
     

Least
deprived

Most
deprived

National prevalence of excess weight by deprivation
decile and school year, 2011/12 to 2012/14, NCMP4

Factors associated with a healthy diet also show the impact of  deprivation.

Fruit and vegetable consumption is greater in those living in higher income

households. Data from the Health Survey for England shows that children

living in households with the highest income levels eat the most fruit and

vegetables25. There is also evidence that a high sugar intake is associated

with deprivation. The National Diet Nutrition Survey26 found there to be

higher sugar intakes in adults with the lowest income compared to all

other income groups. Consumption of  sugary soft drinks in particular was

found to be higher among adults and teenagers in the lowest income

group. 

Physical activity levels are related to household income. Nationally, men

and women from the lowest income group are least likely to meet the

Government recommendations of  a minimum of  150 minutes of  moderate

intensity per week in bouts of  at least ten minutes27. Low levels of  physical

activity in children can be statistically associated with household income,

with those in the lowest income bracket more likely to report low levels of

activity. Among boys, 47% in the lowest income group and 26% in the

highest did less than 30 minutes of  moderate activity each day28. 

Source: NCMP



17

The future

If  we fail to halt the rise in obesity then by 2050, obesity, in England is predicted to affect 60% of

adult men, 50% of  adult women and 25% of  children1. 

Recently reported modelling suggests that by 2030 41-48% of  men and 35-43% of  women could be

obese, if  the trends continue29.

NHS costs attributable to overweight and obesity are projected to reach £9.7 billion by 2050, with

wider costs to society estimated to reach £49.9 billion per year1. 

  

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

Deprivation decile (ID2015)

1       2       3       4       5       6       7       8       9      10

Most
deprived

Least
deprived

Reception Year 6

%
 e

xc
es

s 
w

ei
gh

t
Excess weight in Reception and Year 6 (%),
by deprivation decile (ID2015 overall score),
County Durham Middle Super Output Areas*,
2011/12 to 2013/14

Locally the picture in County Durham is not quite as pronounced but still

indicates inequalities among our communities.

* Middle super output areas are local populations based on minimum

5,000 and 7,200 people.

Source: NCMP



The rest of this report showcases some of the challenges and the
breadth and complexity of this agenda using the Foresight factors. 
The report also highlights some of the good practice already taking
place in County Durham. The report is not intended to be an
exhaustive list of everything that contributes towards achieving a
healthy weight but hopefully will stimulate discussion and gain
commitment from many partners to work collectively to tackle obesity
in County Durham.

Energy balance

Obesity develops when energy intake from food and drink

consumption is greater than energy expenditure through the body’s

metabolism and physical activity over a period of  time. 

There are, however, many complex behavioural and

societal factors that combine to contribute to

the causes of  obesity. 

The Foresight Report1 suggested the

wide range of  factors that contribute

towards obesity. These can be loosely

grouped into seven main categories.

Apart from the individual’s own

biological make up, all factors have

the potential for change. This is where

the opportunity to make a difference

in County Durham lies.

Foresight developed the concept that it

was not as simple as the energy taken in

and the energy expended. The world we live

in greatly impacts the choices we have in both

those areas. Access to shops, the volume of  unhealthy

food available, access to green space are all factors which

impact upon obesity and over which the individual has little control. 

A review by the Department of  Health’s Expert Advisory Group on

Obesity in 2011, concluded that the new evidence generally

confirmed the analysis of  the causes of  obesity in the Foresight

Report and that it remains a robust foundation for future action30.

What are the causes
of obesity?

B

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Social
influences

Physical
activity

BiologyEnergy
balance

18



 

Energy 
intake

Man 
2,500kcal
Woman 
2,000kcal

Energy 
use

Man 
2,500kcal
Woman 
2,000kcal

 Energy balance

19

Yet, even where access to shops etc is excellent, there are a

number of  other factors that impact our choices. These

include the cultural norms in relation to obesity, the promotion

and advertising of  unhealthy products, the rise of

convenience food and even stress. Only when looking across

all of  the possible factors does the scale and complexity of

the issue and challenge become clear.

Biology

Obesity can be a consequence of  a biological system that

battles to maintain energy balance to keep the body at a

constant weight. Food is fundamental and the human body

has evolved to make sure that its needs are met. The hunger

drive is very powerful but by contrast, there is limited

biological sensitivity to abundance. The feelings of  having

had enough are weak and easily overridden31.

Whilst there is a well-established body of  evidence

highlighting the importance of  controlling energy intake to

avoid weight gain, research into the metabolic aspects of

energy expenditure in humans has shown little to explain the

impairment of  the regulatory mechanism that governs energy

balance32. 

Whilst human biology plays a very important and complex

role in obesity, it is not something that is easily modifiable.

The remaining focus of  this report is the ‘outside’ world,

much of  which, we can attempt to influence and change. 



Aspects of the environment found to be
associated with physical activity include: 

l access to physical activity 
facilities

l distance to destinations 

l levels of residential density

l type of land use 

l urban walkability 

l perceived safety 

l availability of exercise equipment

One important action is to modify the

environment so that it does not promote

sedentary behaviour. The aim is to enable

people to make the healthy choice the

easy choice. By creating an environment

where people actively choose to walk and

cycle as part of  everyday life a significant

impact can be made at an individual and

population level33.

The role of  planners is crucial in ensuring

that new developments create

opportunities that encourage active rather

than sedentary behaviour. 

Durham County Council has recently

started a programme to develop part time

20mph speed limits in areas of  County

Durham. The purpose of  this scheme is to

reduce traffic speeds around schools

during drop off  and pick up times. This

will improve road safety for vulnerable

road users as well as making walking,

cycling and outdoor play more attractive.

In conjunction with the school based road

safety programme, children will have

increased knowledge and skills to enable

them to be safer pedestrians and cyclists.

Spotlight on:

Activity
environment

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Energy
balance

Social
influences

Physical
activity

P    
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Activity
environment

   
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

A physically active environment includes
aspects that may help or block access to
physical activity such as the cost, safety in the
surrounding environment, ease of walking etc. 
It also includes areas that reflect cultural values
associated with activity patterns, such as the
dominance of the car.

20



21

The physical activity cluster
consists of variables such as an
individual’s level of recreational,
domestic, occupational and
transport activity and parental
modelling of activity. The higher
the level of fitness, the easier it is
to engage in physical activity and
conversely, for someone who is
physically unfit, physical activity is
difficult.

Physical activity is a key

determinant of  energy

expenditure and a fundamental

part of  energy balance and

weight control. Regular physical

activity can reduce the risk of

obesity, as well as many chronic

conditions including coronary

heart disease, stroke, type 2

diabetes, cancer, mental health

problems and musculoskeletal

conditions.

Physical activity includes all

forms of  activity, such as walking

or cycling for everyday journeys,

active play, work-related activity,

active recreation (such as

working out in a gym), dancing,

swimming, housework, gardening

or playing games as well as

competitive and non-competitive

sport. The evidence is very clear

that it can also reduce costs by

significantly easing the burden of

chronic disease on the health and

social care system. Even

relatively small increases in

physical activity are associated

with some protection against

chronic diseases and an

improved quality of  life.

Spotlight on:

Physical activity

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Energy
balance

Social
influences

Physical
activity

P    
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Physical
activity

   
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

The Health Survey for England 2012 showed that 67% of men
and 55% of women meet new government recommendations
for levels of physical activity (minimum of  150 minutes of
moderate intensity per week in bouts of  at least ten minutes)27. 

Nationally more boys (21%) than girls (16%) aged 5-15 years
met the national physical activity target in 2012, achieving an
hour of  moderate activity every day28. 

In County Durham the recent Student Voice Survey for

Secondary Schools (2015) showed that 30% of students
sampled (N = 8,148) stated that they were physically active
for 60 mins, every day in the last week, with only 7% stating
that this never occurred.

The Government recommends that adults spend minimal time

being sedentary for long periods. The Health Survey for England

(2012) showed that on weekdays 31% of men and 29% of
women spend six hours or more being sedentary, increasing
to 40% of men and 35% of women on weekend days27.

Whilst physical activity is clearly an important factor in our plans

to tackle obesity, its benefits to an individual’s health are such

that it warrants a focus in its own right. The County Durham

Physical Activity Framework is a collective strategic approach to

this agenda which aims to make a significant impact on the

quality of  life in County Durham. However for the purpose of  this

report, the focus remains primarily around energy intake.

Readers interested in the physical activity framework can access

it on the council website. 



22

Be active

Type 2 diabetes -40%
Cardiovascular disease -35%
Falls, depression and dementia -30%
Joint and back pain -25%
Cancers (colon and breast) -20%

Benefits health

Improves sleep

Maintains healthy weight

Manages stress

Improves quality of life

Something is better than nothing.

Start small and build up gradually:
just 10 minutes at a time provides benefit.

MAKE A START TODAY: it’s never too late!

For a healthy heart and mind

VIGOROUS MODERATE

Sit less Build
strength

Improve
balance

To keep your muscles, 
bones and joints strong

To reduce your
chance of falls

Reduces your chance of:

S            

Break up
sitting time days per week275 150

MINUTES PER WEEK

OR

A COMBINATION OF BOTH
OR

VIGOROUS
INTENSITY
(breathing fast

difficulty talking)

MODERATE
INTENSITY
(increased 
breathing

able to talk)

RUN WALK TV GYM DANCE

STAIRS SWIM COMPUTER CARRY BAGS BOWLS

SPORT CYCLE SOFA YOGA TAI CHI

Physical activity benefits for adults and older adults

What should you do?

Source: UK Chief  Medical Officers’ Guidelines 2011 Start Active, Stay Active: http:bit.ly/startactive



23

Food intake

Research suggests the majority of  adults 

and children have an understanding of  what

constitutes a healthy diet34. Eating lots of  fruit 

and vegetables is the most frequently cited

component whilst the reduction of  sugar and fat

also figures highly. The majority of  adults consider

healthy eating to be important and would like to

improve their own eating habits and those of  their

children. 

Yet the majority of  adults do not eat the

recommended minimum of  five portions of  fruit

and vegetables per day and neither do the majority

of  children. Across all age and income groups,

both men and women consume less than the

recommended daily amount of  fibre. 

As the majority of  people know what they should

be eating for a healthy diet then we need to

understand what factors are making it difficult to

achieve this goal.

Stress

Long-term stress from a range of  pressures, can

affect eating behaviour in different ways. It is

estimated that around 30% of  people eat less than

normal when stressed, but most individuals will eat

more35. 

Spotlight on:

Individual psychology

Food labelling

Nutrition literacy is the term used to describe

people’s understanding of  food, especially the

complexity of  food labelling. Whilst the ‘traffic

light system’ is now present on a great deal of

food packaging, this is not universal on all foods

and may not be far reaching enough.

If  individuals are to make informed choices

about what they eat then any mechanism to

make this as easy and accessible as possible

should be promoted and welcomed. The traffic

light system for food labelling is one example

which could be rolled out to simplify choice for

people. 

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Energy
balance

Social
influences

Physical
activity

P    
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Individual
psychology

   
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Individual psychology describes a
number of psychological attributes from
stress to the demand for indulgence. It
also covers aspects such as the level of
children’s control over their diet.



24

Targeted weight management programmes

The Family Initiative Supporting Children’s Health (FISCH) programme

provided by Durham County Council, Leisureworks and County

Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust is a weight management

programme delivered mainly to primary school aged children,

targeted at those with a BMI at or above the 91st centile. 

The programme consists of  a 10 week school based group

intervention during curriculum time and pre/after school club

sessions. In addition one to one family interventions for children with

BMI at 95th centile or above are delivered. The programme aims to

maintain the weight (body mass)/BMI of  participants and promote

behavioural change. (See description of  BMI and centiles on page 6.)

A recent evaluation assessed the effectiveness of the programme and
the impact on BMI trends. 

It was found that, 

l the school based intervention led to a reduction in both excess

weight and obesity prevalence over a 12 month period. One case

study school also showed a sustained reduction at 18 months;

l There was a 6% and 4% decline in prevalence of  excess weight

and obesity respectively across the participants included in the

evaluation;

l A 40% increase in knowledge for proposed behavioural changes

was achieved at 12 months; and

l The family intervention achieved a sustained reduction or

stabilisation of  BMI in over 90% of  participants at 12 months.

The programme was effective in reducing excess weight and obesity
prevalence among participants.

l We continue to strengthen and explore further partnership working

with other agencies in order to increase coverage of  this

programme.

l The programme is being expanded to include five health trainers.

This approach acknowledges the social complexity of  obesity and

the reality of  the challenges facing families in County Durham. The

health trainers will work closely with the whole family to help them

achieve a healthy weight. This will be monitored after 12 months to

establish the effectiveness of  this approach. 

Resilience

The choices we make are

influenced – perhaps more

than we realise – by the

day-to-day pressures we

face, the behaviour of

those around us, the sort

of  neighbourhood we live

in and the prevailing

culture relating to food and

physical activity. This

unfortunately favours

overconsumption and

inactivity. Going against the

‘norm’ can be challenging

for most people.

The County Durham school

nursing service will deliver

health improvement

interventions as part of  a

schools planned and

progressive curriculum.

Resilience building work

will support life skills

including decision making,

managing peer pressure

and risk taking behaviours.

The County Durham

resilience programme is

working with schools

across the county to

enable them to support

and develop resilient

children and young

people. 



25

Making Every Contact Count (MECC)

There are thousands of  opportunities every day for frontline staff

across a range of  partner organisations to help tackle obesity and

reduce health inequalities. Every contact with a resident should be

seen as an opportunity to encourage healthier lifestyle choices. 

MECC encourages conversations based on behaviour change

approaches, empowering healthier lifestyle choices and exploring

the wider social determinants that influence our health. 

To make every contact count organisations should:

l Build a culture and operating environment that supports

continuous health improvement around obesity through the

contacts it has with individuals36. Insight from MECC initiatives

across the country have shown that service users expect to be

asked about their health37.

l Create the culture in which MECC operates through vision and

mission statements and through strong leadership.

l Offer staff  a suitable environment and the skills and knowledge

to deliver MECC.

The whole system should align itself  towards the prevention of

obesity. Providers of  care should build the prevention of  obesity

and promotion of  healthy living into their day-to-day business.

Service commissioners could require providers to do this through

contracts, payment, incentives and pathway design, and the

priorities set for commissioners should reflect this responsibility38. 

The wellbeing for life service uses a ‘strengths based’ approach

that acknowledges and builds upon the strengths, skills and

capacities of  people to live healthy lives alongside the assets within

their local community. Part of  the local approach is the delivery of

MECC training to members of  the community and front line

partners, to help develop the skills needed for this approach.



26

Obesity has much in common

with many of other public health

challenges. 



27

Obesity has much in common

with many of  other public health

challenges. Many of  the wider

determinants of  health that

impact upon obesity, such as

educational attainment and

income, are the same for other

areas of  poor health. The social,

infrastructural and

environmental factors that

impact on obesity are the same

for many other public health

issues. Current programmes in

County Durham are taking a

collective approach to tackling

obesity, mindful that the

evidence demonstrates a many

pronged approach will have the

greatest impact. 

We know that people’s lifestyles

and the conditions in which they

live and work act together to

influence their health and

wellbeing. Poor socio-economic

circumstances can affect health

and wellbeing throughout life,

resulting in persistent and

pervasive health inequalities.

Behaviour change policy and

practice must be addressed in 

a more integrated and holistic

manner to have the greatest

impact.

The evidence indicates that 70% of  adults currently engage in two or

more of  the main unhealthy behaviours, and the situation is even

more pronounced for those in lower socio-economic groups39. 

A holistic wellbeing approach provides support to people to live well

by addressing the factors that influence their health. It also builds

their capacity to be independent, resilient and maintain good health

for themselves and those around them40.

Many existing solutions focus on single issues, e.g., weight

management, food and health etc. The wellbeing approach goes

beyond looking at single-issue healthy lifestyle services and instead

aims to take a whole-person and community approach to improving

health41.

What is a wellbeing service?

Wellbeing services provide support to people in order to improve

their health and wellbeing. There are different national models for

wellbeing services, however, they all share common features:

 Promote positive health that can empower individuals, enabling
them to maintain and improve their own health and wellbeing.

 Where necessary services and programmes facilitate lifestyle
adjustments e.g., healthy eating.

 The focus is on promoting quality of  life not just length of  life.

 Rather than considering just the specific issue, the service
considers the whole person and issues impacted by the wider
determinants of  health such as lifestyle, social environment and
living conditions as these may be preventing them from reaching
their optimum health. If  poverty is the fundamental issue, then the
wellbeing for life service will provide meaningful guidance into the
appropriate services.

Wellbeing services take into consideration inequalities in health
and actively seek out those individuals who do not usually benefit
from mainstream health services.

County Durham’s Wellbeing for Life Service

The Wellbeing for Life service adheres to the principles of  a general

wellbeing model as described above. More information about the

Wellbeing for Life service in County Durham can be found at

www.wellbeingforlife.net or contact 0800 8766887. 

Wellbeing approaches

for life



28

Who is obese?

Nationally most adults

(around 65%) are

overweight or obese5. 

It’s not surprising that the

average body mass index

in the UK is now above that

considered to be in the

healthy range. Arguably this

shift in the norm has altered

people’s perception of

obesity. Innovative work by

Newcastle University seeks

to explore this issue and

create approaches which

can help parents to identify

overweight and obesity

outside of  any specific

measurement programme.

Food and culture

Food is an enjoyable part of

life and plays an important

part in many cultural

celebrations from birthdays

through to Christmas.

However, many of  these

important occasions are

becoming heavily linked with

the consumption of

unhealthy foodstuffs and

alcohol, in ways no longer

associated with the occasion

itself.

Further information on the

impact of  alcohol on weight,

is found on page 37.

Spotlight on:

Social
influences

   

GPs may underestimate 
their patients’ BMI

If  we do not 
recognise obesity 
we are less likely 
to prioritise 
tackling it

The media 
tend to 
use images 
of  extreme obesity to illustrate 
articles about obesity

Adults tend to underestimate their 
own weight

Half  of  parents do not recognise 
their children are overweight or 
obese

We may not
see ourselves
or our children 
as obese...

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Energy
balance

Social
influences

Physical
activity

P    
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Societal
influences

Social
influences

   
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Social influences cover
areas such as education 
and the impact of the media. 
It also includes societal
attitudes to overweight such
as its acceptance or not.

Source: After Public Health England



29

Guest contribution from Professor Ashley Adamson and team
at the Institute of Health & Society Newcastle University

Childhood obesity is an important public health problem worldwide

and identifying effective preventive strategies remains a priority.

Parents are central to the development of  their child’s health-

related behaviours and play a key role in both the development and

implementation of  prevention strategies. However, many studies

show that many of  us do not recognise when a child is overweight

compared with guidance on healthy body weights for children. 

For example, previous work in the North East showed that over two

thirds of  parents of  overweight children described their child as

being of  ‘normal weight’ at seven years. In common with most

people parents tend to use how their children look compared with

others who may be more overweight, to identify their weight status.

So this means that in the context of  a high prevalence of  childhood

overweight, many of  us rely on extreme cases as a reference point

for our understanding of  what ‘overweight’ means. 

Addressing the difference between parents’ perceptions and

actual child weight status is important. If  parents do not perceive

their child as overweight they are unlikely to make appropriate

changes to their child’s lifestyle. However there is evidence that

parents are more likely to make such changes if  they perceive their

child’s weight as being a health problem. So increasing parents’

knowledge of  what an overweight child does look like, plus

increasing their knowledge about the health consequences of

childhood overweight is a strategy worth exploring.

A study at Newcastle University funded by the

Medical Research Council (MRC) - National

Prevention Research Initiative has developed and

tested visual tools (body image scales) designed to

improve parents’ ability to correctly assess their

child’s weight status as well to improve knowledge of

the health consequences of  childhood overweight.

Body image scales are visual

images of  body shapes ranging

from underweight to obese 

(very overweight). These were

developed using portable 3D

body scanning technology to

obtain body scans from 800

children (boys and girls aged 

4-5 and 10-11 years). Parents

and health professionals

throughout the North East were

consulted extensively and

helped to develop the body

image scales as a method to

improve parents’ ability to

recognise overweight in children

and to develop supporting

information to increase parental

knowledge of  the

consequences of  childhood

overweight. The results are

being tested in a large trial with

almost 3,000 families.

MapMe body image scales 

Next steps

During 2016/2017 public health will be working with
Newcastle University, wider health partners and
Durham County Council’s One Point Service to
implement the ‘body scans’ project, to try and alter
perceptions of excess weight and impact upon the
prevalence of obesity of reception age children.



30

Change4Life

Change4Life is a national

initiative that brings together a

range of  stakeholders with the

shared aims to improve diets

and levels of  activity so

reducing the threat to the

individual’s future health and

wellbeing. The promotion of

‘unhealthy’ behaviour and

foodstuffs is commonplace

and it is important to have a

recognisable brand to help our

communities make healthier

choices.

The goal of Change4Life
is to help every family eat
well, move more and live
longer.

Change4Life is a national

initiative that brings together

a range of stakeholders

Change4Life seeks to change behaviour by providing support for

families and individuals to make small but significant changes to

their diets, activity levels and alcohol consumption. 

In County Durham, Change4Life has expanded beyond the

confines of  traditional marketing, to be the public face of  positive

intervention around obesity. There are Change4Life branded

cooking courses, sports clubs in schools, fun runs and events. 

It has even been adopted by the local health check programme,

Check4Life, which can help people make changes to their

behaviour through one recognisable, consistently branded

programme.

The Healthy Weight Strategic Framework for County Durham

acknowledges the importance and power of  Change4Life and

recommends its adoption for all healthy weight initiatives across the

county. National activity provides a significant platform for local

initiatives to utilise as well as the free national programme that is full

of  useful tips and tools for our residents.

Too often campaigns used by the health community compete with

each other for attention and recognition. In an often cluttered health

environment, the collective use across County Durham of

Change4Life, which is a recognised and trusted brand, could help

to make the healthy choice easier for our communities.



                    

Use the eatwell plate to help you get the balance 
right. It shows how much of  what you eat should 
come from each food group.

Fruit and vegetables

Bread, rice, potatoes, 
pasta and other 

starchy food

Meat, fish, eggs, beans
and other non-dairy 
sources of protein

Foods and drinks 
high in fat and/or sugar

Milk and dairy foods

The eatwell plate

ucright. It shows how m
te to help ytwell plaUse the ea

t should ou eat yha wh ofuc
ou get the balance te to help y

 uld  d 
   nc     e 

 well The eatw  The eatwell plate

Bread, rice, potatoes, 

ood grouph fcome from eac

starchy food
and other pasta 

Bread, rice, potatoes, 

.ood group

Bread, rice, potatoes, 

ruit a  Fr   Fruit and vegetables

sources of protein

        

and other non-dairy 
Meat, fish, eggs, beans

high in fat and/or sugar

n    

Foods and drinks 

Meat, fish, eggs, beans Milk and dairy foods

  

high in fat and/or sugar
Foods and drinks 

      

Milk and dairy foods

  

31

Spotlight on:

Food consumption

The eatwell plate highlights

the different types of  food

that make up our diet, and

shows the proportions we

should eat in order to have 

a healthy, balanced diet.

Food intake

Food consumption

Surveys show that nationally, 
the majority of children do not eat the
recommended minimum of five portions of 
a variety of fruit and vegetables per day25. 
For children aged 11-18 years only 10.1% of boys
and 7.5% of girls actually eat five portions daily. 

Children aged 11-18 years consume an average of 
2.9 portions of fruit and vegetables per day which is
significantly lower than the recommended minimum of five
portions. 

For children aged 5-15 years, those aged 11-12 years consume
the smallest number of portions of fruit and vegetables per day,
2.3 portions for boys and 2.8 portions for girls.

Children living in households with the highest incomes eat 
the most fruit and vegetables per day, 3.9 portions for girls 
and 3.5 portions for boys.

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Energy
balance

Social
influences

Physical
activity

P    
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Food
consumption

   
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Food consumption includes
many characteristics of the food
market and of food products,
such as the nutritional quality of
food and drink, the energy
density of food, and portion size. 

Source: Public Health England in association with the Welsh Government, the Scottish Government and the Food Standards Agency in Northern Ireland



32

Energy dense foods

The energy density of  food and drink

(the amount of  energy per unit

weight of  food or beverage) has

been identified as an important

factor in weight control in both adults

and children. Foods high in fat tend
to be energy dense as dietary fat
provides the greatest amount of

energy per gram, whereas foods that

contain a lot of  water or are high in

fibre tend to be less energy dense.

People with access to less energy

dense foods have been shown to

consume less energy overall (making

it easier to maintain a healthy weight)

and conversely evidence suggests

that consumption of  energy dense

foods can lead to people eating food

containing more energy than they

need, before feeling full 42,43. Indeed 

a recent review concluded that for

adults “consuming a diet higher in

energy density is associated with

increased body weight, whereas

consuming a diet that is relatively low

in energy density improves weight

loss and weight maintenance”42.

There is also a relationship between

the energy density of  foods and

cost, such that cheaper foods tend

to be more energy dense44,45.

Therefore attempts to eat a healthy

diet based on lean meat, fish, fresh

fruit and vegetables may represent

an increased cost. Obesity itself  has

been shown to be socio-

economically patterned with those

from more deprived backgrounds

being most at risk24, 25. 

Badminton

Jogging

Bowling

Cleaning

S  

  
Approx. calories Activity time to burn off

455 kcal 87
mins

339 kcal

395 kcal 166
 mins

503 kcal

36
mins

178
 mins

Chicken burger

Fish fillet burger

Double cheeseburger

Quarter pounder cheeseburger

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Double cheeseburger  

 

 

 

x. caloriespproA

kcal455Double cheeseburger  

 

 

 

Badminton

Activity time to bx. calories

kcal mins
87 

 

 

 

fn ofurActivity time to b

mins
87 

 

 

 

Fish fillet burger

Chicken burger

 

 

 

 

kcal339Fish fillet burger

kcal395Chicken burger

 

 

 

 

Jogging

kcal

kcal 1
 mins
166

 

 

 

 

mins
36

 

 

 

 

Chicken burger

Quarter pounder cheeseburger

 

 

 

 

Chicken burger

kcal503Quarter pounder cheeseburger

 

 

 

 

Bowling

Cleaning

kcal 1
 mins
178

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This observation may be at least in part due to

efforts to manage food budgets46,47.

Taste, often a consequence of  added fats and

sugars and convenience, may also predispose

people towards food choices which include

processed and pre-packaged foods48. However,

when the economic picture is also considered it is

possible to see how wider factors create the

conditions that make it difficult not to over consume,

leading to excess weight. This is often called the

obesogenic environment. 

Energy dense foods



33

Sugar

The recent report Sugar Reduction: The evidence for action 49 highlighted that consuming too much

sugar in food and drinks can lead to weight gain and its related health problems.

Key Facts on Sugar from
Scientific Advisory Committee
on Nutrition (SACN)50

SACN has recommended that:

A high sugar diet can lead to weight gain, which increases the
risk of  cancer

Being overweight may also cause 
gallbladder, aggressive prostate 
and ovarian cancer

Overweight and obesity 
can cause 10 types of cancer

1 IN 20
UK cancers are
linked to weight

   

Oesophagus

Liver

Pancreas

Kidney

Bowel

Womb

Breast
after menopause

OesophagusOesophagus

Overweight and obesity 

 cancerrisk of
ar diet can lead to weight gA high sug

Overweight and obesity 

 cancer
ar diet can lead to weight g

Overweight and obesity 

h increases thehicain, war diet can lead to weight g h increases the Liver

Pancreas

after menopause
Breast

Liver

Pancreas

after menopause
Breast

linked to w
UK canc
1 IN 20
can cause 10 types of cancer

eightlinked to w
ers areUK canc

1 IN 20
can cause 10 types of cancercan cause 10 types of cancer

arian cancerand o
gressiv, agladderr, agallbg

y also cause erweight mavBeing o
te e prostagressiv

y also cause 

Kidney

Bowel

ombW

Kidney

Bowel

omb

linked to weightlinked to w arian cancervand o

     

it should not exceed
of total dietary energy. 

the average population
maximum intake of
sugar should be halved: 

5%

Currently sugar intakes for all population groups are above

the recommended levels, contributing between 12 to 15%

of  total energy intake. 

This is the first time Scientific Advisory Committee on

Nutrition (SACN) has made a recommendation to minimise

consumption of  a specific food and its significance and

importance must not be underestimated. 

Consumption of  sugar and sugar sweetened drinks in

school age children is particularly high. 

Sugar consumption also tends to be highest among our

most disadvantaged communities who also experience

higher prevalence of  obesity and its health consequences. 

A systematic review of  the association between body

weight and the intake of  sugar-containing foods and

beverages, commissioned by the World Health

Organisation found that reducing sugar intake in adults

without imposing any other food restriction led to a

decrease in body weight51.

A high sugar diet
can lead to weight gain

The emerging breakfast drinks

market, often labelled as

convenience, contains products

which contain as much as 25g of

sugar per serving (6 teaspoons). 

Source: After Cancer Research UK



34

†

The number of  sugar cubes featured is based on total sugar in grams per
portion/100g/pack divided by 4 grams (the weight of  one 4g sugar cube).
Images are a representation only.

Whilst it is not news that too much sugar is bad for us, the

amount of  it we eat, the impact on our health and the number

of  factors sustaining our consumption are certainly worth

exploring. Sugar features in so much of  what we eat and

clearly is enjoyable but the newest evidence is very clear –

we must reduce our intake quite drastically.

Public Health England state in very stark terms that “this is

too serious a problem to be solved by relying only on

individuals to change their behaviour in response to health

education or to rely simply on food labelling. No single action

will be effective in reducing sugar intakes”49. 

A broad programme of  measures to affect the areas that

influence our sugar consumption, reduce the sugar content of

our food and drinks as well supporting people to make

healthier choices would have significant impact across

population health. 

Whilst some of  the report’s recommendations might require

Government interventions, many can be tackled in our

communities through working together. We can bring about

local change to reduce our unhealthy consumption of  sugar.

Sugar swaps

Change4Life have recently created a sugar swap app

available for smartphones. This app allows the user to scan

the bar code on a food product and the app will display the

number of  cubes of  sugar within the food or drink. It’s a

quick, easy and fun way to keep a check on sugar intake. 

Visit www.nhs.uk/change4life/Pages/change-for-life

Sugar intake

Nationally representative data on the

carbohydrate intakes of  the UK

population drawn from the National

Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS)26

rolling programme highlights the

sources of  sugar as below:

Adults 19-64 years

Table sugar, biscuits, buns, cakes,

pastries and puddings and soft

drinks are the main sources of  sugar. 

Age 11-18 years

Soft drinks (excluding fruit juice) are

the largest single source of  sugar

and on average those who consume

them drink around 336ml per day.

This is roughly equivalent to one can

of  a sugary drink daily. 

On average soft drinks provide 29%

of  daily sugar intake for this age

group. Table sugar and

confectionery at 21% and fruit juice

at 10% are also large contributors to

the sugar intake of  11 to 18 year

olds. 

Age 4-10 years

For younger children soft drinks,

biscuits, buns, cakes, pastries and

puddings, breakfast cereals,

confectionery and fruit juice are the

major sources. 

52



35

What could be tackled at a local level
in County Durham

What might require national action
(which we could support) 

Look at choices such as ‘kids meals’ in local
retail venues i.e. providing water with a meal
instead of  a sugary drink. Work with retailers 
to bring about changes.

Tighter regulations and controls on catering
provision. 

Look at what is promoted in venues such as
leisure centres and canteens i.e. branded
fridges in retail environments with high fat and
sugar snacks and drinks. Work with providers on
healthy options.  

Significantly reduce opportunities to market and
advertise high sugar food and drink products to
children and adults across all media including
digital platforms and through sponsorship.

Adopt agreed standards for a range of  food and
drink related issues where these are available.

Legislation.

Look at any environment where food is sold i.e.
staff  canteens, visitor and tourist sites, cafes etc.
and explore increasing healthy options with
providers.

Nationally introduce a broad, structured and
transparently monitored programme of  gradual
sugar reduction in everyday food and drink
products, combined with reductions in portion
size.

Support the call for a tax on sugar. 
Explore with local caterers and providers of  food
a local initiative to charge more for high sugar
products with the increased margin being
collected for charity. 

Introduction of  a price increase of  a minimum of
10-20% on high sugar products through the use
of  a tax or levy such as on full sugar soft drinks,
based on the emerging evidence of  the impact
of  such measures in other countries.

Adopt, implement and monitor the government buying standards for food and catering services
(GBSF) across the public sector, including national and local government and the NHS to ensure
provision and sale of  healthier food and drinks in hospitals, leisure centres, public sector environments
and commissioned services.

Ensure that accredited training in diet and health is routinely delivered to all of  those who have
opportunities to influence food choices in the catering, fitness and leisure sectors and others within
local authorities.

Continue to raise awareness of  concerns around sugar levels in the diet to the public as well as health
professionals, employers, the food industry etc. Encourage action to reduce intake and provide
practical steps to help people lower their own and their family’s sugar intake.

The sugar reduction challenge



36

Energy drinks 

Energy drinks are non-alcoholic beverages

promoted as a way to improve performance and

relieve fatigue. They can contain high levels of

caffeine and sugar as well as other ingredients

with stimulant properties, such as guarana,

taurine or herbal substances53. 

Due to the increasing popularity and their high

caffeine and sugar content, consumption of  energy

drinks by children and young people is a growing

concern for many. There are no clear recommendations

for caffeine intake, although the Food Standards Agency

recommends that it should only be consumed by children in

‘moderation’. Anecdotal evidence suggests that young people who

regularly consume energy drinks can become dependent on them

and even moderate consumption may be detrimental54,55,56. Caffeine

when consumed in larger doses, can cause anxiety, agitation,

sleeplessness, gastrointestinal problems and arrhythmias57.

Energy drinks are frequently high in sugar and there are
health implications associated with excessive sugar intake,
such as dental erosion, obesity and type 2 diabetes. 

The HYPER! study found that young people in County Durham

consume energy drinks before, during or after school and

discussions with young people, parents and teachers imply that

consumption is widespread58.

There have been calls to restrict the sale of  energy drinks to 

under-18s in recognition that childhood is a period of  rapid growth

and the final stages of  brain development, when sleep and good

nutrition are especially important56.

It is likely that many people are simply unaware of  the possible

negative effects of  energy drink consumption. 

Raising awareness of these issues should help but elsewhere in the
UK, organisations have begun to explore how they can tackle the
availability of energy drinks.

The RRED (Responsible Retail of  Energy Drinks) campaign in

Edinburgh has successfully encouraged a number of  local retailers

to sign up to a voluntary code of  practice restricting sales of  energy

drinks to children59.

sugary

pop

Almost 29% of 11-18 year
olds’ sugar intake is through
sugar sweetened beverages
and is three times higher
than is recommended. 
The reduction of these alone
could lead to a decrease in
sugar consumption for our
next generation.

Much work has taken place to

reduce sugary drinks in our

schools across County

Durham, with many schools

prohibiting them on their

premises. The journey to

school and what a child eats

before their first lesson is

being explored elsewhere in

the country.



Many people forget to include

alcoholic drinks when watching

what they eat. It’s easy for calories

from alcohol to add up quickly and

be unnoticed as they are being

consumed as a liquid. To achieve

and maintain a healthy weight it is

far better to moderate alcohol intake.

Alcoholic drinks are made by

fermenting and distilling natural

starch and sugar. Calories from

alcohol are ‘empty calories’, they

have no nutritional value. Drinking

alcohol also reduces the amount of

fat the body burns for energy61.

Whilst the body can store nutrients

such as protein, carbohydrates and

fat it cannot store alcohol. The body

system needs to process the

alcohol and doing so takes priority.

Other processes that should be

taking place including burning fat,

are halted whilst the liver is

processing alcohol.

Recent evidence of  a strong link

between obesity and liver cirrhosis

in people with excess weight

demonstrates the compounding

effects of  both obesity and alcohol,

highlighting the need to look at the

complexity of  issues that impact

upon levels of  obesity62. 

Vigorous weight training

Walking at 5km per hour

Aqua aerobics class

Vacuuming

Skipping

S  

  

Approx. calories Activity time to burn off

120 kcal 20
mins

1 glass of 
RED WINE

155 kcal 30
mins

1 full strength
BEER

64 kcal 15
mins

1 standard
VODKA & SODA

248 kcal 60
mins

1 standard
RUM & COLA

200 kcal 20
mins

1 standard
GIN & TONIC

 

  

 

 

 

 

x. caloriespproA

  

120RED WINE
1 glass of   

 

 

 

 

igorous weight trainingV

Activity time to bx. calories

c

kcal120  

 

 

 

 

igorous weight training

fn ofurActivity time to b

mins
20  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

155BEER
1 full strength

641 standard

  

 

 

 

 

igorous weight trainingV

alking at 5km per hourW

kcal155

kcal

  

 

 

 

 

igorous weight training

alking at 5km per hour

mins
30

15

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

64 & SODAVODKA

248RUM & COLA
1 standard

  

 

 

 

 

Aqua aerobics class

acuumingV

kcal

kcal248

  

 

 

 

 

Aqua aerobics class

mins
15

mins
60

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 200ONICGIN & T
1 standard

  

 

 

 

 
Skipping

S  

kcal200

  

 

 

 

 

 

mins
20

‘Empty calories’ in alcohol 

On average, alcohol makes up 10% of  the calorie intake among

adults who drink. Drinking alcohol regularly can form a

significant part of  daily calorie consumption60. 

According to Alcohol Concern, there is a lack of  public

awareness about the calorific content of  alcoholic drinks and

about how alcohol intake should be managed in order to

maintain a healthy weight.

Alcoholic drinks lack most essential nutrients and vitamins, so if

alcohol is providing many or most of  the calories in the diet then

there is a risk of  nutritional deficiencies. Saving calories from

food for alcohol i.e. drinking alcohol rather than eating to

prevent putting on weight – sometimes termed ‘drunkorexia’ –

should clearly be avoided.

Alcohol and calories

37

Source: After www.12wbt.com



Spotlight on:

Food
environment

Food environment includes the
food industry and the pressure for
profitability and the cost of
ingredients. It also includes
aspects reflecting the wider social
and economic situation in the UK,
such as purchasing power and
societal pressure to consume.

Takeaways

Reducing salt and saturated

fat intakes for the population

could reduce morbidity and

mortality rates from cardiovascular

disease. Sections of  the population

who regularly eat fast-food may be

consuming substantially higher

amounts of  trans fats, industrially-

produced trans fatty acids. Analysis by

Public Health England shows a strong

association between deprivation and

the density of  fast food outlets, with

more deprived areas having a higher

proportion of  fast food outlets per

head of  population than others63.

Durham County Council has powers to

prevent new fast-food outlets being

provided and street trading consents

close to schools and other children’s

educational facilities.

Portion size

Research into portion sizes by the

British Heart Foundation has

suggested that when people are

presented with more food, they eat

more. Larger portion sizes tend to

increase the total amount of  food

eaten over the day as people do not

compensate by eating smaller portions

at other times64. 

38

Whilst the British Heart Foundation is seeking national

action, there exists the opportunity to make changes at a

local level. Local workplaces that serve food can contribute

by controlling portion sizes and providing relevant

information to allow employees to understand their intake

during meal and snack times. 

Societal
influences

Activity
environment

Food
consumption

Food
environment

Individual
psychology

Energy
balance

Social
influences

Physical
activity

P    
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    

Food
environment

   
     

     
      

    
      

    
   

     
    



39

School Food Plan

The School Food Plan has the support of  the Secretary of  State for

Education and of  diverse organisations supporting head teachers to

improve food in their schools. As part of  the School Food Plan, a new set

of  standards for all food served in schools was launched by the

Department for Education. These standards became mandatory in all

maintained schools, new academies and free schools from January

2015. 

Welcomed by the Save Our Standards Campaign, the new standards are

designed to make it easier for school cooks to create imaginative, flexible

and nutritious meals. Many schools in England have already started

using the new standards and are really enthused by the possibilities. 

In some areas, improvements have been dramatic leading to more

nutritious meals for children and young people. 

Durham County Council is supporting schools in the education system

locally to adopt the school food plan. For further information contact

publichealth@durham.gov.uk

School growing clubs

County Durham has 44 school growing clubs that incorporate learning

with the provision and consumption of  healthier foods. The Growing

Healthy Project works with a number of  schools to use spare space to

grow fruit, vegetables and herbs. 

Children are also involved in creating recipes to try at home with the

produce they have grown. This encourages their family to share in the

healthy meal and potentially expand diet choices. Cooking on a budget

can be challenging and may prevent parents from experimenting with

new foods as they do not want any waste when money is tight. 

School growing clubs can help to introduce children to
healthier foods in an interactive and enjoyable way and 
10 more clubs are planned for 2016/2017.

Purchasing power

Research by Cambridge

University showed that

since 2002, healthier foods

and beverages have

consistently been more

expensive than less

healthy ones. In 2012,

healthy foods were three

times more expensive per

calorie than less healthy

ones. This trend is likely to

make healthier diets less

affordable over time, which

may have implications for

population health and

social inequalities in

health65.



40

Growing Durham

aims to support

more people to

grow food in their

local community...

FACT:
Currently County Durham has a school meals uptake rate

of  approximately 64% across primary schools. 

84% of  key stage one children access the free school

meals offer.

The school food environment alone may not change
the lunchtime culture. The support of local parents to
ensure the success of this plan is essential if it is to
have a lasting impact on the health of our children.

Sustainable food

Food Durham is the name for the County Durham Food

Partnership that was launched in May 2014 and brought

together organisations, individuals and groups involved or

interested in sustainable food. The strategy has six main

themes; supporting the local economy, environmental

sustainability, health and wellbeing, resilient and active

communities, education and skills and food fairness.

Two areas have been prioritised - research into how to make

the local food supply chain more efficient and increasing

opportunities for people to grow their own food. The former is

a study to explore the efficiency of  the local food supply chain

for business to business trade. Achieving this will provide a

more secure route to market for growers and producers

wanting to sell for local consumption, give confidence of

growth for new food producers and make it easier for local

businesses to source locally produced food.

Growing Durham aims to support more people to grow food in

their local community and it covers a range of  options

including people getting together to plant fruit trees on public

land where anyone can pick them to starting a social

enterprise. 



41

Durham University have
implemented a procurement
strategy to ensure a
sustainable source from
local growers for fruit and
vegetables. The university
catering team worked with
key local providers to identify
a group of local growers of
seasonal produce that were
sourced within 25 miles of
the university. 

One provider has now

become a hub for local

producers identified by the

university to supply bread,

milk, yoghurt and free range

eggs. The university now

sources milk and yoghurt

from locally based

businesses. 

There are many challenges

to eating healthily and

helping to ensure the

sustainability of  local

producers can bring locally

sourced food closer to our

communities. If  people are

to eat healthier food such as

fruit and vegetables then

clearly they need to be able

to access it. This is just one

of  many approaches to help

achieve that.

Case study: 
Durham
University food
procurement 

As part of Durham County
Council’s commitment to
delivering its services 
in a sustainable manner, a
sustainable buying standard
for food contracts, for both
direct food supplies and
catering purposes was
agreed in May 2015. 
The standard provides the

council with an opportunity

to build into its vending

machine re-procurement

exercise, tighter nutritional

standards for both hot and

cold drinks.

Case study: 
Durham County
Council
Sustainable
Buying Standard 

In England, there is considerable
access to cheap, palatable,
energy-dense food that may lack
nutritional value. Evidence from
high-income countries has shown
that the level of fast food
consumption is an independent
predictor of obesity. 

Food from takeaway outlets is often
high in salt, fat and sugar making it
difficult to make a healthy choice.
Around 40% of  the calories in
meals and snacks eaten outside
the home tend to come from fat. 
A health needs assessment
undertaken in County Durham
revealed a greater concentration of
fast food takeaways in our more
deprived neighbourhoods.
Restricting the siting of  new
takeaways proposed within 400
metres of  schools can help to
address this. 

The next step from individual
project success would be to
work with takeaway outlets and
trading standards to improve the
quality of the food offered in
local communities to improve
access to healthier options.

Case study: 
Durham County
Council restriction of
fast food takeaways 

The following are examples of  local partners who are influencing the food environment.



42

Partnerships

The Healthy Weight Alliance, accountable to the County Durham

Health & Wellbeing Board, is County Durham’s main partnership

that is tackling the healthy weight agenda. The overarching

purpose of  the alliance is to develop and improve strategic

partnerships that are committed to reducing the prevalence of

obesity in County Durham.

The alliance developed the Healthy Weight Strategic Framework
for County Durham. The aims and objectives are detailed below: 

Aim 
Develop and promote evidence based multi-agency working and

strengthen local capacity and capability to achieve a sustained

upward trend in healthy weight for children and adults in County

Durham by 2020. 

Objectives 
l To develop a supportive built environment so that it is less

inhibiting of  healthy lifestyles such as walking, cycling and

access to healthy food and nutrition; 

l Provide information and practical support needed for

individuals to make healthier choices; 

l Provide effective programmes and services to help individuals

and families achieve and maintain a healthy weight; and 

l Develop a workforce which is competent, confident and

effective in promoting healthy weight. 

On the back of  new evidence, publication and research, the

Healthy Weight Strategic Framework will be refreshed and

relaunched in 2016. 

If you would to join the Healthy Weight Alliance please contact
publichealth@durham.gov.uk

So what are we doing
in County Durham?

We know that ‘one-off’ interventions may work in isolation for some individuals but are not having the
necessary impact on levels of excess weight. The evidence is clear, we need to work as a system tackling
overweight and obesity on all fronts. This section gives the reader some insight into what we have been
doing. We need however to build on this work and be braver if we are to make a difference. 



43

Diabetes in County Durham

In County Durham we have been piloting some innovative work to identify those most at risk of  type 2

diabetes and work with them to reduce their risk.

Excess weight and having a large waist (94cm or 37 inches for men of  White or Black ethnicity, 90cm

or 35 inches for men of  Asian ethnicity and 80cm or 31.5 inches for women) are risk factors for

developing type 2 diabetes66. 

11.5 million people in the UK are at increased risk of  type 2 diabetes and that number is rising every

year. What is startling is that 80% of type 2 diabetes is preventable. 

Excess weight is a consequence of  unhealthy diets that are high in calories coupled with increasing

sedentary lifestyles. Steps can be taken to make a positive change and reduce the risk of  developing

diabetes. In addition to the modifiable risk factors of  weight and waist size there are a number of  other

factors that may increase the likelihood of  developing the condition, these include being over 40 or over

25, if  of  Black or Asian ethnicity, having a close family member with type 2 diabetes (parent, brother or

sister), being south Asian or Afro-Caribbean, having polycystic ovary syndrome, having previously had

gestational diabetes or having impaired fasting glycaemia or impaired glucose tolerance. Since it is not

possible to change most of  these characteristics people in these groups should pay particular attention

to maintaining a healthy weight66.

If nothing changes, by 2025 five million people in the UK may have diabetes67.

In County Durham 23,743 are known to have diabetes now.

If no action is taken to slow the increase 27,472 will have developed the disease by 2030. 

It is estimated that 3.9 million people in the UK have diabetes, with around
700 people being diagnosed each day.

Source: www.pansi.org.uk data



44

30,000

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0
2014 2015 2020 2025 2030

Pe
op
le

Year

Over 18s predicted to have Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes in
County Durham

National diabetes prevention programme

County Durham is hoping to be part of  the first wave NHS National

Diabetes Prevention Programme. The programme was announced in

the NHS Five Year Forward View, which set out an ambition for

England to be the first country to implement a national evidence-

based diabetes prevention programme, modelled on proven UK and

international models and linked, where appropriate, to the new NHS

Health Check. 

The NHS National Diabetes Prevention Programme aims to deliver at

a large scale, services which identify people with non-diabetic

hyperglycaemia who are therefore at high risk of  developing type 2

diabetes. The programme will offer them a behavioural intervention

to lower their risk of  type 2 diabetes.

The programme has been progressed locally by a partnership

between Durham County Council, Durham Dales, Easington and

Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group and North Durham

Clinical Commissioning Group. 

Source: pansi



45

Check4Life

During 2014, a new approach to the delivery

of  Health Checks in County Durham,

Check4Life was developed. As well as

providing an opportunity to help people

achieve and maintain a healthy weight, be

physically active, eat healthily, stop smoking

and cut down alcohol consumption.

Check4Life also establishes each individual’s

risk of  heart disease and diabetes. 

This information is then used to signpost at

risk people into the relevant programme. 

For further information on Check4Life visit

www.impact.cdd.nhs.uk

Area Action Partnerships (AAP)

Durham County Council’s 14 Area Action

Partnerships cover all areas of  the county.

They deliver local services and give local

people and organisations the opportunity to

influence how services are provided. The

AAPs ensure that the services provided by a

range of  organisations, including the town

and parish councils, health and voluntary and

community sector to meet the needs of  local

communities. Area Action Partnerships

support local communities in tackling their

obesity challenges by helping to secure

funding for local sports clubs or creating and

maintaining places for children to play such

as skate parks and play areas. They also

contribute towards the healthy eating agenda

through supporting allotment programmes,

kitchen facilities in community venues or

working with partners to deliver healthy eating

courses in the community. 

Children’s centres

A network of  children’s centres across the

county provide support on health, education

and social issues to families but is specifically

focused on supporting those families in most

need. Many children’s centres run initiatives

around healthy eating and encourage activity

through play and learn sessions. 

Healthy Child Programme 

The World Health Organisation concluded that

breastfeeding appears to provide some level

of  protection against childhood overweight

and obesity. Together with other targeted

nutritional interventions, breastfeeding can be

an important component of  strategies to

reduce the risk of  overweight and obesity in

children. The healthy child programme

delivered through health visitors includes

universal visits to all families. During these

visits advice and guidance for families about

infant and child nutrition is provided at the

appropriate time.



46

Obesity and oral health

Eating too much sugar is a risk factor both for obesity and 

oral health. The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition

concluded that higher consumption of  sugar is associated

with a greater risk of  dental caries50.

Dental caries impacts significantly on the quality of  life of

young children. Poor oral health can affect an individual’s

ability to eat, speak, smile and socialise normally68, 69. Tooth

decay was the most common reason for hospital admissions

in children aged five to nine years old in 2013-1470.

There is a strong relationship between deprivation and both

obesity and dental caries in children. Data from the National

Child Measurement Programme shows an almost linear

relationship between obesity prevalence in children and the

Index of  Multiple Deprivation 2010 (IMD) decile for the area

where they live. Please refer to pages 16 and 17 of  the report

for more information. 

Because deprivation and high intakes of  sugar are known risk

factors for dental caries and for obesity71,72,73, it is likely that

interventions that reduce these common risk factors have the

potential to impact both conditions.

Interventions that impact the social determinants of  health and

create supportive food environments are recommended as

part of  a common approach to health improvement74. Certain

approaches may actually benefit more than one agenda and

as such it is important that cross cutting initiatives are 

co-ordinated strategically and operationally across County

Durham. Good oral health such as tooth brushing and regular

visits to the dentist are clearly vital but reducing the amount of

sugar in food and drink will also help maintain good oral

health.

Obesity and oral health are
clearly linked and a concerted
effort to reduce sugar intake will
have multiple benefits to the
health of our communities.

Dental caries impacts

significantly on the quality

of life of young children.

An oral health strategy is
currently being developed for
County Durham and it is
expected to also impact on
levels of obesity across
County Durham due to the
focus on sugar reduction.



47

There is broad agreement that tackling obesity
requires a focus on multiple projects, at multiple
levels, in multiple settings and for many groups of
people and programmes. Expecting behaviour
change by solely focusing on the individual is
unlikely to be successful75.

The evidence is clear that a whole systems

approach is the most effective way to tackle

obesity. We need to work across many professional

disciplines and sectors to really make a difference. 

Previous universal approaches to tackling obesity

have often taken place in isolation or been a

collection of  individual interventions that have failed

to mobilise and engage the entire system. Whole

systems approaches release the potential for

creative solutions which already exist within the

system and need to be surfaced.

Our obesity challenge in County Durham needs

people from across this complex system to bring

their knowledge and specific expertise together as

peers in a shared purpose. We need to work

together to tackle obesity, generating healthy

outcomes and doing so in a way that builds our

community capacity that fosters resilience and

sustainability. 

Durham County Council has been identified as one

of  four local authorities across England to work with

Leeds Beckett University for the next three years on

approaches to tackle obesity. The purpose of  the

project is to understand how partners in County

Durham can work together to reduce obesity and to

halt the upward increase. This is a fantastic

opportunity and success will rely on everyone

playing their part.

Whole systems approaches 

A systems approach in County
Durham 

Some exciting work has already started. 

A group that represents the wider

community and wants to tackle obesity has

been brought together in the Four Together

Area Action Partnership (AAP) area.

Through a collective approach, the group is

exploring the potential for creative solutions,

drawing on the knowledge, experience and

information already in the community. The

initial group includes voluntary sector

leaders, public health and physical activity

professionals, elected members, teachers,

primary care staff  and children’s services.

The challenge is to try and tackle the

complex and integrated issue of  obesity in

children as a whole system, working

together with a common goal.

A community of  practice where people

come together to share the work they are

doing and generate ideas about future

solutions is being progressed. The

community of  practice is linking together

currently unconnected people and projects

and opening the possibility of  developing

initiatives that are more integrated and

coordinated.

Everyone in this community is welcome and

all are encouraged to become involved with

what will be a long term programme to

improve the health of  our children in County

Durham. Anyone interested in joining this

group in the Four Together AAP area that

covers Ferryhill, Chilton, West Cornforth and

Bishop Middleham, please contact

publichealth@durham.gov.uk



48

This is the million dollar
question! I really hope this
report has been able to show
the complexity and challenge
we face to tackle obesity in
County Durham and I hope it
will spur us all into greater
action. I know there are
already many initiatives and
activities taking place across
County Durham and being
progressed by a whole range
of partners. Can we do more?
Can we work together as a
system? I hope so. 

You will already have ideas about
actions you can take and the
following recommendations will
hopefully build on these. These are
not the only actions and you may
have some great ideas. Come
along and join the Healthy Weight
Alliance, share your experiences
and learn from others. To find out
more please contact
publichealth@durham.gov.uk 

Remember, this is everyone’s
business! 

Recommendations

Elected members

Elected members have an influential role and could: 

l Support the inclusion of  changes that impact on obesity in

appropriate strategies and plans. These plans may not

always be directly about obesity but may still have an

impact.

l Consider lobbying government over issues such as a

sugar tax, or advertising restrictions on unhealthy foods

and drinks aimed at children.

l Think about championing a healthy diet and a more active

lifestyle in your community. Does the local neighbourhood

make it easy for everyone to be active? Are there plenty of

places for children to play? 

Employers

Initiatives aimed at our workplaces may help to create a
healthy and productive workforce. Employers could:

l Promote physical activity in the workplace especially those

aimed at every day activity e.g., use stairs not lifts. 

l How healthy is your canteen? Is having a healthy choice

enough or should the majority of  the food provision be

healthy? Do you promote healthy options? 

l Is water readily available to drink? Are unhealthy drinks

heavily promoted?

l Do all policies consider the impact upon the health of  your

workforce, customers or your community?

l Review your vending machine procurement. 

So what next?



49

Workplace canteens

l Consider using the Government Buying Standard for Food and

Catering, to improve quality and sustainability. 

l How appropriate are the food portion sizes?

l Could you reduce the sugar content in the food and drinks you

serve?

l How healthy or appropriate are your vending machines? 

Do they provide healthy alternatives?

l Is nutritional information available so that your colleagues can

make informed choices about what they eat or drink?

l Can you promote healthier choices or initiatives such as the

Change4Life sugar smart or snack swap initiatives?

Health professionals 

All health professionals have a role in helping their patients to
improve their health related behaviour. 

l Midwives, GPs, health visitors, school nurses and their teams

should provide information and advice to pregnant women and

parents of  young children about nutrition and physical activity

for the whole family.

l Consider closer working with the public health team to explore

all opportunities to tackle obesity.

l Health professionals should look at every contact with a patient

as a health promoting opportunity and use this opportunity to

provide guidance around healthier lifestyles and specifically

around obesity.

Takeaways, cafes and local shops 

There is no reason why this sector cannot consider healthier
options. 

l Consider healthy catering standards and provide food labelling.

l Could you join with your local community in their efforts to make

the healthy choice easier? 

l Promote healthy options in partnership with local schools or

workplaces.

l Contact the public health team to explore opportunities to

provide greater choice to your customers. 



50

Child care settings

All settings where children spend time
such as schools, child-care settings,
children’s sports facilities and events
should have healthy food environments. 

l Ensure only healthy foods, beverages

and snacks are consumed on the

premises. Use water not juice. 

l Champion being physically active

and explore all opportunities for

active play and learning.

l Use Change4Life and capitalise on

the national approach to tackling

obesity.

l Involve parents and the wider

community in healthy eating projects. 

Social care and carers 

l Provide clear guidance and support

to carers and service users around

healthier nutrition. 

l Ensure that staff  have basic and

current nutrition training. 

l Promote all opportunities to be active.

Planning

Planners have an important role in
creating an environment that makes the
healthy behaviour easier. 

l New developments should create

opportunities for physical activity.

l Ensure there are always opportunities

for active travel such as cycling and

walking routes. 

l Explore how regulations and byelaws

may help to make the healthy choice

the easiest choice?

Procurement

Procurement often influences and
determines the choices people make. 

l All establishments that provide food

should consider healthy and

sustainable food procurement. 

l Consider the impact of  policies that

inadvertently promote unhealthy

choices and make the healthy option

difficult.

Area Action Partnerships,
parents and communities

There are many examples of
communities that are making a real effort
to improve health and wellbeing. 

l Consider what you could champion in

your local area. 

l Could allotments or green places be

used as a community garden to share

skills and produce? 

l Could you support your local school

or community organisation in their

efforts to make their environment

healthier? 

l Join Change4Life, the fun and friendly

way to make the healthy choice.

l Work with local retailers to promote

healthy options.

l Organised community events can

promote healthier choices and

options. 



51

1 Government Office for Science. Foresight Tackling Obesities: Future
Choices - Project report. [internet]. 2007 (cited Oct 2015). Available
from: http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/foresight/docs/obesity/17.pdf

2 NHS Choices. (internet). 2015 (cited 2015 Nov); Available from:
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/obesity/pages/introduction.aspx

3 SACN and Royal College of  Paediatrics and Child Health.
Consideration of  issues around the use of  BMI centile thresholds for
defining underweight, overweight and obesity in children aged 2-18
years in the UK. (2012). (cited 2015 Nov). Available from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/339411/SACN_RCPCH_defining_child_underweight__
overweight_and_obesity_in_the_UK_2012.pdf

4 Health & Social Care Information Centre. National Child Measurement
Programme data source: Health and Social Care Information
Centre.(cited Jan 2016) Available from: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/ncmp

5 Public Health England. Public Health England Outcomes Framework.
2016 (cited Jan 2016); Available from:
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#
page/0/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000015

6 Health & Social Care Information Centre. Health Survey for England –
2014: Trend tables. 2014. (Cited Nov 2015): Available from:
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB16077.

7 Public Health England. County Durham Health Profile 2015. (cited
Nov 2015). Available from:
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=171626

8 World Health Organization. Childhood overweight and obesity. 
2015 (cited Oct 2015). Available at:
http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/childhood/en/

9 Lim SS et al. A comparative risk assessment of  burden of  disease
and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21
regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of
Disease Study 2010. Lancet; 2012.

10 Gatineau M, Dent M. Obesity and Mental Health. Oxford: National
Obesity Observatory. 2011. (cited Nov 2015) Available at:
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_10266_Obesity%20and%
20mental%20health_FINAL_070311_MG.pdf

11 National Audit Office. Tackling Obesity in England. 2001. London: 
The Stationery Office.

12 McCormack, B. and Stone, I. Economic Costs of  Obesity and the
Case for Government Intervention. Short Science Review. Foresight
Tackling Obesities: Future Choices. Obesity Reviews, 2007.
8(s1):161–164 (http://www.foresight.gov.uk).

13 National Institute for Care and Health Excellence, Workplace health.
NICE advice[LGB2] July 2012

14 Harvey S, N. Glozier N, Carlton O. Mykletun A, Henderson M, Hotop
M, Holland-Elliott K. Obesity and sickness absence: results from the
CHAP study. Occupational Medicine. 2010. 60,5:362-368

15 Public Health England. Preliminary analysis of  Health Survey for
England combined data 2011 and 2012. Obesity Knowledge and
Intelligence. 2014.

16 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Preventing obesity
and helping people to manage their weight. NICE advice [LGB9]
2013.

17 Morris, S. Body Mass Index and Occupational Attainment. Journal of
Health Economics, 2006. 25:347-364. 

18 Erikkson, J., Forsen, T., Osmond, C. and Barker, D. 2003. Obesity from
Cradle to Grave. International Journal of  Obesity. 2003. 27:722-727

19 Lang, T. and Rayner, G. Overcoming policy cacophony on obesity: 
an ecological public health framework for policymakers. Obesity
Reviews, 2007. 8: 165-181

20 Pan L, Sherry B, Park S, Blanck HM. The association of  obesity and
school absenteeism attributed to illness or injury among adolescents
in the United States, 2009. Adolescent Health. 2013 Jan;52(1):64-9.

21 Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W, Chinapaw MJ.
Tracking of  childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review
of  the literature. Obesity Reviews. 2008 Sep;9(5):474-88.

22 National Obesity Observatory. Why invest in obesity. 2015 (cited Oct
2015). Available from: https://www.noo.org.uk/slide_sets

23 Local Government Association. Social Care and Obesity. 2013. 
(cited Oct 2015). Available from: http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/
10180/11463/Social+care+and+obesity+-+a+discussion+paper+-
+file+1/3fc07c39-27b4-4534-a81b-93aa6b8426af

24 National Obesity Observatory. Adult Obesity and Socioeconomic
Status. 2010(cited Jan 2016). Available from:
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_7929_Adult%20Socioeco
%20Data%20Briefing%20October%202010.pdf

25 National Obesity Observatory. Child Diet Factsheet. 2012. 
(cited Jan 2016). Available from: http://www.noo.org.uk/securefiles/
160215_1143//Child-dietfactsheetDec2015.pdf

26 Public Health England and The Food Standards Agency. National Diet
and Nutrition Survey Results from Years 1, 2, 3 and 4 (combined) of
the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 - 2011/2012).2014. 
(cited Dec 2015). Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/310995/NDNS_Y1_to_4_UK_report.pdf

27 Public Health England. Adult Physical Activity Data Factsheet. 2015.
(cited Jan 2016). Available at:
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_17580_AdultPAFactsheet.pdf  

28 Public Health England. Child Physical Activity Data Factsheet. 2014.
(cited Jan 2016). Available at: http://www.noo.org.uk/securefiles/
160225_0953//PA_Factsheet_Child_Aug2014_v2.pdf

29 Health and economic burden of  the projected obesity trends in the
USA and the UK, Wang y, McPherson K, Marsh T et al. Lancet 2011;
378: 815-825.

30 Department of  Health. Healthy Lives Healthy People. 2011. 
(cited Nov 2015) Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213720/dh_130487.pdf

31 Bloom. S. Hormonal Regulation of  Appetite. Short Science Review.
Foresight Tackling Obesities: Future Choices. Obesity Reviews, 2007.
8 (s1): 67-72.(cited Oct 2015) Available at: http://www.foresight.gov.uk

32 Prentice, A. Are defects in Energy Expenditure Involved in Causation
of  Obesity? Short science review. Foresight Tackling Obesities: Future
Choices. Obesity Reviews 2007, 8 (s1): 89-91. (cited Oct 2015)
Available at: http://www.foresight.gov.uk

References



52

33 Public Health England and the Local Government Association.
Healthy people, healthy places briefing. Obesity and the environment:
increasing physical activity and active travel.2013. (cited Nov 2015).
Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/256796/Briefing_Obesity_and_active_travel_final.pdf  

34 National Obesity Observatory. Knowledge and attitudes towards
healthy eating and physical activity: what the data tell us. 2011. 
(cited Jan 2016). Available at:
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_11171_Attitudes.pdf

35 European Food Information Council. Stress and food intake.(internet)
2016.(cited 2016). Available from:
http://www.eufic.org/article/en/artid/Stress_and_food_intake/

36 Local Government Association. Making every contact count: Taking
every opportunity to improve health and wellbeing. 2014. (cited Jan
2016). Available from: http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/
10180/5854661/Making+every+contact+count+-+taking+every+
opportunity+to+improve+health+and+wellbeing/c23149f0-e2d9-
4967-b45c-fc69c86b5424

37 Department of  Health.The NHS’s role in the public’s health: A report
from the NHS Future Forum. 2012. https://www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216423/dh_132114.pdf

38 NHS. An Implementation Guide and Toolkit for Making Every Contact
Count: Using every opportunity to achieve health and wellbeing.
2014. (cited Jan 2016). Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2014/06/mecc-guid-booklet.pdf

39 Buck D, Frosini F. Clustering of  unhealthy behaviours over time
Implications for policy and practice. 2012. Cited (Nov 2015). Available
from: http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication
_file/clustering-of-unhealthy-behaviours-over-time-aug-2012.pdf

40 Wilkinson R, Marmot M. Introduction in World Health Organization.
Social Determinants of  Health. The Solid Facts. 2003. (cited Nov
2015). Available at: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/
0005/98438/e81384.pdf

41 Liverpool Public Health Observatory Wellness Services – Evidence
based review and examples of  good practice. 2010. (cited Nov
2015). Available from:
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=105856

42 Pérez-Escamilla, R., Obbagy, J.E., Altman, J.M., Essery, E.V.,
McGrane, M.M., Wong, Y.P., Spahn, J.M., Williams, C.L., Dietary
Energy Density and Body Weight in Adults and Children: a Systematic
Review. Journal of  the Academy of  Nutrition and Dietetics, 2012. 
122 (5), pp. 671-684.

43 Bell, E.A., Rolls, B.J. Energy density of  foods affects energy intake
across multiple levels of  fat content in lean and obese women.
American Journal Clinical Nutrition, 2001. 73, pp. 1010-1018.

44 Drewnowski, A., Specter, S.E. Poverty and obesity: the role of  energy
density and energy costs. American Journal Clinical Nutrition, 2004.
79, pp. 6-16.

45 Monsivais, P., Drewnowski, A. The Rising Cost of  Low-Energy-density
Foods. Journal of  the American Dietetic Association, 2007. 107, (12),
pp. 2071-2076.

46 Drewnowski, A., Darmon, N., The economics of  obesity: dietary
energy density and energy cost. American Journal of  Clinical
Nutrition, 2005. 82(suppl), pp. 265S-273S.

47 Drewnowski, A., 2004. Obesity and the Food Environment Dietary
Energy Density and Diet Costs. American Journal of  Preventative
Medicine, 2004. 27, pp. 154-162.

48 Grimm ER, Steinle NI. Genetics of  Eating Behavior: Established and
Emerging Concepts. Nutrition reviews. 2011;69(1):52-60.

49 Public Health England Sugar reduction The evidence for action. 2015.
(cited Dec 2015). Available from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/470179/Sugar_reduction_The_evidence_for_action.pdf

50 Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition. Carbohydrates and Health
[Internet]. London: The Stationary Office; 2015. Available from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sacn-carbohydrates-and-
health-report

51 Te Morenga L, Mallard S, Mann J. Dietary sugars and body weight:
systematic review and meta-analyses of  randomised controlled trials
and cohort studies. 2013 BMJ 2013; 346: e7492

52 Public Health England: Change4Life sugar swap. 2015 (cited Nov
2015). Available from: 
https://www.nhs.uk/change4life-beta/ campaigns/sugar-smart/home
?gclid=CM_lwrT2-coCFekp0wod-fwDGA&gclsrc=aw.ds

53 Nomisma-Arete Consortium. External scientific report. Gathering
consumption data on specific consumer groups of  energy drinks.
European Food Safety Authority: Parma, Italy. 2013

54 Tibbetts G. In The Telegraph. Teenager collapsed after becoming
addicted to Red Bull. 2008. 

55 Oddy W, O’Sullivan T. Energy drinks for children and adolescents.
BMJ, 340: 64. 2009

56 Smithers R. In The Guardian. Call for ban on selling ‘addictive’ energy
drinks to children. 2015.

57 Nawrot P, et al . Effects of  caffeine on human health. Food Additives
and Contaminants, 20: 1-30. 2003

58 Durham University. The HYPER! (Hearing Young People’s Views on
Energy Drinks: Research) Study. (internet) (cited Dec 2015). Available
from: https://www.dur.ac.uk/public.health/projects/current/hyper/

59 Responsible Retailing of  Energy Drinks. (internet) (cited Nov 2015)
Available from: rredcampaign.org.uk/

60 National Obesity Observatory. Obesity and alcohol: an overview.
2012. (cited Dec 2015). Available at: http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/
doc/vid_14627_Obesity_and_alcohol.pdf  

61 Leiber CS. Alcohol: Its Metabolism and Interaction With Nutrients.’
Annual Review of  Nutrition Vol. 20: 395-430, July 2000. (cited Dec
2015) Available at:
http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/pdf/10.1146/annur ev.nutr.20.1.395

62 Alcohol concern. Alcohol and calories. 2010. (cited Dec 2015).
Available at: http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/
woocommerce_uploads/2015/02/Alcohol-and-calories-final.pdf

63 Public Health England. Healthy people, healthy places briefing
Obesity and the environment: regulating the growth of  fast food
outlets. 2014 (cited Jan 2016) Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/296248/Obesity_and_environment_March2014.pdf



53

64 British Heart Foundation. Portion Distortion Report. 2013. (cited Jan
2016). Available from: https://www.bhf.org.uk/publications/policy-
documents/portion-distortion-report-2013

65 Jones NRV, Conklin AI, Suhrcke M, Monsivais P. The Growing Price
Gap between More and Less Healthy Foods: Analysis of  a Novel
Longitudinal UK Dataset. PLoS ONE 2014. 9(10): 

66 Diabetes UK, 2015. Diabetes: Facts and Stats [online]. (cited Oct
2015). Available from: <https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Documents/
Position%20statements/Facts%20and%20stats%20June%202015.pdf
> [last accessed 22/10/15].

67 PANSI, 2014. Diabetes [online]. (cited Oct 2015) Available from:
<http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=415&PHPSESSID=176k
4n820fg5pf6qf3i1m31ig6&sc=1&loc=8640&np=1> [last accessed
22/10/15].

68 Ramos-Jorge J, Alencar BM, Pordeus IA, Soares MEDC, Marques LS,
Ramos-Jorge ML, et al. Impact of  dental caries on quality of  life
among preschool children: emphasis on the type of  tooth and stages
of  progression. European Journal Oral Science [Internet]. 2015;
123(2):88–95. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/eos.12166 

69 Milsom KM, Tickle M, Blinkhorn A S. Dental pain and dental treatment
of  young children attending the general dental service. British Dental
Journal [Internet]. 2002 Mar 9;192(5):280–4. Available from:
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11924955

70 Public Health England. National Dental Epidemiology Programme for
England : oral health survey of  five-year-old children A report on the
prevalence and severity of  dental decay [Internet]. London; 2013.
(cited Oct 2015). Available from: http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/
Oral Health 5yr old children 2012 final report gateway approved.pdf

71 Moynihan PJ, Kelly SAM. Effect on Caries of  Restricting Sugars
Intake: Systematic Review to Inform WHO Guidelines. Journal Dental
Res [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2014 Jan 22];93(1):8-18. Available
from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24323509

72 Morenga L Te, Mallard S, Mann J. Dietary sugars and body weight:
systematic review and meta-analyses of  randomised controlled trials
and cohort studies. BMJ [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2014 Jan 22];7492
(January):1–25. Available from: http://www.bmj.com/content/346/
bmj.e7492?view=long&pmid=23321486

73 Watt RG, Sheiham A. Integrating the common risk factor approach
into a social determinants framework. Community Dental Oral
Epidemiology [Internet]. 2012 Aug [cited 2014 Jun 14];40(4):289–96.
Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22429083 

74 Public Health England. Local authorities improving oral health :
commissioning better oral health for children and young people An
evidence-informed toolkit for local authorities [Internet]. London;
2013. (cited Oct 2015) Available from:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/321503/CBOHMaindocumentJUNE2014.pdf

75 Pennisula Technology Assessment Group, Garside et al. Preventing
obesity using a ‘whole system’ approach at local and community
level: PDG1 Identifying the key elements and interactions of  a whole
system approach to obesity prevention. 2010. (cited Oct 2015).
Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph42/documents/
evidence-review-1-identifying-the-key-elements-and-interactions-of-a-
whole-system-approach-to-obesity-prevention2



Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

publichealth@durham.gov.uk
03000 267 660

34195



 

 

Cabinet 
 

11 May 2016 
 

Flood Prevention Update and Local Flood 
Risk Management Strategy 
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Oliver Sherratt, Corporate Director Neighbourhood Services 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To provide an update on the work undertaken by the Council working with 

partners and local communities in relation to flood prevention works and 
improved community flood resilience. 
 

2 To seek approval to enter into a public consultation on a Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy (LFRMS). 

 
Background 
 
3 In 2012, County Durham experienced exceptional rainfall which resulted in 

multiple severe flood events countywide. These events flooded over 500 
properties and impacted on many communities. Many key parts of the 
highway network were flooded and became impassable. Roads had to be 
closed which hindered the emergency response and caused widespread 
disruption to the local economy. Please see Appendix 2 to this report that 
provides examples of highway and property flooding in various locations 
across the county. 

 
4 Further flooding events have been experienced every year since this time 

although on a lesser scale than 2012.  Since the beginning of December 2015 
there have been a number of flooding events which have had an impact 
across the County: 

 
� Storm Desmond – 5th/6th December 2015; 
� Storm Eva – 24th December 2015; 
� Storm Frank – 5th January 2016; and 
� Storm Gertrude – 29th January 2016. 

 
5 The Council has received 30 confirmed reports of internal property flooding 

and 151 service requests for flood investigations since 1 December 2015. 
These flooding events caused have caused significant damage to highway 
infrastructure. Please see Appendix 3: Flood Damage December 2015 to 
January 2016. 
 

6 Durham County Council (DCC) is the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for 
County Durham under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 
2010). 



 
7 The key responsibilities of the LLFA are: 

 
� Prepare and maintain a strategy for local flood risk management in their 

areas, coordinating views and activity with other local bodies and 
communities through public consultation and scrutiny, and delivery 
planning; 

� Maintain a register of assets – these are physical features that have a 
significant effect on flooding in their area; 

� Investigate significant local flooding incidents and publish the results of 
such investigations; 

� Issue consents for altering, removing or replacing certain structures or 
features on ordinary watercourses; and  

� Play a lead role in emergency planning and recovery after a flood event. 
 

8 It is predicted that, as a result of climate change, the frequency and severity of 
flooding events will continue to increase over time. Cabinet last received a 
flooding update report in September 2013 and, as considerable work has 
been undertaken since then, it is timely that an update is provided. The report 
is in two parts: the first covers flood prevention works (both capital and 
revenue), the second the work in development of a Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy which the Council is required to produce. 

 

Flood Prevention Update 
 
Durham Strategic Flood Prevention Group 
 
9 As the LLFA, the Council works closely with partners to deliver flood 

prevention schemes in County Durham. 
 

10 The Council hosts and Chairs the Durham Strategic Flood Prevention Group 
that includes the following parties: 

 
� DCC (representatives from Drainage & Coastal Protection Team, 

Planning, Civil Contingencies Unit and Cllr Tracie Smith [DCC Member for 
the  Northumbria Regional Flood & Coastal Committee]); 

� Environment Agency (EA); 
� Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL); 
� County Durham Fire & Rescue Service; and 
� Durham Wildlife Trust. 

 
11 The objectives of the group are to: 

 
� Promote flood prevention schemes and prioritise schemes for funding 
� Monitor the delivery of flood prevention schemes; 
� Ensure that flood prevention is fully considered as part of development 

plans; 
� Liaise on the development of relevant flood prevention strategies and 

plans; 
� Promote collaborative working between the partner organisations; and 
� Provide a forum for sharing information and best practice on flood 

prevention. 
 

 



12 Clearly, there is an important role for the Council in not only leading this group 
but also managing the highway drainage assets in the most effective way. 
The Department for Transport’s (DfT) Highways Maintenance Efficiency 
Programme (HMEP) made 12 recommendations in relation to managing 
highway drainage assets. Appendix 4 to this report sets out the 12 
recommendations and a self-assessment of how the Council meets those 
requirements.   

 
Flood Investigations 
 
13 Since the flooding events of 2012, there have been over 1,300 service 

requests for flood investigations which are summarised as follows: 
 
 

Flooding Source Number of Flood Investigations 

Sewer  87 

Highway 328 

Overland 240 

River/Water Course 201 

Other 536 

Total 1,392 

 
14 The above includes 151 service requests since 1 December 2015. The 

investigations have identified works of varying degrees to remove or mitigate 
the risk of further flooding to both highway and property.  
 

Revenue Works 
 
15 The Council has provided additional funding to the Drainage & Coastal 

Protection Team to undertake inspections and maintenance of highway 
assets. The funding is summarised as follows: 

 
Year Base Budget £’000 Additional Funding 

£’000  
Total Council 

Funding 
£’000s 

2011/12 405 0 405 

2012/13 405 0 405 
2013/14 405 250 655 
2014/15 405 250 655 
2015/16 405 250 655 
2016/17 405 250 655 
 
16 The additional funding has been provided from a combination of Corporate 

Reserves and Neighbourhood Services Cash Limit Reserve. The Drainage & 
Coastal Protection Team has mitigated flood risk at approximately 75% of 
reported flooding incidents to date using this extra funding.  

 
17 The funding to date has been targeted on a reactive basis where we have 

received reports of flooding associated with the following Council drainage 
assets: 
 
� Piped drains; 
� Highway gullies; and 
� Highway ditches. 



 
18 Please see Appendix 5 - Examples of Blocked Drainage Assets. 
 
19 Typically, the investigations identified that a significant number of piped 

drainage systems were almost 100% blocked with silt, tree roots and other 
materials. The additional funding was used to fully investigate the piped 
systems using CCTV technology and complete repairs which brought the 
systems back into 100% operation. 

 
20 The works have also significantly improved the resilience of the principal 

highway network to flooding which helps keep traffic moving and supports the 
local economy. Long-standing flooding issues have been rectified on the 
following principal roads Countywide: 
 
� A691 - Sniperley Park to Lanchester; 
� A167 - Chester le Street; 
� A167 - Whitesmocks; 
� A167 - Sunderland Bridge; 
� A167 - Ferryhill; 
� A177 - Durham; 
� A1086 - Blackhall; 
� A692 - Dipton; 
� A689 - Howden; 
� A688 - New Coundon; 
� A688 - Bowburn; 
� A688 - Bishop Auckland; 
� A689 - Howl John Farm; 
� A689 - Wolsingham; 
� A690 - Willington; and 
� A67 - Gainford. 

 
21 A programme of ditch restoration has been undertaken and approximately 40 

kms of highway ditches Countywide have been improved to reduce flood risk. 
 
22 Overall it is estimated that the works have protected 129 properties from 

flooding. It should be noted that the economic cost of property flooding is 
estimated at £30,000 per event so the benefit assuming a one in ten year 
flood risk is £3.87m over ten years. 

 
23 Going forward the revenue funding is being used to undertake reactive 

inspections and maintenance on the following principal roads: 
 

� A181 - Silent Bank; 
� A68 - Witton le Wear; 
� A689 - Frosterley; and 
� A690 - Crook.  
 

24 Further drainage assets in high risk areas are expected to require similar 
reactive inspections and maintenance as the assets age and/or become 
blocked by silt, tree roots and debris over time so this work is far from 
complete. 

 
25 Once the reactive inspections and maintenance are complete in high risk 

areas there will be a shift to preventative inspections and maintenance in high 
risk areas. This will involve: 



 
� Ditching works; 
� Clearing of culvert inlets and outlets; 
� Maintenance of headwalls; 
� CCTV inspections; and 
� De-silting of assets. 
 

26 A preventative regime will also help prevent properties from being flooded and 
help ensure that the highway network is resilient to flooding and stays open 
for the benefit of the local economy. 
 

Capital Works 
 

27 The Council has provided capital funding to the Drainage & Coastal Protection 
Team to undertake flood prevention and coastal protection schemes and 
funding has also been secured from the EA. Overall it is estimated that this 
has protected 797 properties since 2011/12. The funding is summarised as 
follows: 
 
 

Year Council 
Funding 

£’000s 

EA 
Funding 

£’000s 

Total 
Funding 

£’000s 

Number of 
Schemes 

Number of 
properties 
protected 

2011/12 1,000 60 1,060 41 55 
2012/13 800 295 1,095 40 186 
2013/14 750 - 750 61 265 

2014/15 2,115 1,045 3,160 45 80 
2015/16 2,078 1,639 3,717 34 117 
2016/17 1,050 - 1,050 30 94 
Total 7,793 3,039 10,832 251 797 

 
28 Major schemes that have been delivered to date with EA contribution are 

shown below: 
 

Location Scheme Council 
Funding 

£’000s 

EA 
Funding 

£’000s 

Total 
Funding  

£’000s 

Number of 
properties 
protected 

Waldridge, CLS Flood fence - 100 100 21 
West Pelton, 

CLS Flood fence - 50 50 10 
Lumley Crescent, 

CLS Flood fence - 40 40 3 
Hopgarth Court, 

CLS 
Drainage 

improvements - 20 20 2 
Vivian Crescent, 

CLS 
Highway  
re-profile - 20 20 2 

Oakenshaw 
Major drainage 

scheme - 90 90 13 

Lanchester 
Investigation and 

design - 90 90 0 

Witton Gilbert 
Major drainage 

scheme 235 487 722 50 

Brasside 
Investigation and 

design 20 - 20 5 



Seaham North 
Pier 

Emergency 
investigation 

works - 60 60 0 
Seaham North 
Pier 

Detailed 
Structural Study - 295 295 0 

Seaham North 
Pier 

Design and 
construction 2,078 1,507 3,585 2 

Etherley lane 
Bishope 
Auckland 

Major drainage 
scheme 80 117 197 8 

St Johns 
Chappel 

Major drainage 
scheme 24 163 187 6 

 Total 2457 3,039 5,496 122 
 

29 Please see Appendix 6: Completed Flood Prevention Schemes. 
 
30 A pipeline of future major schemes with EA contribution is being developed for 

inclusion in the EA’s 6 year programme and the latest draft is summarised as 
follows: 
 

Scheme Financial 
Year 

Council 
Funding 

EA 
Funding 

Total 
Funding  

£’000s 

Greta Bridge 2016/17 - 40 40 

Lanchester 2016/17 200 600 800 

New Brancepeth & Ushaw Moor 2016/17 - 48 48 

Shotley Bridge 2019/20 - 86 86 

Dene Crescent 2017/18 - 46 46 

Pelton 2017/18 - 32 32 

Craigland Villas 2018/19 - 46 46 

Dipton 2018/19 - 37 37 

Castlefields Bournmoor 2019/20 6 30 36 

Cherry Bank 2020/21 1 5 5 

Dunelm Walk, Leadgate 2019/20 12 20 32 

Hardwick Rd, Sedgefield 2019/20 55 106 161 

Hillmeads, Nettlesworth 2019/20 10 85 95 

North West Durham 2019/20 - 7 7 

Kingfisher Close, Esh Winning 2020/21 88 67 155 

Total  372 1,255 1,626 

 
31 The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team has also started work on identifying 

schemes for years 2021-2027.  
 

32 Using the Surface Water Flood Maps developed by the EA, we have identified 
approximately 10,000 properties at risk from a 1:100 year event. It is 
estimated that it would cost approximately £96m to mitigate flood risk in all 
locations. However, it is acknowledged by the EA that their flood maps are 
based upon the topography of the land and are not refined to take into 
account existing drainage systems, watercourses and other aspects that may 
potentially remove many of these areas from a 1 in 100 year flood risk. 
 



33 Therefore the Drainage & Coastal Protection Team go through a process to 
refine the EA flood maps with the benefit of local knowledge and to prioritise 
areas of greatest need in terms of mitigation measures to prevent flooding. 
 

34 The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team is now working through the flood 
maps to identify viable schemes that may be submitted to the EA for 
consideration. 

 
Flood Damage – Additional Funding 
 
35 The floods in recent years have resulted in significant extra costs in terms of 

the operational response and repairs to damaged infrastructure. 
 

36 The Government operates the Bellwin scheme to provide emergency financial 
assistance to Councils above a threshold based on the size of the Council. 
Unfortunately due to a combination of the high threshold and the eligibility 
criteria which are very narrow the Council has not qualified for any funding 
from the Bellwin scheme to date. 
 

37 The Council has however recently secured £1.1 million of funding from the 
Department for Transport to fund repairs to the highway following flood 
damage in December 2015 and January 2016. 
 

38 The Council has also provided additional funding from reserves to help fund 
these costs: 
 

Financial Year Revenue Funding  
£’000s 

Capital Funding 
£’000s 

Total Funding 
£’000s 

2012/13 845 975 1,820 
2013/14 442 - 442 
2014/15 215 - 215 
2015/16 890 750 1,640 
2016/17 - - - 
Total 2,392 1,725 4,117 
 
39 The flood damage suffered in December 2015 and January 2016 is shown in 

Appendix 3 – Flood Damage December 2015 to January 2016. 
 
Community Resilience 
 
40 Notwithstanding all of the preventative work undertaken, this does not remove 

the risk of flooding. Therefore, the Council has been working with residents 
and partners to improve community resilience, and allow for the faster 
deployment of local resources, including sandbags as well as care for the 
more vulnerable.  

 
41 The Council’s Civil Contingencies Unit has been developing local plans and 

preparations in relation to severe weather including flooding. The first four 
community resilience plans have now been completed in Lanchester, Dipton, 
Chester le Street Newfield and Town Ends and Chester le Street Town 
Centre. 

 
42 Community resilience events have also been held in March 2016 in five rapid 

response areas which are detailed below: 
 



� Bishop Auckland; 
� Wolsingham; 
� Chester le Street; 
� Murton; and 
� Stanhope. 
 

43 These are multi-agency events with attendance from the Police, Fire & 
Rescue Service, EA, DCC’s Civil Contingencies Unit and Drainage & Coastal 
Protection Team along with contractors/suppliers of property protection 
products. 
  

44 There are 224 uniformed youth (air cadets, police cadets, young firefighters 
and scouts) currently undertaking Duke of Cornwall Community Safety Award. 
They are hoping to be presented with their awards later this year. 
 

45 The government has introduced two schemes to assist residents who have 
suffered internal property flooding from Storm Desmond and Storm Eva and 
these are being administered by the Drainage & Coastal Protection Team.  
The Communities and Business Recovery Scheme is providing £500 to every 
household flooded and £2,500 for flooded businesses. This is intended to help 
with recovery costs, such as temporary accommodation. The Property 
Resilience Grant Scheme is providing up to £5,000 per property to improve 
resilience to future flooding events. This applies to both households and 
businesses. Currently, we are aware of 24 households and 2 businesses that 
qualify for the scheme. 
 

 

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) 
 
46 A key requirement of the FWMA 2010 is for LLFAs to develop and publish a 

LFRMS. The aims of the LFRMS are that all relevant partners work together 
to:  

 
i) Understand flood risk in County Durham; 
ii) Mitigate flood risk in County Durham; and 
iii) Build resilience to flood risk in County Durham. 

 
47 It is a high level document, incorporating the main aims and principles. The 

proposed LFRMS for County Durham is shown in Appendix 7. The FWMA 
2010 requires that there is a public consultation on the LFRMS. 

 
48 It is proposed that public consultation be undertaken which will all partners, 

Area Action Partnerships, Town and Parish Councils and residents. This 
would last for a period of 3 months and include a web-page set up on the 
Council website. 
 

49 It is proposed that the Interim Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services  in 
consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Local 
Partnerships give consideration of the outcome of the consultation and have 
delegated authority to finalise and publish strategy.   



 
 
 
 
Recommendations and Reasons 
 
50 That Cabinet: 
 

i) Notes the considerable work being undertaken by the Council and 
partners in relation to flood prevention and improved community resilience. 
 

ii) Approves public consultation on the Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy, and delegates the Interim Corporate Director, Neighbourhoods in 
consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and 
Local Partnerships to finalise and publish the report after giving 
consideration to all feedback received.  

 
. 
Background Papers 
 
� Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010) 
� Cabinet Report : Flooding Update dated 11 September 2013 
 
Appendices 
 
� Appendix 1: Implications 
� Appendix 2: Examples of Highway Flooding 
� Appendix 3: Flood Damage December 2015 to January 2016 
� Appendix 4: HMEP - Managing Drainage Assets Guidance 
� Appendix 5: Examples of Blocked Drainage Assets 
� Appendix 6: Completed Flood Prevention Schemes 
� Appendix 7: Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  John Reed                          Tel: 03000 267454  

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 
Appendix 1: Implications 
 
 
Finance 
The report details Council funding for: 
 
� Revenue Works; 
� Capital Works; and 
� Flood Damage. 
 
Staffing 
None. 
 
Risk 
The LFRMS provides a strategy for managing risk. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None. 
 
Accommodation 
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None. 
 
Human Rights  
None. 
 
Consultation  
None. 
 
Procurement  
The Council delivers flood prevention schemes through its in-house contractor, 
Highway Services, and its supply chain of competitively procured sub-contractors. 
 
Disability Issues  
None. 
 
Legal Implications 
The Council has a statutory duty under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
to investigate flooding events and recommend mitigation measures.  
 
The Council has a statutory duty under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the 
adopted highway. 
 
The Council has a statutory duty under riparian law to maintain ordinary 
watercourses where it owns the adjacent land.



 

 

Appendix 2: Examples of Highway Flooding 
 
Witton Gilbert (date: 28/12/2012) 

 

Chester le Street (date: 28/06/2012) 

 



 

 

Oakenshaw (date: 28/12/2012) 

 

Waldridge (date: 28/12/2012) 

  



 

 

A67-Gainford (date: 22/10/2013) 

 
 
A68-West Auckland (date: 22/10/2013) 

 
 
 



 

 

A688-St Helens Bypass (date: 28/11/2012) 

 
 
A688-St Helens Bypass (date: 25/11/2012) 

 
 
 



 

 

East Headleyhope (date: 18/05/2013) 

 
 
Front Street, Lanchester (date: 28/06/2012) 

 
 



 

 

Shadforth (date: 18/05/2013) 

 
 
Tanfield Lea Industrial Estate (date: 18/05/2013) 

 
  



 

 

Unc. Road-Witton Lido (date: 28/06/2012) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
Appendix 3:  Flood Damage December 2015 to January 2016 

 
Storm Desmond – 5th and 6th December 2015 
 
Storm Desmond was the Met Office's fourth named storm of the season, and brought 
severe gales and heavy rainfall to southern Scotland, the north of England, Wales 
and Northern Ireland when it hit on 5th and 6th December 2015. 
 
Rainfall in this storm broke all previous UK records with the Met Office saying 
Honister in Cumbria received 341.4 mm (13.4 in) of rain in the 24-hours between 4 
and 5 December.  
 
During the event, operational teams across the service were deployed countywide to 
deal with the consequences of the heavy rainfall dealing with flooded properties, 
highways, buildings and structures. We have received 30 confirmed reports of 
internal property flooding to date mainly in the west of the county.   
 
Below are some photographs illustrating the main damage caused by the storm.  
 
Stanhope Footbridge - Washed away 

 

  
 

Frosterley Road Bridge - Scouring 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
Frosterley Kenneth’s Bridge - Abutment/headwall damage and loss of rock 
armour 

 
Byerley House Bridge - Arch barrel/abutment washout 

 
Ettersgill - Landslip 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 
B6306 Edmonbyers - Landslip  
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

Storm Eva – 24th December 2015 
 
Gales and torrential downpours battered the North East on the lead up to Christmas, 
bringing up to four inches of rain to already-soaked land - and new risks of flooding.  
 
A fresh band of stormy weather hit the area on Christmas Eve and continued through 
to Boxing Day.  
 
The photograph below illustrates the effects of the storm:  
 

 
 
 
Storm Frank – 5th and 6th January 2016 
 
Stormy weather returned to the North East on 5th and 6th January as the region 
caught the tail end of Storm Frank. 
 
Gales of up to 55 mph, coupled with torrential downpours brought as much as 60 
mm of rain, piling more misery on flood-hit regions of the north. 
  
Operational teams across the service were deployed countywide to deal with the 3rd 
storm event within a month.   
 
The heavy rain caused a further landslip in Weardale which closed the C75 from 
Frosterley to Stanhope. This key route is expected to be closed for several months 
as major structural works are required to repair the landslip.   
 
Below are some photographs illustrating the major areas affected by this storm: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

C75 Frosterley to Stanhope Landslip 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
Appendix 4: HMEP - Managing Drainage Assets Guidance 
 

Recommendation Response 
1. Effective use of limited budgets 
 

Capital drainage schemes are progressed 
after being assessed on a priority system. 
This ensures the most important and cost 
effective schemes are done first and time, 
effort and resources are not wasted on lesser 
schemes.  
 
Applications are made to the Environment 
Agency for funding towards schemes either 
from the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management (FCERM) Grant or from the 
Local Levy Grant. All schemes are subject to 
approval by cost benefit analysis. 
 
Also, where applicable the utility companies 
are approached to repair damages caused by 
their operations to drainage assets. NWL are 
approached for financial contributions when 
proposed schemes provide benefit to their 
assets. 
 
Gully cleansing frequencies have been 
reviewed and a computerised route 
optimisation exercise has increased the 
efficiency of the gully cleansing. 
Liaison between the highways teams and the 
specialist Drainage & Coastal Protection 
Team has improved with a high priority being 
given to identifying and resolving repeat flood 
areas. 
 
Introduction of electronic recording of 
scheduled and reactive gully cleansing. 
 
The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
attends the Durham Strategic Flood Group 
and has close working relationships with the 
Environment Agency and Northumbrian 
Water. This is to ensure that a collaborated 
approach to asset management is in place to 
maximise the use of resources, wherever 
possible. 
 
The handling of public reports of drainage 
issues has been improved by the introduction 
of an operational hub. 
 
Funding allocated to highway drainage and 
gully cleansing was temporarily increased to 
deal with a back-log of problems. Although 
funding has now returned to former levels, 
significant improvements have been 



 

 

maintained.  
2. Understanding evolving duties and 
responsibilities 
 

In the lead up to the introduction of the Flood 
and Water Management Act, DCC set about 
establishing a dedicated in-house team (the 
Drainage & Coastal Protection Team) whose 
duty is to investigate all significant flooding 
including that on the highway network. 
 
Where the Drainage & Coastal Protection 
Team find problems that have been caused 
by private individuals advice is given to land 
owners which may include recommendation 
of works and introduction to appropriately 
skilled contractors. Also, liaison, ,consultation 
and advice is sought from the legal section to 
determine the best course of action to pursue 
in serving a legal notice to enforce action. 

3. Selection of highway drainage asset 
survey equipment 
 

The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
regularly evaluates and, if appropriate, 
purchases new technology and improved 
equipment for survey, inspection, 
rehabilitation and cleansing of drainage and 
watercourses.  
 
Similarly, operational improvements have 
been implemented. For example, gulley 
motor tracking for effective operational 
delivery.  

4. Involvement of colleagues in selecting 
technology 
 

The GIS team is involved in developing 
layers and integrating EA and NWL data into 
DCC’s GIS system.  
 
High quality surveying equipment is used for 
drainage surveys i.e. CCTV drain inspection 
equipment with built in locating sound. Man 
entry equipment including winches, 
harnesses, gas detectors and breathing 
apparatus.  
 
External drainage service providers have 
specialist equipment that is deployed in 
drainage investigations and surveys. For 
example, robotic cutting and root removal 
equipment, high pressure 7000psi cleansing 
equipment. Large capacity Jet and 
Vacuumation tankers. Drain lining and 
rehabilitation capability. 

5. Data integration Where CCTV surveys have been carried out, 
these have been recorded and there is a 
store of DVDs. Systems are in place to have 
these stored on a central server for ease of 
access. 
 
Also, all inspection reports are converted to 
pdf and stored on a secure server. 

 



 

 

There is co-ordinated effort between the 
Drainage & Coastal Protection Team and the 
highway maintenance section for the 
Highway Inspectors and gully motor crews to 
pass on information regarding known flooding 
hot spots and flooding locations that require 
more than clearance of blocked road gullies. 
Also, when significant rainfall events happen, 
the Highway Superintendents pass on 
relevant information to the Drainage & 
Coastal Protection Team to inspect. There is 
feed back to the highway section from the 
Drainage & Coastal Protection Team on what 
issues have been found, what works are 
required and what if any amendments to the 
maintenance regime need to be made. 
 
The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
work with highway design teams to ensure 
schemes in known flood areas have built in 
flood resilience to ensure effective operation 
during extreme events (e.g. Sunderland 
Bridge Roundabout flood fence to mitigate 
future flood risk to the highway and local 
properties). 

6. Data use 
 

The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
implements investigations under section 19 of 
the FWMA 2010. As part of the 
investigations, all highway drainage assets 
that are investigated are recorded on to GIS. 
This information typically includes pipe depth 
and size, pipe type, culvert construction, 
discharge points etc. 
 
The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
also record inlet/outlet headwalls, record their 
condition and location and store the 
information on a GIS database. 
Members of the Drainage & Coastal 
Protection Team have received accredited 
training in condition assessment using the 
EA’s Condition Assessment Manual to 
ensure consistency in approach in 
determining the overall condition of a 
drainage asset. 

7. Partnerships 
 

Not only is there partnership working and 
communication between in-house teams but 
there is a good working relationship with 
external flood risk managers such as the 
Environment Agency and Northumbrian 
Water. 
 
Every quarter there is a meeting of the 
Durham Strategic Flood Group. This multi-
agency forum is proving to be an excellent 
means to communicate and collaborate in the 



 

 

management of drainage assets. 
8. Data sharing 
 

There is co-ordinated effort between the 
Drainage & Coastal Protection Team and the 
highway maintenance section for the HI’s and 
gully motor crews to pass on information 
regarding known flooding hot spots and 
flooding locations that require more than 
clearance of blocked road gullies, and when 
significant events happen the highway 
supervisors pass on relevant information to 
the Drainage & Coastal Protection Team to 
inspect. Also there is feed back to the 
highway section from the Drainage & Coastal 
Protection Team on what issues have been 
found, what works are required and what if 
any amendments to the maintenance regime 
need to be made. 

9. Understanding demand and service 
delivery requirements 
 

DCC was subject to major flooding in 2012 
that resulted in closure of a significant 
proportion of the major highway network. 
Meetings were held with emergency services 
to identify what routes were critical and 
investigations were carried out to identify 
what issues on the drainage assets could 
have contributed to the floods other than 
extreme rainfall. These investigations 
highlighted a number of age related problems 
that were addressed, resulting in greater 
flood resilience to the county highway 
network. 
 
Regular co-ordination meetings with senior 
management to report on 
schemes/investigations progress and 
highlight any issues or problems. 
 
The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
provides updates to local members on major 
works / investigations in their wards. 
 
The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
investigate all flooding issues that cause 
closures on A & B roads, in an effort to 
determine cause, responsibilities and what 
measure need to be implemented, and if 
need be what capital works are required. 

10. Use peoples knowledge 
 

As part of the LGR process the Drainage & 
Coastal Protection Team made every effort to 
collect information relating to drainage from 
the previous district and borough councils. 
This information is currently held in paper 
format but is being now scanned into an 
electronic format for ease of storage and 
access. 
 
The dedicated strategic and operational 



 

 

drainage teams comprise professional and 
technical personnel. They have vast 
combined drainage experience and 
knowledge. Especially so with knowledge of 
the county and its drainage assets, which is 
vitally important. 

11. Resourcing 
 

A body of work has been done on developing 
reports seeking financial assistance on 
tackling knowing issues on the highway 
network. An element of funding of £250k has 
been provided for the last 3 financial years. 
 
A Specialist Drainage contract has been set 
up and is into its second term. This provides 
the Drainage & Coastal Protection Team with 
a dedicated drainage framework contractor 
who has been appointed via a competitive 
tendering process. 

12. Solutions 
 

The Drainage & Coastal Protection Team 
have access to LIDAR data that covers the 
majority of the county, provided by the 
Environment Agency. This information is 
used in conjunction with site specific 
topographical surveys to develop digital 
terrains that are imported into hydraulic 
design software to enable a full and 
comprehensive drainage design.  
 
This enables the team to develop the most 
cost effective and efficient solution to resolve 
flooding issues on the highway. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Appendix 5: Examples of Blocked Drainage Assets 
 
A688 Spennymoor 

 
 
Holmlea-Dipton 

 
 



 

 

Harap Road 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

Appendix 6: Completed Flood Prevention Schemes 
 

Seaham North Pier - Deck works and foundation improvements 

Witton Gilbert - Flood defence scheme 
 
  



 

 

Site ‘O’ - SuDS pond Cobblers Hall 

Housing estate - Draining into SuDS pond 
 
  



 

 

 

 
Honest Lawyer - Extent of flooding following Sunderland Bridge roundabout scheme 

 
Honest Lawyer- Flood fence; A167 on one side, River Browney on the other 
 
  



 

 

St Johns Chapel - New headwall arrangement 

St Johns Chapel - New outfall to Harthope Burn 
 
  



 

 

 

Appendix 7: Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 
 
   
 
 



Neighbourhood Services

Technical Services

Local Flood Risk 
Management 

Strategy



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Version 
Date

Version ref Revision 
History

Reviser Approved 
by

Review 
Date

18 March 
2016

v0.1 Draft John Reed
Head of 
Technical 
Services



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Contents                                                                       

1. Introduction .....................................................................................................4

2. Roles and Responsibilities ............................................................................4

2.2 DCC ..................................................................................................................6

2.3 EA .....................................................................................................................6

2.4 NWL..................................................................................................................6

2.5 Riparian Owners .............................................................................................6

3. Other Plans and Legislation ..........................................................................7

4. Flood Risk in County Durham .......................................................................7

4.1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment .................................................................7

4.2 Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment.............................................................8

4.3 Surface Water Management Plans ................................................................8

4.4 Flood Risk Maps .............................................................................................8

4.5 Asset Data and Investigations.......................................................................9

4.6 Climate Change and Adaptation....................................................................9

5. Partnership Working.......................................................................................9

5.3 Northumbria Regional Flood and Coastal Committee ................................9

5.4 Durham Strategic Flood Prevention Group................................................10

5.5 County Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum .........................10

6. Flood Prevention Schemes..........................................................................11

7. Development and Planning Control ............................................................12

8. Action Plan ....................................................................................................12

9. Environmental Considerations....................................................................12

10. Flooding Help & Advice................................................................................13

11. Review............................................................................................................13

12. Feedback .......................................................................................................13

Appendix 1: Action Plan.........................................................................................14

Appendix 2: Medium Term Plan.............................................................................16



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

1. Introduction

1.1 Durham County Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for 
County Durham under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
(FWMA 2010).

1.2 One of the responsibilities of the LLFA is to prepare and maintain a Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) which shows how all the Risk 
Management Authorities and other partners in County Durham work 
together to manage flood risk. 

1.3 The Risk Management Authorities (RMAs) in County Durham are:

 Durham County Council (DCC);
 Environment Agency (EA); and
 Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL).

1.4 The aims of the LFRMS are that all relevant partners work together to:

 Understand flood risk in County Durham;
 Mitigate flood risk in County Durham; and
 Increase resilience to flood risk in County Durham.

2. Roles and Responsibilities

2.1 The roles and responsibilities of each partner involved in flood risk 
management are summarised as follows:

Responsibility

Table A: Local Sources of Flooding

D
C

C

EA

N
W

L

H
ighw

ays 
England

R
iparian 

O
w

ners

Surface Water
Occurs when rainfall (including snow and other 
precipitation) cannot soak into the ground and 
either cannot reach or exceeds the capacity of the 
local drainage network. Typically caused by short, 
intense rainfall events. Can be exacerbated when 
the ground is saturated.



Groundwater
When water levels in the ground rise above the 
surface of the land (i.e. from an underlying aquifer 
or a spring). Usually associated with long periods of 
sustained high rainfall.



Ordinary Watercourse
Small watercourses including all rivers and streams 
not designated as a main river and all ditches, 

 



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Responsibility

Table A: Local Sources of Flooding

D
C

C

EA

N
W

L

H
ighw

ays 
England

R
iparian 

O
w

ners

drains, cuts, culverts, dikes, sluices, sewers (other 
than  public sewers) and passages, through which 
water flows. Flooding occurs when the capacity of 
the watercourse is exceeded, causing water to spill 
out of the channel into surrounding areas

Responsibility

Table B: Other Sources of Flooding

D
C

C

EA

N
W

L

H
ighw

ays 
England

R
iparian 

O
w

ners

Main River (Fluvial)
These tend to be the larger arterial watercourses 
and are often designated as main rivers by the EA 
when considered to pose a significant flood risk.

When a designated ‘main river’ does not have 
enough capacity to contain the water flowing into 
it resulting in water spilling out onto surrounding 
land. Flooding of this nature is often caused by 
periods of heavy rainfall and can result in deep 
and fast moving flood water.

 

Coastal
Tidal inundation caused by high tides, surges in 
sea water and strong winds which raise the sea 
level above the ground level of the coast or any 
infrastructure present e.g. flood defences. 
This can also impede rivers and drains that flow 
into the sea causing inland flooding



Reservoir
An impounded water body greater than 
25,000m3, where those defined as large raised 
reservoirs and as high risk are subject to the full 
requirements of the amended Reservoirs Act. 
Occurs when a dam overtops or fails resulting in a 
large volume of retained water being released 
very quickly into the downstream area

  

Sewer
Caused when the volume of water entering the 
sewer network exceeds its capacity. Sewers may 
carry foul water, rainwater or both (combined).

 



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Responsibility

Table B: Other Sources of Flooding

D
C

C

EA

N
W

L

H
ighw

ays 
England

R
iparian 

O
w

ners

Highway
A combination of sewer and surface water 
flooding located on a main highway.

 

2.1 DCC

2.2.1 DCC is the RMA for ‘local’ sources of flooding which are surface water 
run-off, groundwater and ordinary watercourses.

2.2.2 DCC is the LLFA responsible for the strategic overview of local flooding 
across County Durham and the following flood risk management functions:

 Duty to investigate flood incidents and publish their findings;
 Creation and maintenance of an asset register;
 Statutory consultee on major planning applications;
 Designating features;
 Publishing a LFRMS;
 Enforcement and consenting powers;
 Planning and development control;
 Partnership working; and
 Power to undertake flood risk management works.

2.2 EA

2.3.1 The EA is the RMA for main rivers and the sea. It has a strategic overview 
role for all flood risk management and works closely with LLFAs and local 
communities to manage flood risk in response to local priorities. They 
provide flood warnings for areas at risk from fluvial and coastal flooding 
and are the emergency responder to flood incidents from main rivers and 
coastal flooding. 

2.3 NWL

2.4.1 NWL is the RMA and sewerage undertaker responsible for the public 
sewer system. NWL work closely with developers and landowners to 
reduce the amount of rainfall entering sewers through the use of 
sustainable urban drainage systems.

2.4 Riparian Owners

2.5.1 Landowners who have a watercourse in or adjacent to their land are 
‘riparian owners’ and are responsible for maintenance. The rights and 



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

responsibilities of riparian owners are explained in the EA publication 
‘Living on the Edge’ which can be found at the following link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/riverside-ownership-rights-
and-responsibilities

3. Other Plans and Legislation

3.1 The diagram below shows how the LFRMS inks to other plans and 
legislation:

4. Flood Risk in County Durham

4.1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment

4.1.1 DCC has produced a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) which is 
available on our website at the following link:

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1953/Strategic-Flood-Risk-Assessment

4.1.2 The SFRA gives an overview of areas (including maps) that are at risk of 
flooding from all sources. This is to help inform development and supports 
the County Durham Plan.



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

4.2 Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment

4.2.1 DCC has produced a Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) which is 
available on our website at the following link:

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1951/Managing-the-countys-flood-risk

4.2.2 The PFRA that the Council undertook in September 2011 provided an 
initial assessment of flood risk across County Durham and identified areas 
at risk of flooding from ordinary watercourses, surface water and 
groundwater.

4.2.3 The PFRA is used to identify major flood risk areas that affect over 30,000 
people. There are no major flood risk areas in County Durham.

4.3 Surface Water Management Plans

DCC has produced Surface Water Management Plans (SWMP) which are 
available on our website at the following link:

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1951/Managing-the-countys-flood-risk

SWMPs are plans which outline the preferred surface water management 
strategy in a given location. The SWMPs have identified 139 surface water 
risk areas in County Durham and the 13 with the largest numbers of 
people at risk are shown below:

4.4 Flood Risk Maps

4.4.1 The EA has produced flood risk maps which are available on their website 
at the following link:

http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/37837.aspx

4.4.2 The flood risk maps are intended to help inform the public of flood risk.

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1951/Managing-the-countys-flood-risk
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1951/Managing-the-countys-flood-risk
http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/37837.aspx


Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

4.5 Asset Data and Investigations

4.5.1 The Risk Management Authorities are responsible for managing their 
respective assets and freely share this data and the results of any 
investigations with each other.

4.6 Climate Change and Adaptation

4.6.1 Climate change has the potential to have a significant impact on flood risk 
in several ways and impacts will depend upon local conditions and 
vulnerability.

4.6.2 More frequent and intense rainfall may increase river flooding in both rural 
and heavily urbanised catchments, raise groundwater levels and cause 
more surface water run-off increasing localised flooding and erosion.

4.6.3 Rising sea or river levels may increase the risk of coastal flooding along 
with inland flood risk or areas away from major rivers due to interactions 
with local drains, sewers and ordinary watercourses.

4.6.4 DCC’s Climate Change Strategy and Delivery Plan (2013) considers the 
impact of a changing climate on local flood risk and is available on the 
Council’s website at the following link:

http://www.durham.gov.uk/climatechange

5. Partnership Working

5.1 There are a number of organisations with responsibility for different 
aspects of flood risk management in County Durham. The causes of 
flooding and the response to flooding often involves two or more 
organisations so therefore effective partnership working is vitally important 
to flood risk management.

5.2 The following partnerships are in place to support flood risk management 
in County Durham: 

5.3 Northumbria Regional Flood and Coastal Committee

5.3.1 The Northumbria Regional Flood and Coastal Committee (NRFCC) is a 
committee established by the EA under the FWMA 2010 that brings 
together members appointed by LLFAs and independent members with 
relevant experience for three purposes:

 To ensure there are coherent plans for identifying, communicating and 
managing flood and coastal erosion risks across catchments and 
shorelines;



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

 To encourage efficient, targeted and risk-based investment in flood and 
coastal erosion risk management that represents value for money and 
benefits local communities; and

 To provide a link between the EA, LLFAs, other RMAs, and other 
relevant bodies to build understanding of flood and coastal erosion 
risks in its area.

5.3.2 Each LLFA appoints one Councillor to be their representative on the 
NRFCC. The NRFCC oversees the Local Levy.

5.3.3 Please see the NRFCC website for further details:

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/northumbria-regional-flood-and-
coastal-committee

5.4 Durham Strategic Flood Prevention Group

5.4.1 DCC as the LLFA chairs and hosts the Durham Strategic Flood Prevention 
Group.

5.4.2 The objectives of the Group are to:

 Promote flood prevention schemes and prioritise schemes for funding;
 Monitor the delivery of flood prevention schemes;
 Ensure that flood prevention is fully considered as part of development 

plans;
 Liaise on the development of relevant flood prevention strategies and 

plans;
 Promote collaborative working between the partner organisations; and
 Provide a forum for sharing information and best practice on flood 

prevention.

5.4.3 The member organisations are:

 DCC (representatives from Drainage & Coastal Protection Team, 
Planning, Civil Contingencies Unit and DCC Member of the  
Northumbria Regional Flood & Coastal Committee);

 EA;
 NWL;
 County Durham Fire & Rescue Service; and
 Durham Wildlife Trust.

5.4.4 The Durham Strategic Flood Prevention Group reports to the NRFCC. 

5.5 County Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum

5.5.1 The County Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 
ensures that all relevant agencies and organisations plan and work 
together to ensure a co-ordinated response to emergencies that could 
have a significant impact on communities in County Durham including 
flooding.



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

5.5.2 The LRF undertakes regular exercises to help ensure that organisations 
are fully prepared and that plans are up to date.

5.5.3 Please see the LRF website for further details:

https://www.durham.police.uk/Information-and-advice/Pages/Local-
Resilience-Forum.aspx

6. Flood Prevention Schemes

6.1 The RMAs each have a programme of flood prevention schemes in 
relation to their respective assets. In addition, landowners may be 
requested to undertake flood prevention schemes on their assets.

6.2 The demand for flood prevention schemes far outweighs the available 
budgets so funding is prioritised based on a combination of risk, cost and 
benefits. The benefits of flood prevention schemes often relate to the 
number of properties protected.

6.3 DCC provides periodic updates on flood prevention schemes to its Cabinet 
and the Environmental & Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

6.4 RMAs and landowners are required to fund the maintenance of their 
respective assets. The following grant funding is available to RMAs to fund 
flood prevention schemes:

 Local Levy Grant; and
 Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) Grant.

6.5 The Local Levy Grant is administered by the NRFCC and is raised through 
a levy on Council Tax bills. The Local Levy budget for the NRFCC area in 
financial year 2016/17 is £2.1 million.

6.6 FCERM Grant is funded and administered by the Environment Agency. 
The FCERM Grant for the North East in financial year 2016/17 is £27.1 
million. 

6.7 Schemes may be funded by a combination of Local Levy Grant and 
FCERM Grant and in addition they usually require a funding contribution 
from RMAs. Businesses may also be requested to contribute funding 
where they are beneficiaries of flood prevention schemes.   

6.8 Please see Appendix 2 – Medium Term Plan for details of current 
proposed flood prevention schemes. The Medium Term Plan is updated 
each year as schemes develop and new schemes are identified.



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

7. Development and Planning Control

7.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and provides guidance on 
how these policies should be applied. This includes requirements relating 
to flood risk. DCC as a Planning Authority therefore has a key role to 
ensure that any development does not increase flood risk elsewhere.

7.2 Development may need to be located in areas at risk of flooding. The 
Council will only allow this to occur where it is justified, having been 
through all the relevant tests required by the NPPF and supported by a 
site specific Flood Risk Assessment. Only if the flood risk can be managed 
safely and if it does not increase flood risk elsewhere should the 
development proceed.

7.3 DCC’s Drainage & Coastal Protection team undertake DCC’s duties as the 
LLFA and they are a statutory consultee on planning applications to 
ensure that flood risk is fully considered and mitigated. 

7.4 Any development that is proposed in the floodplain or that would be 
isolated in a flood event will be considered by emergency planners 
regarding the ability to respond in the event of a flood. They need to be 
satisfied that the new development will not compromise the safety of any 
inhabitants of the development, the response they offer to existing 
properties or the safety of the responders.

7.5 DCC works closely with developers to develop Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) for new developments. Please see our website for further 
details:

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7363/Sustainable-drainage-systems

8. Action Plan

8.1 The aims of the LFRMS are that all relevant partners work together to:

 Understand flood risk in County Durham;
 Mitigate flood risk in County Durham; and
 Increase resilience to flood risk in County Durham.

8.2 Please see Appendix 1 – Action Plan for details of how these aims will be 
achieved.

9. Environmental Considerations

9.1 DCC is fully committed to ensuring that environmental issues are fully 
considered as part of flood risk management in County Durham. This 
includes but is not limited to:



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

 Compliance with relevant regulations such as the Habitat Regulations 
and Water Framework Directive;

 Considering green engineering options; and
 Promotion of SuDS.

10. Flooding Help & Advice

10.1 This LFRMS aims to help improve understanding of flood risk so that 
residents and businesses at risk of flooding can improve their resilience. 

10.2 DCC’s Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU) work with local communities to help 
them develop community resilience plans to severe weather including 
flooding.

10.3 Please see our website for emergency contact details, help and safety 
advice:

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1919/Flooding-help-and-advice

11. Review

11.1 This LFRMS will be reviewed and updated as appropriate subject to 
consultation every 3 years. 

11.2 The Medium Term Plan is updated on an annual basis.

12. Feedback

12.1 DCC welcomes feedback on any aspect of this LFRMS. If you would like 
to provide feedback please provide via Customer Services using the 
following contact details:

 Website: www.durham.gov.uk 
 Email:  help@durham.gov.uk
 Telephone number: 03000 261000

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1919/Flooding-help-and-advice
mailto:help@durham.gov.uk


Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

  Appendix 1: Action Plan
Aim Objective Action Responsibility Status
1 .Understand flood risk 
in County Durham

Review, maintain and enhance the 
evidence base relating to flood risk

Ensure that the following 
assessments and plans continue to be 
updated:
- Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
- Preliminary Flood Risk 

Assessment
- Surface Water Management Plans
- Flood Risk Maps

DCC, EA Complete subject to on-
going updates

Encourage the public to report flood 
incidents and undertake flood 
investigations where required

Continue to provide flooding help and 
advice on websites

DCC, EA, NWL Complete subject to on-
going investigations

Facilitate the sharing of flood risk 
knowledge between RMAs

Continue to support the following 
knowledge sharing forums:
- Durham Strategic Flood 

Prevention Group
- NWL Liaison Group
- EA Inland Flood Group
- EA Coastal Group
- North East Coastal Group
- Northumbria Integrated Drainage 

Partnership

DCC, EA, NWL Complete subject to on-
going participation

2. Mitigate flood risk in 
County Durham

Identify and prioritise potential flood 
prevention schemes using the 
evidence base

Continue to develop, review and 
maintain the Medium Term Plan

DCC, EA, NWL Complete subject to on-
going updates

Maximise funding for flood prevention 
schemes

Continue to develop Business Cases 
for funding for new schemes from 
FCERM, Local Levy, Risk 
Management Authority budgets and 
beneficiaries

DCC, EA, NWL On-going for new 
schemes



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Ensure the effective delivery of flood 
prevention schemes

- RMAs have appropriate project 
Management and governance in 
place

- Durham Strategic Flood 
Prevention Group continues to 
monitor delivery

DCC, EA, NWL Effective arrangements 
in place

Ensure there is no increase in flood 
risk as a result of development

- Continue to promote development 
in appropriate locations 

DCC Effective arrangements 
in place

- Continue to ensure development 
proposals are in accordance with 
local policies referring to flood risk

DCC, Developers Effective arrangements 
in place

- Continue to provide advice on all 
major planning applications

DCC Effective arrangements 
in place

3. Improve resilience to 
flood risk in County 
Durham

Raise the awareness of residents, 
businesses and community groups 
about flood risk and how to increase 
resilience

- Continue to provide flooding help 
and advice on websites

- Continue to encourage and assist 
community groups to produce 
severe weather resilience plans

- Continue to engage with schools 
and community groups on severe 
weather and how to build 
resilience

DCC, EA CompleteOngoing

Ensure that the Emergency Services, 
DCC, EA and NWL have plans and 
resources in place to respond to flood 
events

Plans are in place and regular 
exercises are undertaken

LRF Complete subject to on-
going updates



Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

Appendix 2: Medium Term Plan

Flood Prevention Schemes Details Year Council 
Funding

£’000s

EA (Local 
Levy/FCERM 

Grant) 
Funding

£’000s

Total Value 
£’000s

Greta Bridge Flooding of property from Tutta Beck 2016/17 - 40 40

Lanchester
Mitigate flood risk to Lanchester Front 
Street 2016/17 200 600 800

New Brancepeth & Ushaw Moor Flooding from overland flows 2016/17 - 48 48
Shotley Bridge Culvert improvements 2019/20 - 86 86
Dene Crescent, Sacriston Flooding from overland flows 2017/18 - 46 46
Pelton Flooding from overland flows 2017/18 - 32 32
Craigland Villas Flooding from overland flows 2018/19 - 46 46
Dipton Culvert improvements 2018/19 - 37 37
Castlefields Bournmoor Flooding from overland flows 2019/20 6 30 36
Cherry Bank Flooding from highway 2020/21 1 5 5
Dunelm Walk, Leadgate Flooding from overland flows 2019/20 12 20 32
Hardwick Rd, Sedgefield Flooding from overland flows 2019/20 55 106 161
Hillmeads, Nettlesworth Flooding from overland flows 2019/20 10 85 95
North West, Durham Flooding from overland flows 2019/20 - 7 7
Kingfisher Close, Esh Winning Flooding from Hedleyhope Burn 2020/21 88 67 155
Total   372 1,255 1,626

The Medium Term Plan contains proposed schemes that include a funding contribution from Local Levy and/or FCERM Grant.

The Medium Term Plan is updated each year as schemes develop and new schemes are identified.

In addition, each of the RMAs have a programme of ongoing maintenance and improvements to their respective assets.



 
Cabinet  
 
11th May 2016  
 
Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed 
Limits Project - Update and 
Scrutiny Review 
 

 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Joint Report of Oliver Sherratt, Corporate Director of 
Neighbourhood Services and Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant 
Chief Executive  

Councillor Brian Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods 
and Local Partnerships 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To provide Cabinet with an update on the Schools 20 mph Part-time Speed 

Limits Project and the work of the 20 mph Overview and Scrutiny Working 
Group. 

 
Background 
 
2. At its meeting on 17 December 2014, Cabinet agreed the following 

recommendations within the report ‘Review of Current Policy on 20 mph 
Zones and Limits’: 
 
a. The adoption of Option 3 to introduce part-time 20 mph limits on main and 

distributor roads around 33 schools with the highest accident rates, subject 
to local consultation and scheme design with associated education and 
awareness raising work, plus a revised policy statement on 20 mph zones 
and limits, to encompass future evidence-led consideration of limits as well 
as zones on a demand-led basis; 

b. That consultation and engagement plans are developed in relation to 20 
mph speed limit proposals considering local circumstances, views and 
solutions whilst also including dialogue with Local Members, AAPs, 
schools and their governing bodies and community residents associations 
representing the areas covered;  

c. That the final revised policy statement be delegated for agreement by the 
Corporate Director of Neighbourhood Services, Director of Public Health 
and Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economic Development, in 
consultation with relevant Cabinet Members; and 

d. That the work will be taken forward on a prioritised basis and for an annual 
review to be held. 

 



 

  

3. A Project Team led by Technical Services was established to implement 
these recommendations including Public Health and Transport & Contract 
Services. 

 
4. Capital funding for the Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limits Project to the 

value of £952,850 was secured from Public Health Grant and is 
complemented by a revenue budget to help deliver road safety education and 
social marketing.  
 

5. A politically balanced scrutiny working group comprising 10 Members chaired 
by Councillor David Boyes was established following an invitation to 
participate made to all Scrutiny Members. The remit of the working group was 
to provide oversight of the above Cabinet recommendations and comment on 
the development of a revised policy statement on 20 mph zones and limits. 

 
Implementation of Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limits Project  

 
6. The Cabinet report approved the implementation of part-time 20 mph speed 

limits on main/distributor roads in the vicinity of 33 schools in 3 phases over a 
period of 3 years (2015/16 to 2017/18). The 33 schools were prioritised based 
on those with the highest child accident rates. 

 
7. The objective of the project is to reduce traffic speeds around the vicinity of 

schools, during school drop off and pick up times which will improve road 
safety for vulnerable road users as well as making walking, and cycling to 
school more attractive. 
 

8. Phase 1 of the project involving 13 schools in the Chester le Street and 
Bishop Auckland area has been delivered ahead of schedule and under 
budget. Please see Appendix 2 - Project Plan for further details of progress 
by each school. 

 
9. As part of the development of each scheme, schools, Local Members, AAPs, 

local residents and community associations are consulted. The support for 
these schemes is very high and the consultation responses help ensure that 
the signs are installed at the optimum locations to maximise their 
effectiveness.  

 
10. The implementation of the signs are supported by a programme of:  
 

a. Ongoing road safety education for children including child pedestrian 
training, cycling training, assembly presentations, community newsletters, 
Junior Road Safety Officer schemes and the provision of information to 
parents; 

b. Healthy promotion initiatives to encourage cycling and walking amongst 
school children and the wider population; and 

c. Speed awareness amongst drivers and the wider population. 
 

11. This recognises that the installation of signs alone is unlikely to change the 
behaviours of road users.  



 

  

 
12. The following branding has been developed to support the marketing of the 

project: 
 

 

 

13. The schemes to date have been accompanied by media releases which have 
generated a lot of positive publicity which has helped reinforce the key 
marketing messages of the Project. 

 
14. Leaflets have been issued included maps showing the 20 mph part-time 

speed limit areas to help raise awareness; please see Appendices 5 and 6.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Working Group Report 

 
15. Throughout its implementation, the Project Team has actively engaged with 

the 20 mph Overview and Scrutiny Working Group to provide progress reports 
on delivery of Phase 1 schemes, consultation, engagement and education 
programmes and invited comment on the updated 20 mph policy and revised 
prioritisation methodology. 

 
16. Appendix 3 contains a report by Councillor Boyes on the Working Group’s 

activity to date in relation to providing oversight of these recommendations 
and commenting on the development of the updated 20 mph policy. The 
working group’s report is focussed on its involvement with regard to value for 
money, project management, consultation, engagement and education and 
policy development.  
 

17. The Working Group considered and helped inform the updated policy 
regarding 20mph Zones, as well as prioritisation criteria, (subject to 
resources) for schemes eligible under policy. These are set out in the 
remainder of this report. 

 
Updated 20 mph Policy  

 
18. This applies to any area, and is not restricted to being in the proximity of 

schools. The Cabinet of 14th December 2014 approved the following 
principles: 
 
Paragraph 31 
“Update the current policy in line with the new Department for Transport 
guidelines. This would require that 20 mph zones and limits continue to be 
carefully considered based upon evidence of inappropriate speed.” 



 

  

 
Paragraph 52a 
“A revised policy statement on 20 mph zones and limits to encompass future 
evidence-led consideration of limits as well as zones on a demand-led basis.” 

 
19. The updated criteria for supporting the introduction of new 20 mph speed 

limits and zones subject to available funding, informed and endorsed through 
the 20 mph Overview & Scrutiny Working Group are: 
 
a. Where meet Department for Transport legislation and guidance; 
b. 20 mph self-enforcing zones should be considered on residential/side 

roads where  measured average speed is greater than 24 mph; 
c. 20 mph speed limits should be considered on residential/side roads where 

the measured average speed is lower than 24 mph; and 
d. The use of 20 mph part-time speed limits on main/distributor roads outside 

of schools should be considered where measured average speed at 
school start and end times is greater than 24 mph. 

 
20. The full policy is available on the Council’s website at the following link: 

 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/slowto20 
 

21. The use of 20 mph limits should be introduced alongside a co-ordinated 
programme of wider social marketing and road safety education to slow traffic 
speeds, change driver behaviour and promote walking, cycling and active 
lifestyles.  
 

22. The Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limit Project is providing Council 
funding on a priority basis on main/distributor roads outside existing schools 
countywide. Any further schemes (beyond the budgets specified in this report) 
to introduce 20 mph speed limits/zones on existing roads must be funded 
from other sources such as Area Action Partnerships, Member 
Neighbourhood Budgets, Town Councils, Parish Councils and Schools.  

 
23. The local consultation and funding arrangements will ensure that schemes are 

both evidence and demand-led and have strong support from Local Members, 
Area Action Partnerships, Durham Constabulary, Schools, Town Councils, 
Parish Councils, Road User Groups and the public. 

 
Revised Prioritisation Criteria 
 
24. Clearly with limited resources, there is a need to prioritise schemes. Following 

consultation with the Overview and Scrutiny Working Group it is proposed to 
apply the following criteria which is based on three risk factors: 

 
a. Collision history; 
b. Measured PV2 (being a measure of pedestrian risk); and 
c. Measured speeds. 

 



 

  

25. Full details of the prioritisation criteria are attached in Appendix 4. The 
Project Team are currently collecting the data for the revised prioritisation 
criteria which involves site surveys and the results are expected to be 
available by the end of this calendar year. All remaining schools and colleges 
in County Durham will be evaluated using the revised prioritisation criteria. 
 

Scheme Expansion and Monitoring 
 
26. The original capital funding was based on high level budget estimates for 

large electronic signs used widely by some other Councils. However, the 
Department for Transport (DfT) would not give special authorisation for these 
signs. Therefore, alternative smaller signs are being used at a lower cost. 
Please see pictures below of the original and revised signs: 

 
                                   Original                                             Revised  

                                               

27. It is proposed that the budget saving be used to expand the scope of the 
project to an estimated additional 33 schools Countywide, a doubling of the 
existing programme. The implementation of the initial 33 schools has been 
accelerated to be completed over 2 years (2015/16 and 2016/17). The 
estimated additional 33 schools would be implemented in 2017/18 and 
2018/19. 
 

28. Subject to approval of the prioritisation criteria set out in this report, it is 
proposed to apply this to identify the schools for potential expansion of this 
scheme.  
 

29. It is proposed that further updates are provided to Cabinet and the Safer and 
Stronger Overview and Scrutiny Committee until the Schools 20 mph Part-
Time Speed Limits Project is successfully concluded. This will include the 
outcome of an evaluation by Durham University of the impact of those 
schemes implemented in phase 1. 

 
 
 



 

  

 
Recommendations and Reasons 
 
30. It is recommended that: 
 

a. Note the progress in implementing the scheme and the updated 20mph 
policy.  

b. Agree that the budget saving be used to expand the scope of the project to 
an estimated further 33 schools with sites determined in accordance with 
prioritisation criteria set out in the report. 

c. Note the contribution and outcomes of the 20 mph Limits Overview and 
Scrutiny Working Group which will continue its work by receiving progress 
reports on: 
(i) Outcomes of the evaluation of phase 1 schemes by Durham 

University;  
(ii) Implementation of  the 20 schemes within Phase 2; 
(iii) Engagement of local Members within development of Phase 3 and 4 

Schemes within their wards; and 
(iv) Findings from surveys for identification of additional schools within 

available funding. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: John Reed, Head of Technical Services                  Tel: 03000 267454 
               Jenny Haworth, Head of Planning & Performance  Tel: 03000 268071 



 

  

  
Finance 
The Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limit Project is providing Council funding on a 
priority basis on main/distributor roads outside existing schools Countywide. 
 
Further schemes to introduce 20 mph speed limits/zones on existing roads will need 
to be funded from other sources such as Area Action Partnerships, Member 
Neighbourhood Budgets, Town Councils, Parish Councils and Schools. 
  
Staffing  
Schemes are delivered by existing staff supported by our supply chain of 
competitively procured contractors. 
 
Risk  
There may be objections to schemes which will be considered through the 
consultation process. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
None. 
 
Accommodation  
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder  
None. 
 
Human Rights  
None. 
 
Consultation 
All changes to speed limits need to be consulted upon and any objections to the 
introduction of mandatory speed limits that cannot be resolved informally will be 
considered by Highways Committee. 
 
Procurement  
Schemes are delivered by existing staff supported by our supply chain of 
competitively procured contractors. 
 
Disability Issues  
None. 
 
Legal Implications  
The Council has the power as the local Highway Authority to introduce 20 mph 
speed limits and zones under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as amended) by 
making Traffic Regulation Orders and where appropriate the Highways Act 1980 (as 
amended). 
 
 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 



 

  

Appendix 2: Project Plan 
 
Phase Financial 

Year 
Schools Area  Status 

1 2015/16 Bishop Barrington 
School  

Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
15/1/16 

  Etherley Lane Nursery  Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
5/10/15 

  Etherley Lane Primary  Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
5/10/15 

  Evergreen  Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
15/1/16 

  King James 1 Academy Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
30/11/15 

  St Anne's CE (Cont) 
Primary  

Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
15/1/16 

  Woodhouse 
Community Primary  

Bishop 
Auckland 

Completed-
15/1/16 

  Bullion Lane Primary Chester-le-
Street 

Works in 
progress;  
expected 
completion 
date-29/4/16 

  Cestria Primary Chester-le-
Street 

Completed-
7/12/15 

  Newker Primary Chester-le-
Street 

Works in 
progress; 
expected 
completion 
date-29/4/16 

  Park View Community 
School (Church Chare)  

Chester-le-
Street 

Completed-
7/12/15 

  St Cuthbert's RC VA 
Primary  

Chester-le-
Street 

Completed-
28/9/15 

  The Hermitage School  Chester-le-
Street 

Works in 
progress; 
expected 
completion 
date-29/4/16 

2 2016/17 Consett Infant School & 
Nursery Unit  

Consett Estimated start 
date-6/6/16 

  Shotley Bridge Infant Consett Estimated start 
date-11/7/16 

  Shotley Bridge Junior  Consett Estimated start 
date-11/7/16 

  St Patrick's RCVA 
Primary  

Consett Estimated start 
date-6/6/16 

  New Seaham Primary Seaham Estimated start 
date-11/4/16 



 

  

Seaview Primary  Seaham Expected 
completion 
date-15/4/16 

  Seaham School of 
Technology  

Seaham Estimated start 
date-11/4/16 

  Seaham Trinity Primary  Seaham Estimated start 
date-23/5/16 

  Westlea Primary  Seaham Estimated start 
date-11/4/16 

  Greenland Community 
Primary  

Stanley Estimated start 
date-16/5/16 

  North Durham 
Academy  

Stanley Estimated start 
date-25/4/16 

 St Joseph's RC VA 
Primary 

Durham Estimated start 
date-7/11/16 

  Cotsford Junior  Horden Estimated start 
date-8/8/16 

  St Mary's RC VA 
Primary  

Newton Aycliffe Estimated start 
date-3/10/16 

  Sugar Hill Primary  Newton Aycliffe Estimated start 
date-24/10/16 

  Acre Rigg Infant  Peterlee Estimated start 
date-17/10/16 

  Dene Community 
School of Technology  

Peterlee Estimated start 
date-26/9/16 

  Dene House Primary  Peterlee Estimated start 
date-26/9/16 

  King Street Primary  Spennymoor Estimated start 
date-14/11/16 

  Rosa Street Primary  Spennymoor Estimated start 
date-28/11/16 

3 2017/18 Estimated 17 schools  Countywide Data collection 
in progress 

4 2018/19 Estimated 16 schools Countywide Data collection 
in progress 

 



Appendix 3: 20 mph Overview & Scrutiny Working Group 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Working 

Group Report 
 

20 MPH Limits   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

April 2016 



 

  

 

Contents Page  
 
Section  
 

Page 

Chair’s Forward 3 
Background  4 
Governance  5 
Value for Money 6 

Project Management  8 
Consultation, Engagement & Education 10 
Policy Development  12 
Conclusions 13 
Recommendations  13 

 



 

  

 

Chair’s Foreword 

Road Safety is an area of great interest to 
Overview and Scrutiny Members and 
following a recommendation within a report by 
the Council’s Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, I was delighted when Cabinet 
agreed to undertake a project to implement 
part time 20 mph schemes at 33 schools 
within County Durham and to develop a 
revised 20 mph policy statement.  
 
Furthermore an invitation by Cabinet for 
Overview and Scrutiny to provide oversight of 
their recommendations was greatly welcomed by Overview and Scrutiny 
Members.  
 
Within this context a Working Group was established and has proactively 
engaged with Officers through consideration of presentations, policy and 
methodology statements, road safety education, consultation and engagement 
and undertaking field study activity.  
 
From the outset, Members were focused on making a difference through 
ensuring value for money and contributing to enhancing the Council’s policy on 
20 mph limits and zones. The report’s conclusions highlight the significant 
contribution of the working group with regard to positive action that includes 
more schools within the schools part time limit project and influence within the 
new 20 mph policy. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Cabinet Members for their initial 
invitation, Members of the Committee, Members within areas of Year 1 
schemes and Officers from the Council’s Highways & Technical Services, 
Public Health, Sustainable Travel and Road Safety Teams for their extensive 
work in supporting an implementing the Phase 1 20mph schemes and for their 
valuable time in giving evidence and supporting the work of the review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Dr David Boyes 
Chairman 
20 MPH Limits Working Group 
 



 

  

• SSC OSC review recommended consideration of 20 mph 
limits/zones.  

• Multi-agency Advisory Group led by Director of Public Health to 

examine national, local and policy dimension. 

• Cabinet proposal to implement a £1m investment in part-time limits 
at 33 schools with the highest accident rates within the county 

• Project board established, led by the Director of Neighbourhood 

Services with a number sub groups to implement these 

recommendations 

• Request  from Cabinet for scrutiny to establish a working group to 

oversee implementation of the recommendations 

 

Background  

 
1. In 2012/13, the Council’s Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee undertook review activity on Road Safety for 

Children & Young People. Following its conclusion, the Chairman of the 

Committee presented the report to Cabinet in February 2013 that 

included the following recommendation.…” The Road Casualty 

Reduction Forum to take account of findings from the Government’s 

consultation on revised guidelines  on the setting of speed limits together 

with findings from the evaluation on 20 mph limits (zones), with a view to 

putting forward a proposal to Cabinet on the benefits or otherwise for 

such an investment” . The Committee’s report was also presented to the 

County Durham Children’s Trust Executive and Community Safety 

Partnership Boards. 

 
2. Following presentation of the report, a multi-agency Advisory Group led 

by the Director of Public Health undertook extensive research that led to 

the development of the report titled ‘Review of Current Policy on 20 mph 

Zones and Limits’ was presented to the Council’s Cabinet in December 

2014. The report contained the following four recommendations: 

 
a) That part-time 20mph limits on main and distributor roads around 

33 schools with the highest accident rates,  subject to local 
consultation and scheme design with associated education and 
awareness raising work, plus a revised policy statement on 20mph 
zones and limits, to encompass future evidence-led consideration 
of limits as well as zones on a demand-led basis. 

 
b. That consultation and engagement plans are developed in relation 

to 20mph speed limit proposals considering local circumstances, 
views and solutions whilst also including dialogue with local 
members, AAP’s, schools and their governing bodies and 
community residents associations representing the areas covered. 



 

  

 
c.  That the final revised policy statement be delegated for agreement 

by the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economic 
Development, Corporate Director of Neighbourhood Services and 
Director of Public Health, in consultation with relevant Cabinet 
members. 

 
d.  That the work will be taken forward on a prioritised basis and for 

an annual review to be held. 
 
3. The Cabinet report resulted in the establishment of a project board, led 

by the Director of Neighbourhood Services to implement these 

recommendations. Funding in the region of £1m was provided by Public 

Health and it was anticipated that implementation of all 33 schemes 

would take 3 years, with 11 schemes to be delivered during the first year. 

In addition, further involvement by Scrutiny was invited by Cabinet to 

provide oversight on implementation of the Cabinet recommendations.   

 
Governance  
 
4. A 20 mph limits overview and scrutiny working group was established to 

undertake this work. The purpose of the group was to provide non-

executive elected member challenge and oversight to ensure effective 

delivery of the Cabinet recommendations and development of a revised 

policy statement. This approach provided an opportunity of oversight of 

the effective delivery of the Cabinet scheme by non-executive Members.  

 
5. The working group’s membership was politically balanced and consisted 

of seven Labour, one Liberal Democrat, one Durham Independent Group 

and one Co-opted Member, with the following Members:  

 
6. Councillors J Armstrong, D Boyes, K Henig, J Hillary, J Turnbull, J Clark, 

M Hodgson, M Wilkes, A Shield and Co-opted Member, Chief Fire Officer 

S Errington. 

 
7. In scoping the review, the Chair wanted to ensure the views of local 

Members were considered and consulted upon in developing these 

schemes. To meet this objective, local ward Members were invited to a 

meeting where scheme designs of Phase 1 projects within their division 

were discussed.  

 
8. The working group’s scope and project plan focused on two key 

objectives, to scrutinise the approach to implementation of the Cabinet 

recommendations and provide comment on a revised policy statement 

for 20 mph zones and limits. Within these aims and in development of 

the scoping document, Members highlighted the importance of providing 

value for money in delivering this project and a desire to increase the 

number of schools within the programme within the funding available.  



 

  

 
9. The Working Group agreed its scoping document and based on the 

original project plan to implement phase 1 schemes held focused 

meetings and undertook field study activity between April 2015 and April 

2016. The Working group acknowledge the support from County Durham 

& Darlington Fire Service for providing use of their facilities for working 

group meetings.  

 
10. To date, the Working Group has undertaken the following activity:   

 
Date Activity/Venue 

13/04/2015 

 

Working Group Meeting - Overview Session,–County Hall 

22/04/2015 

 

Working Group Meeting - Phase 1 –20mph School Road Safety Schemes - 

Durham Fire Station 

30/04/2015 

 

Working Group Meeting - 20mph Consultation & Engagement Plan -

Durham Fire Station 

01/07/2015 

 

Working Group Meeting - Draft Revised Prioritisation Methodology & 

Progress of Implementation of Phase 1, 20mph Part Time Schemes - 

Durham Fire Station 

05/10/2015 

 

Chair of Working Group attended Launch of 20 mph part-time scheme at St 

Cuthbert’s School, Chester – le – Street 

19/10/2015 

 

Working Group Meeting - Draft Policy on the Introduction of New 20 mph 

Speed Limits and Zones and Progress of Implementation 20 mph Part Time 

Schemes Consultation, Engagement and Education programmes - Durham 

Fire Station 

24/11/2015 

 

Field Study Visit to Etherley Lane Primary School, Bishop Auckland  

25/01/2016 Working Group Meeting - Draft Policy on the introduction of new 20mph 

Speed Limits and Zones and Service Response to Working Group. Progress 

of Implementation of 20 mph Part Time Schemes Consultation, 

Engagement and Education programmes - Durham Fire Station 

26/01/2016 20 mph project Drama Development Day, County Hall, Durham    

19/04/2016 Working Group Meeting – Consideration of Working Group Report to 

Cabinet – Durham Fire Station  

 



 

  

• Revised scheme in terms of signage used  

• Identification of headroom in capital budget 

• Revised methodology for prioritisation for extension of the project 

beyond initial the 33 schools 

 
 

11. The 20 mph overview and scrutiny working group has worked with 

officers of the Council’s Highways & Technical Services, Public Health, 

Sustainable Travel and Road Safety Teams to deliver the following 

headings: 

 
Value for Money  
Project Management  
Consultation, Engagement & Education 
Policy Development  

 
Value for Money  
 
Key Outcomes Delivered  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. The criteria for identification of schools within this project were based on 

main roads around the 33 schools in the county with more than double 

the average accident rate within a 600m radius of the school for pupils 

aged up to 16.  The original cost of implementing part time limits at the 

33 schools was based on a high level estimate.  

 
13. At its initial meeting, Members were 

advised that the Council had been 

directed by the Department for 

Transport to use specific signs 

which consequently had a lower 

associated cost. Following direction 

from the Department for Transport 

and considering the desire from 

members for value for money, the 

Council opted for a compliant traffic 

sign with a flashing amber unit that 

enabled a significant reduction in 

cost in comparison to the original 

proposal. This change enabled the potential for greater coverage of more 

schools from across the County.   

Members with adopted traffic sign 



 

  

• Engagement of non-executive members within implementation of 

phase 1 of the 20 mph project has contributed to an original 3 

year  project of 33 schools to be now delivered within 2 years. 

• Evaluation of Phase 1 Schemes to be undertaken by Durham 

University in 2016.  

 
14. With potential funding available for additional schools within the project, 

the Working Group requested from the 20 mph Project Board a revised 

prioritisation methodology to include more factors. This included, 

broadening the age range to 0-19, including Further Education Colleges 

and taking into account all accidents (both adults and children) within a 

radius from the school entrance rather than the school postcode centroid. 

Whilst this was requested, this methodology does not change the original 

33 named schools approved by Cabinet in December 2014. 

 
15. A revised methodology from the Project Board was considered by the 

Working Group and focused on accidents, traffic flows and their 

measured speeds plus risk associated with pedestrian crossing activity 

that provided support for evidence-based decisions to introduce local 

speeds that reflect the needs of all road users.  

 
16. The working group within its response acknowledged that suggestions by 

Members had been included and provided support for the revised 

prioritisation methodology. A significant amount of work that is to be 

undertaken to identify schools that could be considered in addition to the 

33 schools and available funding identified within the Cabinet report. It is 

anticipated that this will be completed by the end of 2016.  

 
17. The original scheme to deliver 33 schools was at an estimated cost of 

just under £1 million and with taking a different approach through a 

change in signage approved by the Department for Transport, it is 

estimated that this will cost approximately £500,000.  

 
 
 
 
Project Management 
 
Key Outcomes Delivered  
 

 
 

18. The Project Board approved a scheme which identified the approach that 

the 33 schools within the Cabinet report were organised into 11 areas to 

be implemented in 3 phases over a three year period. Phase 1 of the 



 

  

scheme included the following 13 schools within the Chester-le Street 

and Bishop Auckland areas to be undertaken in 2015/16.   

 
Bishop Auckland 
Bishop Barrington School 
Etherley Lane Primary & Nursery School  
Evergreen Primary School  
St Anne’s CE Primary School 
King James I Academy 
Woodhouse Community Primary School  

 
Chester le Street 
Bullion Lane Primary School 
Cestria Primary School  
Newker Primary School  
Park View Community School  
St Cuthberts RC Primary School  
The Hermitage Academy 

 

19. Throughout the first phase of the project, Members have received 

periodic update reports on implementation of each scheme in terms of 

engineering, consultation and engagement. Further details of activity in 

relation to engagement and consultation are illustrated in the following 

sections of this report. With regard to engineering, a progress report on 

implementing each area was presented at the July , October 2015 and 

January 2016 meetings by The Head of Technical Services and Traffic 

Asset Manager.  

 
20. The Phase 1Project has been delivered ahead of schedule and included 

two additional sites of Bishop Auckland College and St John’s RC 

Comprehensive School in Bishop Auckland, as these are located in close 

proximity on the same stretch of road Bishop Barrington School.  

 
21. Delivery of these Phase 1 projects was a new initiative for the Council 

with unknown challenges that could be faced during implementation of 

year 1 schemes.  

 
22. These are new schemes that have been delivered differently at each 

location through input from local Members and one project in Chester-le 

Street has included a permanent 20 mph zone with funding from local 

Members.  

 
23. Through positive delivery of phase 1 schemes and with funding available 

for additional sites, the original plan was changed to deliver both years 2 

and 3 projects within 2016/17at the following Schools; 

 
 

 



 

  

Consett Infant School and Nursery Unit St Joseph's RCVA Primary, Durham 

Shotley Bridge Infant and Junior Schools Cotsford Junior School, Horden 

St Patrick's RCVA Primary, Consett  St Mary's RCVA Primary, Newton Aycliffe  

New Seaham Academy Sugar Hill Primary, Newton Aycliffe 

Seaview Primary Acre Rigg Infants, Peterlee 

Seaham School of Technology Dene Community School of Technology, 

Peterlee 

Seaham Trinity Primary Dene House Primary, Peterlee 

Westlea Primary, Seaham King Street Primary, Spennymoor 

Greenland Community Primary, Stanley  Rosa Street Primary, Spennymoor  

North Durham Academy, Stanley   

 

24. In addition to these schools, survey work is to be undertaken of all 

schools within the county in line with available funding and the revised 

prioritisation methodology in 2016/17 and commence projects for those 

additional schools identified in 2017/18.  

 
25. The working group want to ensure that all projects are making a 

difference and an evaluation of year 1 schemes is to be commenced in 

2016 by Durham University and focuses on the following areas:  

 

• Pre/post speed data  

• Pre/post traffic flow data  

• Feeling safer travelling to and from school 

• Active travel changes to and from school (walking & cycling)  

• Accident data – after 2-3 years given small numbers  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  

• Consistent approach to consultation and engagement programme 
has contributed to developing links with wider agencies and 
raising awareness through attracting positive media coverage.  

• Members have attended launch of schemes, road safety 
partnership events, a school assembly and field study visit during 
road safety week and pupils undertaking a drama development 
day  

• Actively engaging  local elected members  within phase 1 

schemes was extremely positive and provided a valuable 

contribution to the development of schemes  

Consultation, Engagement & Education  
 

Key Outcomes Delivered   

26. Recommendations 1 and 2 within the Cabinet report from December 

2014, requested that consultation, engagement and education is 

undertaken and is a key element of working group’s terms of reference. 

To meet this element, the working group received presentations on these 

areas at its meetings on 30 April and 19 October 2015 and 25 January 

2016. In addition, the views of local Members within phase 1 schemes 

were considered at the 22 April 2015 meeting. This also included initial 

awareness and subsequent feedback from informal and statutory 

consultation exercises. Informal consultation is with local Members, 

AAPs and Communities and also included the approach to statutory 

consultation when considering implementation or obtaining traffic 

regulation orders. 

 
27. In respect of 20mph limits, nationally there had been over 100 research 

papers produced and that for 20 mph to have a positive effect they 

needed to be backed up with a campaign of social marketing and 

education in order to change driver behaviour.  

 
28. The challenge is to encourage slower driving speeds around schools and 

residential areas and link the project to existing programmes and health 

improvement through walking, cycling, healthier communities and road 

safety education in schools. To illustrate the difference of speed, the 

working group viewed footage from a pedestrian’s point of view with a 

car travelling at 30 mph and 20 mph along the same stretch of road.  

 

29. Working towards this objective there has been 

a co-ordinated approach to give a consistent 

overarching message of “slow to 20 for safer 

streets”. This approach has resulted in 

branding and communications plan being 

developed that provides guidance to schools 

and officers when promoting their 20mph 



 

  

scheme. In addition, the scheme has been promoted through social 

media.  

 
30. In communicating information to parents and the local community, 

consistent information leaflets were produced that raised awareness of 

the scheme, its benefits and a map of the area that is to be covered. This 

literature was developed with an informal approach that would be 

appealing to both children and the wider community. Members have 

played an active role within this process and provided comment and 

support to branding and communication materials.  

 
31. Within the first phase of the project there has been a comprehensive 

education programme led by the Council’s Road Safety Team that has 

included initiatives at each phase 1 school covering child pedestrian 

training cycle training, community newspaper, Junior Road Safety Officer 

scheme, school assembly presentations and information to parents. 

Active engagement has also been undertaken with public transport 

operators, driving instructors, local businesses and development of an e-

business newsletter to promote the scheme.  

 
32. The Chair of the working group attended the high profile launch of the 

first scheme at St Cuthbert’s RC Primary School, Chester-Le-Street and 

Members have attended partnership safety carousels and wisedrive 

events to observe road safety training to young people. The working 

group were keen to raise awareness of the schemes during road safety 

week and undertook a field study to Etherley Lane Primary in Bishop 

Auckland.  

 
33. During the visit, Members received 

an extremely warm welcome by 

the pupils and staff at the school 

and observed Year 5 pupils deliver 

an assembly to launch their road 

safety newsletter and demonstrate 

their work within the school to 

promote the 20 mph scheme. 

Member also took a tour of the 

surrounding area covering the part 

time 20 mph location. The visit 

provided Members with an 

opportunity to see first-hand the positive impact the 20mph scheme has 

upon the school and most importantly its children.   

 

School Assembly – Etherley Lane Primary School  



 

  

• Significant input from scrutiny in policy development has led to a 

new policy for 20mph limits/zones.  

 

34. Furthermore, 

Members were 

invited to attend a 

Drama 

Development day 

with pupils from 

King James School 

in Bishop Auckland 

who are producing 

a recorded 

performance that 

can be shown at 

other schools as part of the part of implementation of the 20 mph project.  

 
35. The approach by the Working Group to engage local members within 

consultation of phase 1 schools was extremely beneficial prior to their 

implementation. Through consideration of each proposed scheme, 

sharing local knowledge to the area and professional opinion from 

officers successfully led to minor revisions to schemes and resulted in 

increased coverage and additional schools within that neighbourhood 

being included within the project. This discussion also contributed to 

providing reassurance on reducing the risk of creating “rat runs” following 

implementation of a scheme.  

 
Policy Development  
Key Outcomes Delivered 
 

36. A key objective within the review was to provide comment on a draft 

policy for new 20 mph speed limits and zones. The recommendation 

from the original scrutiny review included “….to take account of findings 

from the Government’s consultation on revised guidelines on the setting 

of speed limits….” The draft policy presented to the working group 

included guidance by the Department for Transport and explained the 

rationale for setting speed limits including funding mechanisms and  

reference to the relevant legislation when Traffic Regulation Orders are 

required, the differences between 20 mph limits, zones and part-time 

limits and highlighting the circumstances of where each type was most 

appropriate 

 
37. The Working group gave support in principle to a draft policy and within 

its response requested consideration is given to the following areas: 

 

King James Pupils with Cllr Armstrong and Officers at the Drama Development Day  



 

  

• Inclusion of a suggestion by Members from a previous meeting to 

consider 20mph zones in the vicinity of new schools 

• Programme or timeframe for monitoring speeds of new schemes be 

also included within the policy 

• the policy to include consultation with Local Members, Area Action 

Partnerships, Town and Parish Councils, and findings from local 

Community Speed watch exercises and Police and Communities 

Together (PACT) meetings 

• That the policy be broadened out to include any other funding 

mechanisms that may be available. 

• Consideration of 20 mph limits/zones in the planning of new 

developments.  

 
38. The engagement from the working group was acknowledged by the 

Project Board and a service response to the above suggestions by 

Members was presented to the working group. The response to working 

group illustrated that the principles within the above areas are included 

within the new policy, with one exception that the policy was to be 

enhanced to include “20 mph limits will be required by default on 

residential/side roads in new developments”.  

 
Conclusions  
39. The remit of the working group was to provide oversight on 

implementation of the cabinet recommendations and to provide comment 

on development of a new 20 mph policy. Throughout its activity, the 

commitment of Members and Officers working in a constructive and 

professional manner has led to outcomes that have far exceeded the 

working group’s initial objectives. The engagement of non-executive 

members within the implementation of phase 1 of the 20 mph project has 

been extremely positive and enabled constructive challenge to Officers 

that has seen a £1m project of 33 schools to be now delivered within 2 

years and created an opportunity for further schools to be included within 

the funding available.  

 
40. In addition, effective consultation and engaging local Members within the 

development of phase 1 schemes has also been valuable.  Most 

importantly, these schemes are about keeping children safe and through 

undertaking field study activity it is clear that they have been welcomed 

by schools and pupils. The enthusiasm of pupils to actively promote road 

safety messages has been phenomenal and together with a consistent 

branding campaign has led to positive engagement with communities, 

businesses and media articles.  

 
41. Moving forward, the Working Group set out to undertake its activity 

during phase 1 schemes of the project. The project has evolved from the 

initial report and during 2016/17 the remaining 22 schemes part time 



 

  

schemes are scheduled to be implemented, an evaluation of year 1 

scheme is to commence and the findings of extensive survey work for 

identification of further schools within funding will have concluded. Within 

this context it is suggested that there is ongoing support via scrutiny for 

the engagement of local Members in the development of local schemes.  

 

Recommendations  
 

� That Cabinet note the contribution and outcomes of the 20 mph Limits 

Overview and Scrutiny Working Group.   

 
� That the Council’s Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee receive progress reports on:  

 
(i) implementation of  the 22 schemes with within Phases 2 and 3,  

(ii) engagement of local Members within development of Phase 2 and 3 

Schemes within their wards; 

(iii) outcomes of the evaluation of year 1 schemes by Durham University; 

and  

(iv) findings from surveys for identification of additional schools within 

available funding.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  

 
Appendix 4: Revised Prioritisation Criteria 

 
Schools 20 mph Part Time Speed Limits -  
Revised Prioritisation Methodology for 
Additional Sites 
 
June 2015 
 

 

 
 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Introduction 
 
1 On 17 December 2014 Cabinet approved that 20 mph part-time speed 

limits be introduced at 33 named schools with above average accident 
rates. The 33 named schools were determined using a methodology 
developed by a Multi-Agency Group led by Public Health based on 
accidents rates within a 600 metre radius of a school.  

 
2 This document sets out a revised prioritisation methodology for selecting 

additional sites from the additional budget that has become available. It 
does not change the original 33 named schools approved by Cabinet in 
any way and these will proceed as planned. 

 
3 The revised prioritisation methodology for additional sites builds upon 

and refines the good work undertaken by the Multi-Agency Group and 
where appropriate seeks to address issues raised by stakeholders with 
this original methodology. 

 
Original Methodology 
 
4 The scope includes age 0 to 16 educational establishments located on or 

near to main and/or distributor roads but typically referred to as ‘schools’. 
These include: 

 
� Nursery / Infants; 
� Juniors / Primary; 
� Secondary / Sixth Form; 
� Private Schools; and 
� Special Needs. 
 

5 The prioritisation methodology is based wholly on collision history (2008 
to 2012) involving recorded child accidents aged 0 years to 19 years 
within a 600 metres radius of the school postcode. 
 

6 The 33 schools with the highest number of collisions were selected. 
 

Revised Methodology 
 
7 The scope includes age 0 to 18 educational establishments (excluding 

the 33 named schools approved by Cabinet) located on or near to main 



 

  

and/or distributor roads but typically referred to as ‘schools’. These 
include: 

 
� Nursery / Infants; 
� Juniors / Primary; 
� Secondary / Sixth Form; 
� Colleges; 
� Private Schools; and 
� Special Needs. 

 
8 The only change to scope from the Original Methodology is to include 

Further Education Colleges. 
 
9 The original methodology was based wholly on collision history. It is 

important that collision history remains part of the revised methodology 
as it provides objective evidence of an accident trend. 
 

10 Fortunately actual collision rates around schools are low and some 
collisions can be random in nature. As additional sites are considered 
with lower collision rates it is important that additional risk factors are 
considered to provide an objective measure of child pedestrian risk. The 
three risk factors in the revised methodology are as follows: 

 
� Collision history; 
� Measured PV2; and 
� Measured speeds. 

 
11 These risk factors are explained further below. 
 
Collision History  
 
12 The collision history is based on the last 5 years involving all recorded 

collisions (child and adult) within a 200 metre radius of school entrances. 
 

13 A 200 metre distance from a school entrance is used in accordance with 
the Department for Transport (DfT) guidance on the siting of traffic signs 
which typically advises that warning signs associated with schools should 
be sited within 100 metres of the actual hazard to be credible to the 
motorist and to influence motorist’s behaviour.  

 
14 The use of a 200 metre radius reduces the scope for collisions being 

included within more than one school’s collision numbers. Calculating the 
radius from the school entrance helps ensure more accurate results.   

 
15 The scores have been weighted to take into consideration vulnerable 

road users, casualty age and severity of injury as set out in the table 
below. 
 
Casualty Class Score 
Child Pedestrian / Cycling, Fatal / Serious Accidents 6 
Adult Pedestrian / Cycling, Fatal / Serious Accidents 5 

Child Pedestrian / Cycling, Slight Accidents 4 
Child vehicle occupant Fatal / Serious Accident 4 



 

  

Adult Pedestrian / Cycling Slight Accidents 3 
Adult vehicle occupant Fatal / Serious Accident 3 
Child vehicle occupant Slight Accident 2 
Adult vehicle occupant Slight Accident 1  

   
16 Child accidents are defined as aged 0 years to 19 years. Adult accidents 

are defined as ages 20 and over.  
 

17 The scores take into consideration that the most vulnerable road user is 
a child and that one of the main objectives of the project is to reduce 
child accidents. Adult accidents are included as they provide objective 
evidence of an accident trend that poses a risk to children. In each 
scoring band a child accident will score +1 to the corresponding accident 
involving an adult.  
 

Measured PV2  
 
18 Measured PV2 provides an objective indicator of risk associated with 

both traffic and pedestrian flow on roads in the vicinity of a school. 
 
19 Measured PV2 is a risk factor used nationally for assessing the provision 

of School Crossing Patrols. This policy is based upon a nationally 
recognised standard produced by Road Safety GB entitled ‘School 
Crossing Patrol Guidelines: June 2012’. It is endorsed and supported by 
the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA).  

 
20 Measured PV2 is a formula for assessing the conflict between 

pedestrians and vehicles and, from this, whether or not a School 
Crossing Patrol site is justified where:   
 
� P = Number of pedestrians; and 
� V = Number of vehicles. 

 
21 By counting the number of pedestrians and vehicles at peak times at the 

start and end of the school day, the PV2 formula can be applied to 
determine whether or not a School Crossing Patrol meets the criteria.  

 
22 The PV2 calculation also takes into account a number of additional 

factors which affect risk, such as unaccompanied children, accompanied 
children, different types of vehicles, etc. 

 
Measured Speeds 

 
23 If speeds are low then the introduction of 20 mph part time speed limits is 

not likely to help reduce the risk of accidents or the severity of accidents. 
If speeds are high then the introduction of 20 mph part time speed limits 
is likely to help reduce the risk of accidents or the severity of accidents. 
Therefore, measured speed is an objective indicator of risk based on 
traffic speeds. 

 
24 Traffic data collection units are used to help analyse traffic speeds 

outside of each school. The data set used in the analysis will comprise 
the peak times at the start and end of the school day, when traffic speeds 



 

  

are being influenced by the school run, being typically 8am to 9am and 
3pm to 4pm.  
 

25 The following scoring is then applied: 
 

‘Mean’ Speed Score 
0-24 mph 1 
25-33 mph 3 
33+ mph 5 

 
Applying the Methodology 

 
26 The scores are added together allowing a weighted ‘Multiplier Factor’ 

(derived from the School Crossing Patrol Guidelines June 2012’) to be 
determined using Appendix A.  

 
27 Therefore, using Collision History + Speed to get the Multiplier Factor. 

 
28 The overall risk is then determined as: 

 
Measured PV2 x Multiplier Factor = Total Score 
 

29 Therefore the Total Score ranks the schools based upon the exposure to 
risk and the potential severity of injury taking into consideration mean 
average speeds at the start and end of the school day. 
 

School Rankings 
 
30 With the methodology described above, it is possible to rank each school 

according to the Total Scores. For example ‘School A’ generated a total 
score of 914, being the highest priority, whereas the ‘School H’ 
generated a total score of 19, being the lowest priority as shown below. 
 



 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Appendix A: 
Multiplier Factor 
 

        Combined 
value of 

applicable 
criteria 

Weighing 
Factor 

1 1.000 25 10.283 49 91.193 

2 1.210 26 11.262 50 99.874 

3 1.331 27 12.334 51 109.382 

4 1.464 28 13.508 52 119.796 

5 1.610 29 14.794 53 131.200 

6 1.772 30 16.203 54 143.690 

7 1.949 31 17.745 55 157.370 

8 2.144 32 19.434 56 172.351 

9 2.358 33 21.285 57 188.759 

10 2.594 34 23.311 58 206.729 

11 2.853 35 25.530 59 226.409 

12 3.139 36 27.961 60 247.964 

13 3.453 37 30.622 61 271.570 

14 3.782 38 33.538 62 297.423 

15 4.142 39 36.730 63 325.738 

16 4.536 40 40.227 
  17 4.968 41 44.057 
  18 5.441 42 48.251 
  19 5.959 43 52.844 
  20 6.526 44 57.875 
  21 7.147 45 63.385 
  22 7.828 46 69.419 
  23 8.573 47 76.028 
  24 9.389 48 83.266 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Cabinet

11 May 2016

Regeneration of Spennymoor Town 
Centre 

Report of Corporate Management Team
Ian Thompson, Corporate Director Regeneration and Economic 
Development
Councillor Neil Foster, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration

Purpose of the Report

1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on progress in 
regenerating Spennymoor in line with the agreed masterplan. 

2 Furthermore, the report seeks approval for the purchase of property to 
facilitate further regeneration within the town centre.

Background  

3 In September 2013 Cabinet considered the proposed approach to the 
regeneration of Spennymoor identified in the Spennymoor Regeneration 
Masterplan. 

4 The masterplan recognised previous regeneration investments in the town 
and highlighted the key priorities considered to help to create a revitalised, 
accessible and attractive town. In delivering the aims of the masterplan, 
the County Council undertook to:

 Support Spennymoor as a major employment centre including the 
Green Lane Industrial Estate and Durham Gate development;

 Work with the private sector to deliver successful and sustainable 
housing expansion;

 Work with the private sector to bring about an effective and 
sustainable solution for the future of Festival Walk; and 

 Encourage adaptation and change for the town centre.

5 Since the development and agreement of the masterplan, there has been 
significant investment across Spennymoor, in line with the established 
priorities, supporting the aims of job creation, infrastructure development 
and the creation of a vibrant and sustainable town.



Spennymoor Masterplan - Delivery Progress

6 To the North of the town, the DurhamGate development continues, 
providing high quality commercial and residential accommodation.  Since 
2009, progress across the site has seen the delivery of infrastructure 
improvements, the first phase of commercial space, a public house and 
new residential properties as part of the comprehensive plans to provide 
over 440,000 sq ft of office space, 31,000 sq ft of retail and restaurant 
space along with a hotel, Public House and housing.

7 The owners of DurhamGate have also recently acquired the nearby 
wellsprings site following the owners going into administration. This further 
investment will address a site currently falling into disrepair along with 
providing subsequent development and employment opportunities.

8 The investment to date across the DurhamGate site exceeds £45 million 
against the proposed £100 million project total, with further commercial 
and residential opportunities under development. Once completed, the 
scheme is expected to generate close to 3,000 jobs.

9 Following investments being made at DurhamGate, surrounding sites at 
Thinford have also experienced significant recent investment. A further 
programme of redevelopment, adding to the range of facilities located 
around the town has recently commenced which it is anticipated will 
deliver around 140 jobs. 

10 The Spennymoor Masterplan recognised the opportunities and demand for 
new housebuilding around Spennymoor, given its strategic location and 
good transport links across the County alongside the planned investments 
in key employment sites such as DurhamGate. 

11 Since 2011, 681 new homes have been constructed across Spennymoor, 
with almost 2,300 further homes currently consented or underway on a 
range of sites. This scale of new housebuilding both within Spennymoor 
and across the wider retail catchment was identified as significant within 
the Spennymoor masterplan, providing the potential to stimulate greater 
demand for retail and local services across the town centre. 

12 Significant investments have previously been made in improving the 
physical fabric of the town centre. Since 2009, a further £300,000 of the 
Council’s town centre capital programme has been invested in 
regeneration projects aimed at improving the retail environment and 
encouraging a diverse range of shopping facilities. This has included 
supporting 25 businesses across the Spennymoor through the Targeted 
Business Improvement Programme.

13 In looking to develop Spennymoor as an enterprise and employment hub, 
significant efforts have been made to bring forward new business space 
across the wider Green Lane Industrial Estate. In addition to this, Business 
Durham has made a further £65,000 investment in their existing property 



at Coulson Street. As a result, all four units are now fully occupied 
employing 10 people.  

14 Planned improvement to school accommodation across the town has been 
delivered in line with established plans and housing growth. This has seen 
almost £14 million of investment by the Council in primary and secondary 
schools across Spennymoor, including almost £11 million for extending 
and remodelling Whitworth Park School.

15 The Leisure Centre is a major attraction within the town centre, playing 
host to a regional Gymnastic Centre, which opened in 2006 at a cost of £2 
million. Further improvements to the leisure offer have been secured, with 
a £1.5 million investment in gym facilities by Competition Line, the 
operator at Spennymoor Leisure Centre, alongside £127,000 of additional 
Council investment.

16 However, despite the scale of these investments, until now, the future of 
Festival Walk, a long standing regeneration project within the core of the 
town centre has remained unresolved.

The Festival Walk Development

17 Festival Walk is a brick built structure with timber framed flat roof 
construction and timber framed fenestration.  Opened in 1966, it 
comprises of approximately 95,000 sq. ft. of retail accommodation with 
further ancillary office and storage space. A plan of the current 
development site is attached at Appendix 2.

18 Festival Walk has changed ownership regularly over the last 15 years 
which has impacted upon the physical and environmental quality of the 
Centre.  In 2006 Castlemore Properties purchased the site and began 
developing proposals for its comprehensive redevelopment. Unfortunately, 
before these proposals were fully developed the property crash and 
economic downturn led to Castlemore entering administration.

19 Since 2009 Festival Walk has been run by administrators Price 
Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) and their appointed asset manager Cordatus.  
The County Council has prioritised Festival Walk as a key regeneration 
project and has been keen to resolve its negative impact on the town, 
exploring with Cordatus various options for reinvigorating the retail offer 
over recent years.  

20 During this time, the County Council has commissioned county wide retail 
and town centre studies that have highlighted the need to improve the 
retail offer in Spennymoor. In addition, annual town centre health checks 
have highlighted increasing vacancy rates within Festival Walk further 
demonstrating the need to deliver improvement in the town centre retail 
opportunity. 



21 In May 2012 the Council commissioned DTZ to undertake a study to 
consider ways to resolve for the future of Festival Walk through identified 
options, appraisals and costings.  This set out a number of objectives, 
against which the intervention options can be assessed. These were: 

 Secure physical and environmental improvement to the town 
centre,

 Dealing with the blight associated with the town centre as a 
consequence of the condition and deterioration of Festival Walk,

 To retain and attract new retailers to improve both the quality and 
choice of the retail offer,

 Determine a strategy with good delivery prospects which minimises 
risk to the Council.

22 In order to achieve the required physical improvement, stem further retail 
spend leakage to surrounding towns, and re-vitalise the town centre, the 
report concluded that taking into consideration the Council’s regeneration 
objectives, there were two main options for the site: 

 Reconfiguration/refurbishment and part redevelopment or
 Comprehensive redevelopment. 

23 Throughout this time, Cordatus remained keen to deliver change, despite 
the major economic challenges of the last few years.  Cordatus have 
managed the remaining tenancies and attempted to secure the disposal of 
the whole asset. With an uncertain future and mindful of compromising 
flexibility for any redevelopment, occupancy has fallen across the site with 
only 13 tenants remaining and 62% of the floorspace is currently vacant. 

24 Since 2008, despite numerous rounds of commercial marketing, there has 
been no firm interest in purchasing the site, reflecting the size and 
constrained nature of the site, national and local retail market conditions 
and competition from developments in surrounding locations.

25 However, in late 2015, the agents were approached by a development 
group interested in bringing forward the redevelopment of part of the site. 
Whilst keen to secure the scheme, the Administrators confirmed their 
desire to dispose of the full development site. 

26 Through discussions with the managing agents and in line with stated 
priorities, the Council began to consider how it could help to facilitate the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the site. 

Development Proposal  

27 The proposal being developed at present is for a scheme which 
incorporates significant redevelopment and a minor element of 
refurbishment. It seeks:



 Demolition of a significant part of the shopping parade and 
structures within the existing car park,

 Creation of  a new development plot which is to be occupied by a 
food store operator that wishes to expand its operation and remain 
in the town,

 Refurbishment and modernisation of the remaining retail units 
within the block to create lettable space for remaining tenants and 
for the attraction of new operators, 

 To provide a development plot for a new retail unit at Cheapside, 
subject to market demand.

28 Across the site, access to the remaining Festival Walk units will be 
improved and necessary junction improvements to Oxford road 
undertaken. A concept plan detailing the new development plots is 
attached at Appendix 3.

29 This proposal sees the former Kwik Save block remain as surplus to the 
development scheme, despite the administrators stating their desire to 
dispose of the whole site. Through the Council’s discussions with the 
managing agents, options to facilitate the comprehensive redevelopment 
of the site have been explored including the creation of additional public 
car parking. 

30 Festival Walk’s car parks currently form a substantial part of the town’s car 
parking provision. Considering the further opportunities which could come 
forward through redevelopment and the wider positive impacts on the 
town,  it is recognised that Spennymoor would benefit from the provision of 
additional high quality, centrally located shoppers’ car parking. 

31 It is therefore proposed that the Council acquires and demolishes the 
existing Kwik Save block, alongside the emerging regeneration proposal, 
from the private sector, in order to provide an opportunity to increase well 
designed, accessible car parking provision within the town.  

32 Importantly, by putting in place a solution for the entire site, the works 
enable the comprehensive redevelopment scheme to come forward. 

33 As part of the preparations for potential redevelopment and in line with 
their ongoing responsibilities, the managing agents are seeking to relocate 
the one existing retail operator from the Kwik Save block. Units are 
available elsewhere in Festival Walk and a relocation would safeguard 
jobs, reduce cost, save time and manage risk in acquiring and 
redeveloping the former Kwik Save block.

34 The overall redevelopment scheme as detailed will deliver a wide range of 
benefits to the town centre:

 creating new and accessible retail space,
 retaining an existing retail operator that wishes to invest and commit 

to the town centre,



 creating refurbished retail units to accommodate existing tenants 
wishing to remain within the development or attracting new retail 
operators, and

 delivering new additional high quality car parking in an accessible 
location in the centre of the town.

In addition, the existing outdated buildings will be transformed providing 
modern looking units in sizes meeting current retail demands.

35 Through the retention and relocation of the food store operator, the 
existing town centre unit will be advertised for lease, providing the 
opportunity to attract a further town centre operator, with the consequential 
increase in new jobs. 

Benefits of the redevelopment of Festival Walk 

36 The proposals for the redevelopment and refurbishment of Festival Walk 
are in line with the agreed options for the site, which since 2008 has 
continued to deteriorate, presents a negative impression within the town 
and is continually the most significant issue for the community of 
Spennymoor in terms of improvement within the town centre.  Based on 
strong community feedback particularly through the Area Action 
Partnership, the Council is very aware of the desire for change and has 
retained focus across the last few years to examine deliverable ways to 
make this change happen.  

37 Following successive rounds of commercial marketing with no developer 
interest, the current proposals with some end users already identified 
presents a firm opportunity to deliver one of the last remaining town centre 
regeneration priorities, incorporating physical improvement, improved 
accessibility and an enhanced and modernised retail offer. The 
redevelopment of Festival Walk would bring regeneration benefits to the 
town and also retain existing retailers within the town.   

38 The proposals to relocate and expand the current food operator 
demonstrates a commitment to the town and will  both safeguard and 
create additional job opportunities immediately, with the prospect of further 
job opportunities with the sale / lease of the current premises. Additional 
construction jobs will also be generated during the redevelopment 
process.

39 The proposals include for the potential future development of a new retail 
unit which will come forward subject to additional retail demand. 

40 The Council’s purchase and redevelopment of the Kwik Save block will 
assist with the creation of additional public car parking provision to serve 
the town centre in addition to that to be created by the food operator. 



Deliverability

41 The proposed purchase and redevelopment of the Kwik Save block would 
be undertaken in conjunction with the emerging redevelopment proposal 
for the site ensuring a comprehensive approach to the redevelopment of 
Festival Walk.

42 Given the scale and scope of the works required for the retail 
redevelopment, initial discussions have been held to explore opportunities 
for a single comprehensive demolition programme and the use of single 
contractors. This opportunity could reduce costs and risk through reduced 
preliminaries and cost efficiencies across a larger programme of works.

43 Cost estimates for all aspects of work have been developed and indicate 
that the acquisition of the Kwik Save block and its demolition and 
redevelopment as a car park can be completed within the £600,000 
budget identified within the 2016/17 Town Centres Capital Programme. 

Next Steps

44 Subject to approval to acquire and redevelop the Kwik Save block, other 
elements of the redevelopment have been progressing between the 
managing agents, developers, and operators.

45 It is anticipated that pre planning consultation for the various elements of 
the redevelopment scheme will commence by the end of June with a 
planning submission anticipated by the summer. 

46 Subject to necessary approvals, demolition of the existing structures could 
commence early in 2017.

Recommendations 

47 It is recommended that Cabinet:

(a) Note progress on the regeneration of Spennymoor in line with the 
established masterplan.

(b) Agree to the principle for the purchase of the former Kwik Save 
block subject to satisfactory terms and the subsequent 
redevelopment of the site for public car parking.

(c) Provide delegated authority to the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Economic Development in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration to negotiate terms for 
the acquisition and redevelopment.



Background Papers
Spennymoor Masterplan – Report to Cabinet September 2013
Festival Walk, Valuation Report 2016

Contact: Graham Wood Tel: 03000 262002



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – 
The proposed purchase, demolition and development of new car parking spaces 
are to be funded from the £600,000 Capital allocation for Festival Walk, within the 
Town Centre budget of the 2016/17 Capital Programme.

Costs of operating the car park including rates, drainage charges and 
maintenance are estimated at £2,800 per year, to be funded from existing RED 
Revenue Budgets. 

Staffing – 
There are no implications

Risk – 
The implications of not undertaking the works and the impact on town centre 
regeneration are discussed in the body of the report.  

Equality and Diversity – 
There are no issues identified

Accommodation – 
There are no implications

Crime and Disorder – 
There are no implications

Human Rights – 
There are no implications

Consultation – 
Festival Walk as a priority project within the town centre is detailed in the 
Spennymoor Town Centre Regeneration Framework which was subject to public 
consultation prior to Cabinet approval. The specific needs and issues relating to 
Festival Walk were also covered by consultations undertaken in the preparation 
of the previous County Durham Plan and have consistently been noted as a 
priority by Spennymoor AAP.

The redevelopment proposals as identified would be the subject of a structured 
pre- planning consultation process. 

Procurement – 
Procurement implications were addressed in line with the County Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

Disability Issues – 
The proposed car park development is set to include additional disabled car 
parking spaces increasing provision in the heart of the town centre. 



Legal Implications – 
The Council has the power to acquire land in the interest of the proper planning 
of the area. The council also has the power to provide car parking to meet the 
needs of the town centre. 



Appendix 2 Festival Walk – Current Development



 Appendix 3 Festival Walk – Development scheme- proposed


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 6 April 2016
	4 North East Combined Authority Devolution Agreement - Report of Assistant Chief Executive [Key Decision: CORP/R/16/01]
	Cabinet report on Devolution agreement v1.0

	5 Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016 - 2019 - Report of Corporate Director, Children and Adults Services
	CYPFP 2016-19 2

	6 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health - Report of Corporate Director, Children and Adults Services
	Public Health Annual Report 2015 FINAL

	7 Flood Prevention Update and Local Flood Risk Management Strategy - Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services
	Item 7 Final Local Flood Strategy

	8 Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limits Project - Update and Scrutiny Review - Joint Report of Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services and Assistant Chief Executive
	9 Regeneration of Spennymoor Town Centre - Report of Corporate Director, Regeneration and Economic Development

